
Audit Committee
Agenda

Date:      Monday, 25 November 2019
Time:      2.00 pm
Venue:   Committee Room 9, First Floor - City Hall, 
College Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR

Distribution:
Councillors: Mark Brain, Nicola Bowden-Jones, Chris Jackson, Olly Mead, Liz Radford, Harriet Clough, 
Clive Stevens, Peter Abraham, Adebola Adebayo and Simon Cookson

Copies to: Mike Jackson (Executive Director of Resources and Head of Paid Service), Denise Murray 
(Director - Finance & Section 151 Officer), Nancy Rollason (Service Manager Legal), Melanie Henchy-
McCarthy, Alison Mullis, Chris Holme (Interim Service Manager - Corporate Finance), Tony Whitlock 
and Lucy Fleming (Head of Democratic Engagement)

Issued by: Allison Taylor, Democratic Services
City Hall, PO Box 3167, Bristol BS3 9FS
Tel: 0117 92  22237
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Friday, 15 November 2019

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Audit Committee – Agenda

Agenda
1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information 

(Pages 5 - 6)

2. Declarations of Interest 
To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors.  They are asked to 
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular 
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
To agree the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record. (Pages 7 - 12)

4. Action sheet 

(Pages 13 - 14)

5. Public Forum 
Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item

Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum.  The 
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at 
the back of this agenda.  Public Forum items should be emailed to 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines 
will apply in relation to this meeting:-

Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the 
meeting.  For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in 
this office at the latest by 5 pm on 19 November 2019.

Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the 
working day prior to the meeting.  For this meeting this means that your 
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12.00 noon on 22 
November 2019.

6. Work Programme 
To note the work programme. (Pages 15 - 16)

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Audit Committee – Agenda

7. CRR11 - Infrastructure Delivery Risk - Update 

(Pages 17 - 20)

8. Part 4 (c) Policy and Budget Framework procedure Rules - To 
Follow 

9. Administrative Changes to the Constitution. 

(Pages 21 - 56)

10. Proposed Changes to Bristol City Council Procurement Rules 

(Pages 57 - 92)

11. Key decision definition in Constitution 

(Pages 93 - 99)

12. External Audit - Update Report 

(Pages 100 - 104)

13. Internal Audit Charter and Strategy 

(Pages 105 - 125)

14. Internal Audit Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

(Pages 126 - 138)

15. Internal Audit Activity Report for Period 1st April 2019 to 31st 
October 2019 

(Pages 139 - 152)

16. Counter Fraud and Investigations Team - Counter Fraud Update 
Report 

(Pages 153 - 177)

17. Audit Committees Half Yearly Report to Full Council - Draft 

(Pages 178 - 183)

18. Treasury Management Mid-Year report 2019/20 

(Pages 184 - 198)

19. Exclusion of Press and Public 
That under s.100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded 
from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it 
(they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 



Audit Committee – Agenda

paragraph(s) 3 (respectively) of Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Act.

20. Exempt Minutes - Internal Audit Assurance Summary - IT 
Transformation Programme (ITTP) 

(Pages 199 - 201)



www.bristol.gov.uk 

Public Information Sheet
Inspection of Papers - Local Government
(Access to Information) Act 1985

You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk.

You can also inspect papers at the City Hall Reception, College Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR. 

Other formats and languages and assistance
For those with hearing impairment

Other o check with and 
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in 
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer.  Please give as much notice as 
possible.  We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular 
meeting.

Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment.  If you 
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer.

Public Forum

Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most 
meetings.  Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee and be available in the meeting 
room one hour before the meeting.  Please submit it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk  or 
Democratic Services Section, City Hall, College Green, Bristol BS1 5UY.  The following requirements 
apply:

 The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is 
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned. 

 The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.  

Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer 
than this, then for reasons of cost, only the first sheet will be copied and made available at the 
meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine articles 
that may be attached to statements.

By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and 
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the committee. This information will 
also be made available at the meeting to which it relates and placed in the official minute book as a 
public record (available from Democratic Services). 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


www.bristol.gov.uk 

We will try to remove personal information such as contact details.  However, because of time 
constraints we cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement 
contains information that you would prefer not to be in the public domain.  Public Forum statements 
will not be posted on the council’s website. Other committee papers may be placed on the council’s 
website and information in them may be searchable on the internet.

Process during the meeting:

 Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions 
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned. 

 There will be no debate on statements or petitions.
 The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that 

your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will 
have the greatest impact.

 Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as 
short as one minute.

 If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to 
speak on the groups behalf.

 If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken 
your statement will be noted by Members.

For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution 

Webcasting/ Recording of meetings 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full 
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except 
where there are confidential or exempt items) and the footage will be available for two years.  If you 
ask a question or make a representation, then you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have 
given your consent to this.  If you do not wish to be filmed you need to make yourself known to the 
webcasting staff.  However, the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means 
that persons attending meetings may take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 
report on the meeting  (Oral commentary is not permitted during the meeting as it would be 
disruptive). Members of the public should therefore be aware that they may be filmed by others 
attending and that is not within the council’s control.

Page 6

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution
http://www.bristol.public-i.tv/site/


democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk

www.bristol.gov.uk

Members Present:-
Councillors – Brain (Chair), Stevens (Vice-Chair), Clough, Jackson, Mead, Abraham (substitute for 
Radford.)

Independent Members – Simon Cookson and Adebola Adebayo. 

Others - Jackson Murray and Jon Roberts - Grant Thornton – External Auditors, Simon Phillips – 
Independent Auditor.

Officers in Attendance:-

Denise Murray – Director Finance and Section 151 Officer, Simba Muzarurwi – Chief Internal Auditor, 
Alison Mullis - Deputy Chief Internal Auditor, Michael Pilcher – Chief Accountant, Tony Whitlock – 
Finance, Nancy Rollason – Head of Legal Services, Allison Taylor – Democratic Services

1. Welcome, introductions, apologies and safety information

These were done and apologies were noted from Councillor Radford with Councillor Abraham as 
substitute.

2. Declarations of Interest

None declared.

3. Minutes of the last meeting.

These were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

Resolved – That the minutes of the last meeting be agreed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair.

4. Action Sheet.

Resolved – That the Action Sheet be noted.

5. Public forum

None received.

Bristol City Council
Minutes of the Audit Committee

30 September 2019 at 2pm

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk

www.bristol.gov.uk

6. Work Programme

Resolved – That the Work programme be noted.

7. Member Officer Protocol.

The Director – Legal and Democratic Services reported that the protocol was more user-friendly and 
aimed to strike a balance between the roles of members and officers. The following points arose from 
discussion:-

1. It was noted that members were often required to chase officers for responses to casework 
enquiries after the 7 working days standard;
2. Cllr Clough states that some members may need additional support with casework and this should 
be noted in the protocol
3. In reference to Paragraph 37, Councillor Jackson expressed surprise that Scrutiny Commissions 
could not require officers to prepare reports for it as this did not appear to be the case from his 
experience. Officers confirmed that this provision is in the current Protocol;
4. Simon Cookson asked whether the protocol also applied to Independent Members and was 
informed that this was the case whilst carrying out the role for the Council and this should be noted in 
a footnote in the protocol;
5. It was agreed that the protocol be amended to confirm that the Proper Officer was also the 
Monitoring Officer;
6. Councillor Stevens referred to Paragraph 19 – Access to Information and was content with the 
wording ‘reasonably necessary’ subject to this being flexible and did not require members to prove 
their request for information;

Resolved – That the revised Member Officer Protocol be noted and referred to Full Council for 
consideration subject to the amendments above being made.

8. Administrative changes to the Constitution.

The Committee noted that the report set out a number of administrative amendments to the 
Constitution which have been made by the Monitoring Officer under delegated powers. 

Resolved – That the administrative amendments to the Constitution as set out in the report be 
noted.

9. Annual Report of Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Decisions.

The Head of Legal Services reported that Appendix A – Cases upheld and lessons learned had been 
omitted from the paperwork and therefore subsequently circulated to the Committee. She asked that 
members submit any comments directly to her before the November Full Council. The following points 
arose from discussion:-

Page 8



democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk

www.bristol.gov.uk

1. It was agreed that in future reporting the comparator authorities’ appendices could be restricted to 
Core Cities and neighbouring authorities only;
2. It was noted that CLB had reminded Directors would remind officers of the importance of 
prioritising LGO casework.

Resolved – That the report be noted and referred to Full Council for consideration.

10. Grant Thornton (GT) 2018/19 Audit Report – ISA 260.

Jon Roberts and Jackson Murray – Grant Thornton were in attendance for this item and highlighted 
the following:-

1. The full audit was not yet complete but there was an expectation of a quality audit rather than an 
an on-time audit and the 31 July was not a statutory requirement. The value for money work had been 
completed;
2. The Committee noted that the handover from BDO to GT did not happen until July and there were 
lessons to be learned on both sides;
3. It was noted that GT had undertaken many audits and BCC’s was considered the most complex as 
BCC was an ambitious Council;
4. GT had good working relationships with officers who were receptive to GT’s technical points;
5. GT was still awaiting satisfactory completion of property evaluations and conclusion on the 
accounting treatments of guarantees provided by BCC on behalf of Bristol Energy Ltd.

The following points arose from discussion:-

1. It was noted the accounting treatment related to the parent company guarantees was still subject 
to audit as it was currently treated as a contingent liability, but GT wanted further work to clarify this 
treatment;
2. Protocols with respect to journals had been tightened up to ensure that there were sufficient checks 
and balances in place for technical adjustments as well as cash.

Resolved – That Grant Thornton’s 2018/19 Audit Report and action plan agreed by management be 
noted.

11. Final Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 and final AGS for 2018/19.

The Committee noted the progress towards the conclusion of the audit and it was:-

Resolved – That the progress towards the conclusion of the audit be noted.

12. Treasury Management Annual Report.

The Committee noted that Councils were required to produce and annual treasury management 
review of activities and the actual treasury indicators in accordance with Local Government 
regulations.

Page 9



democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk

www.bristol.gov.uk

The Chair thanked officers for an unbiased economic summary and was happy with the contents. 
There were no further comments and it was:-

Resolved – That the Annual Treasury Management report for 2018/19 be noted.

13. Internal Audit Activity Report for period 1 April 2019 to 31 August 2019.

The Chief Internal Auditor introduced the report and the following points were made:-

1. Improvements had been made to the Activity Report so that summaries of internal audit outcomes 
would only be reported if there was limited or no assurance opinion;
2. As the service had been carrying vacancies it was proposed to defer  some  reviews as set out in 
Table 2 in order to first build capacity, develop methodologies and deliver the audit automation 
project;
2. The immediate challenge faced by the Council was to improve its control and risk environment by 
focusing on the right management actions given the ‘limited assurance’ opinion in the last three years.

The following points arose from discussion:-

1. Revised arrangements for internal audits would result in IA findings being reported to a service in 
the usual way but IA will not make any recommendations to make improvements. Instead, IA will work 
with management to identify and agree the appropriate actions required to deliver the improvements 
desired. This gave management the opportunity to drive changes required, gave greater ownership 
and saved valuable time and resources;
2. Independent Member Adebola Adebayo referred to the IA on Data Sharing with Partners and 
suggested that it should be clear whether a recommendation was priority 1 or 2. He also referred to 
the School’s Financial Governance Study and noted that this had implications for GDPR. Finally, he 
referred to Traffic Control Services – Cloud and Resilience and believed that bullet point 3 of the key 
findings contradicted the first 2. It was agreed to report back on this matter;
3. Independent Member Simon Cookson referred to the revised ratings noting that these were also 
used by his organisation. The revised arrangements would allow IA to provide a professional view on 
the proposed management plans. 

Resolved – 

1. That the work and results of the Internal Audit Team during the period 1 April to 31 August 2019 
be noted and;
2. That the proposed amendments to the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plan and revised assurance 
opinions be noted.

14. Corporate Risk Management arrangements and the Q1 2019/20 Corporate Risk Report Update.

The Risk Manager – Corporate Finance attended for this item and reported the following by way of 
introduction:-

1. This Risk Report had already been through Cabinet recently;

Page 10



democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk

www.bristol.gov.uk

2. The Corporate Leadership Board and Executive Director of Resources had introduced improvements 
which provided greater alignment with business plans and allowed a drill down on actions within a 
deliverable time bands.

The following points arose from discussion:-

1. A further Internal Audit review would be done after the Risk Management framework had 
embedded in order to provide the additional assurance;
2. Reference was made to CRR28 – Instability of Housing’s new IT. It was noted that this risk had now 
moved from the corporate risk register to the project risk register so had been deescalated;
3. Reference was made to CRR18 – Failure to deliver 2000 homes per annum by 2020 and it was noted 
that the core driver of this risk was the price of land;
4. It was noted that the key external risk was BCC1 – Flooding. Business continuity and civil 
contingency were different risks;
5. Director reports on risk were now being produced and risk reports had been considered by Scrutiny 
on two occasions. Efforts were being made to report more frequently and to increase the visibility and 
transparency for risk management.

Resolved – That the Council’s Risk Management arrangements and the Corporate Risk Report be 
noted. 

15. Asbestos Management Update.

The Head of Planned Maintenance and Construction Safety Manager attended for this report and the 
Committee heard the following points by way of introduction:-

1. As a result of a number of incidents being reported an investigation was undertaken into the 
management of asbestos across the whole of the Council including its housing stock and an actions 
plan was developed;
2. This action plan was actively monitored and the number of incidents had significantly reduced;
3. There would be a review soon and a risk rating would be follow.

The following points arose from discussion:-

1. The cost of asbestos management (not removal) was built in to all programmed works on a building;
2. Works were diligently managed in compliance with asbestos regulations in order to protect 
contractors and tenants;
3. It was noted that the figures had dropped on the risk register and this was due to the reduced 
exposure through training and processes to test where it was located. However this did not reduce the 
asbestos out there;
4. Asbestos was labelled in tenant’s homes and a record was kept. Labels were not placed on 
prominent places in the home but this policy was being reviewed;
5. Importantly contractors had access to BCC’s Risk Register and meetings took place in advance of any 
works in order to advise contractors if asbestos was present;
6. All work had to be signed off by BCC’s safety co-ordinator and spot checks took place to ensure 
compliance;
7. Tenants were advised to contact BCC if the asbestos started to disintegrate. 

Page 11



democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk

www.bristol.gov.uk

Resolved – That the progress made to address asbestos safety management be noted.

16. Exclusion of Press and Public.

17. Internal Audit Assurance Summary – IT Transformation Programme (ITTP).

The Committee considered the IA report and heard from the Director – Digital Transformation and the 
independent IT Auditor. A questions and discussion session followed and it was:-

Resolved:-

1. That the report be noted;
2. That an update report be received for all future Audit Committees during 2019/20 Municipal Year.

Meeting ended at 5pm.

Page 12



Audit Committee Action Sheet – actions from meeting held on 30 September 2019. 

Action 
number 

Item/report Action Responsible 
officer(s)

Action taken / 
progress

1 Action Sheet To resend to Cllr Stevens the report regarding LA’s 
have powers to bring about improvements to 
Academies.

Allison Taylor Sent 7.10.19

2 Action Sheet To resend to Cllr Clough the email regarding 
equalities and inclusion work programme

Allison Taylor Sent 7.10.19

3 Member/Officer Protocol For clarity to amend Practical Guide to state that 
Proper Officer is also Monitoring Officer

Nancy 
Rollason/Lucy 
Fleming

Protocol being 
amended for report 
to Full Council along 
with other 
amendments 
requested

4 Member/Officer Protocol To add footnote that the protocol also applied to 
Independent Members when carrying out their role 
for the Council.

Nancy 
Rollason/Lucy 
Fleming

Done and approved 
by Full Council

5 Annual Report of Local 
Government Ombudsman and 
Social Care Ombudsman Decisions

Future Reports to include Core Cities and 
neighbouring Authorities comparative data only

Nancy Rollason Noted

6 Annual Report of Local 
Government Ombudsman and 
Social Care Ombudsman Decisions

Members to respond with any  comments on the 
missing Appendix on lessons learned from upheld 
cases prior to being reported to 10 November FC

Members to 
Nancy Rollason

Done and reported to 
Full Council

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 4



Action 
number 

Item/report Action Responsible 
officer(s)

Action taken / 
progress

7 Internal Audit Activity Report To clarify to Adebola Adebayo the arrangements 
regarding Traffic Control Services 3rd party 
relationship.

Alison Mullis Email to be sent to AA 
w/c 18/11/19.

8 Exempt Session – Internal Audit 
Assurance Summary – ITT 
Transformation Programme

That an update report come before the Audit 
Committee each time it meets. 

Alison 
Mullis/Simon 
Oliver

Internal Audit work is 
currently in progress. 
Results to be provided 
to Audit Committee 
as soon as finalised.

9 Exempt Session – Internal Audit 
Assurance Summary – ITT 
Transformation Programme

Consideration be given to a Briefing Session for all 
members of the Council

Alison 
Mullis/Simon 
Oliver

Verbal update to be 
provided.

P
age 14



Statement of Accounts - from the External Auditor's Prospective
Training arranged for Thursday 25th July at 5pm. Room 1P07

Grant Thornton

Update Report

Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 Update
Internal Audit Activity Report, including revised Audit Opinions

Corporate Risk Report (Q4) 

Statement of Accounts 2018/19
Companies Assurance (Letters to Audit Committee) 
AGS Tracker

For Information: Constituional Update

Routine 1.8/1.9 External Audit Lead

Routine 3.1 Head of Paid Service/S151 Officer
Routine 1.5/1.7/2.1 Deputy Chief Internal Auditor 

Routine 4.1/4.3 Risk & Insurance Manager 

Routine 3.1 Director of Finance

Ad hoc 2.1 Director of Legal and Democratic Services

Treasury Management: Date and time to be confirmed Training External Consultant Training to be provided outside of the meeting day

Treasury Management - Annual Report
Final Statement of Accounts for 2018/19
ISA260 Report

Review of a Specific Corporate Risk - Asbestos Management
Corporate Risk Report (Q1) 

Ombudsman Report

Internal Audit Activity Report
Final Annual Governance Statement 2018/19

Routine

Routine

Routine
Routine

Routine

Routine

3.3

1.8/1.9

4.1/4.3

Director of Finance

External Audit Lead

Risk Owner/Risk Manager
4.1/4.3 Risk & Insurance Manager

1.5/1.7/2.1

Head of Customer Relations

Chief Internal Auditor

Role of the Audit Committee. Date and time of training to be confirmed Training CIPFA Training to be provided outside of the meeting day
Update Report

Review of a Specific Corporate Risk - Infrastructure Risk

Internal Audit Half-Year Activity Report

Routine

Routine

Routine

1.8/1.10

4.1/4.3

1.5/1.7/2.1

External Audit Lead

Risk Manager / Risk Owner

Chief Internal Auditor

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20

Meeting Date Report Author Report Details Routine Work 
Programme/ 

Other?

ToR Ref Officer Providing Report Comments:

Proposed Training: Statement of Accounts Training Finance to facilitate To provide committee member with an overview of Public
Sector accounts and the key areas to examine.

Tuesday 28th May 2019

2:00 PM External Audit: 

Internal Audit:

Finance: 

Legal:

Update Report

Draft Annual Governance Statement 2018/19
Annual Fraud Report
Audit Committee Annual Report to Full Council (Draft) 
Internal Audit Annual Report 2018/19

Draft Statement of Accounts 2018/19

Routine

Routine 
Routine 
Routine 
Routine

Routine

1.8/1.9

2.5/4.4
2.4/2.10

5.1
1.6

3.1

External Audit Lead

Deputy Chief Internal Auditor 
Deputy Chief Internal Auditor 
Deputy Chief Internal Auditor 
Deputy Chief Internal Auditor

Executive Director Resources / Director
Finance

Monday 29th July 2019 Training

2:00 PM
External Audit:

Internal Audit:

Risk & Insurance

Finance

Legal

30th  September Training:

2019 Finance:
2:00 PM External Audit:

Risk Management:

Customer Relations

Internal Audit:

25th November 2019 Planned Training:
2.00 PM External Audit:

Risk Management:

Internal Audit:

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6



Training to be provided outside of the meeting day
External Audit Update Report

Annual Whistleblowing Review
Annual Review of the effectiveness of the system of Internal Audit

Corporate Risk Report (Q2) and Policy

Routine

Routine
Routine

Routine

1.8/1.9

2.4
1.13

4.1/4.3

External Audit Lead

Chief Internal Auditor
Director - Finance

Risk and Insurance Manager

Audit Committee Effectiveness Workshop Chief Internal Audit/Head of Internal Audit To take the opportunity to look back ove the year and 
determine what went well and identify areas for 
improvement.

Review of a Specific Corporate Risk
Corporate Risk Report (Q3) and Policy

Audit Update
Grants Audit Report

Draft Annual Plan 2020/21
Internal Audit Development Plan Update
Internal Audit Activity Report

Review of Committee Terms of Reference
Inspection Agency reports

Routine
Routine

Routine
Routine

Routine 
Routine 
Routine

Routine
Routine

4.1/4.3
4.1/4.3

1.8/1.10
1.8/1.10

1.2
1.6

1.5/1.7/2.1

1.12

Risk Owner/Risk Manager
Risk and Insurance Manager

External Audit Lead
External Audit Lead

Chief Internal Auditor 
Chief Internal Auditor 
Chief Internal Auditor

Director: Legal& Democratic Services
Head of Corporate Finance

Meeting Date Report Author Report Details Routine Work 
Programme/ 

Other?

ToR Ref Officer Providing Report Comments:

Finance:

Internal Audit - Half-Year Investigation Update Report  and Anti-Fraud and Anti- 
Corruption Policy
Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Plan
Internal Audit Charter & Strategy Refresh
Audit Committee Half Year Report to Full Council (Draft) 

Treasury Management  Half-Year Report

Routine

Routine 
Routine 

New

Routine

2.4./2.10

1.6
1.1
5.1

3.3

Chief Internal Auditor

Chief Internal Auditor 
Chief Internal Auditor 
Chief Internal Auditor

Director - Finance

20th Janaury 2020
2:00 PM External Audit:

Internal Audit:

Risk Management:

23rd March 2020 Proposed Training:

2:00 PM Risk Management:

External Audit:

Internal Audit:

Legal: 
Corporate:

P
age 16



Report for Audit Committee

Audit Committee
25 November 2019

Report of: Executive Director: Growth and Regeneration 

Title: CRR11 – Infrastructure Delivery Risk - Update

Ward: Citywide

Officer Presenting Report: Nuala Gallagher, Director: Economy of Place
Rob Gilmore, Senior Programme Manager (Growth and 
Regeneration)

Recommendation

That this report is for the Audit Committee’s information about progress made to mitigate and manage 
this Corporate risk.

Summary

This report provides information about the Corporate risk around Infrastructure Delivery, with a focus on 
services in the Growth and Regeneration Directorate. The report highlights the potential causes, 
summarises progress, and it sets out where further action is on-going to manage and mitigate these 
causes.

The significant issues in the report are:

Existing controls and mitigations have reduced the Risk Rating from 14 to Tolerance Risk Rating 7. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Report for Audit Committee

Policy

1. Not applicable.

Consultation

2. Internal 
Chief Internal Auditor
Risk and Insurance Manager

3. External
Not applicable.

Context

4. Corporate Risk – Infrastructure Delivery (CRR11)

4.1 Risk Description: 

Risk title and description “If the council fails to prioritise infrastructure investment and 
resources, has inconsistent policies and attitudes, and has no bargaining power regionally or 
with central government; there is a risk that inward investment will be reduced. It makes it 
difficult for the council to realise its strategic priorities, ensure assets are efficient and fit for 
purpose in meeting current and future demand and support development of the local area”.

4.2 Key potential causes:

 No clear strategic direction and objective(s) set for the Property estate.
 Services and resources (human and financial) that are not fully aligned and / or controlled to 

deliver the objectives.
 Failure to deliver the level of anticipated Capital Receipts.
 Leadership capacity, engagement and capability are insufficient to drive change and 

transformation within the council.
 Resources are poorly managed, short-term approach being adopted, or are not contributing 

fully to Council priorities, resulting in agreed outcomes and objectives not being  fully 
achieved.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

 Ineffective collection, integrity and use of data and information.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
 Infrastructure condition and suitability of overall asset base is not being used or managed 

efficiently or effectively.
 Lack of joined up planning, decision-making and effective project management.
 Ineffective collection, integrity and use of data and information.
 Slippage in the delivery of the Capital Programme.
 Reduced public sector funding impacting on the resources available.
 Currently a more uncertain future due to Brexit.

Page 18



Report for Audit Committee

4.2 Action taken to manage and mitigate the risk

Governance arrangements were established in early 2018 to ensure that there is rigour and 
robust management of Infrastructure Delivery and Investment. This includes: 

The G&R Board identified a number of areas of growth and regeneration (AGR) across the City to 
enable place shaping including contributing to regeneration activity, affordable housing, 
community building and the financial sustainability of the Council. The AGR is regularly reviewed 
and re-prioritised by the G&R Board.

The Strategic Property Group (SPG) was established to enable the integration of thinking about 
property with financial, regeneration and other considerations and enhance reporting of asset 
disposal plans and progress . The SPG meets on a monthly basis. 

In July 2019 the Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) / Capital and Investment Board was launched 
and meets on a monthly basis. The Board has an oversight and stewardship role for the delivery 
of the Councils capital expenditure within affordable limits, which will include both the Capital 
Programme and capital investments and provide strategic direction to the programme and 
projects where necessary.

4.3 Action being taken / next steps

The Operational Property Group (OPG) as a sub-group to the Strategic Property Group (SPG) was 
launched to unlock the value of assets, seek efficiencies through joint arrangements with public 
sector partners and maximise private sector investment. Actions are now being progressed 
through the work of the SPG and the OPG which will adopt a Corporate Landlord role to ensure 
the ownership of an asset and the responsibility for its management; maintenance and funding 
are transferred to a centralised corporate crosscutting group.

Asset Management specialist resource has been recruited to complete the work on the Asset 
Management Plan by March 2020. Progress is being monitored through the SPG.

The Growth and Regeneration Leadership Team has undertaken Capital Programme Workshops 
in August – October 2019 in order to review and re-prioritise the Capital Programme to ensure 
that this is realistic and achievable, and to reduce slippage (milestones and financial). This is 
reviewed on a monthly basis and a further Capital Workshop is planned in Quarter 4 (January – 
March 2020.
 
4.4 Risk Level

Risk level is 2 (likelihood) x 7 (impact) = 14 (risk rating)

Tolerance Risk level is 1 (likelihood) x 7 (impact) = 7 (risk rating).
 
Proposal

5. That the Audit Committee notes the actions that have been taken to date to mitigate and 
manage this Corporate risk. 

Page 19



Report for Audit Committee

Other Options Considered

6. None

Risk Assessment

7. This is a live risk on the Corporate Risk Register.

Public Sector Equality Duties

No implications

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal
<Consult Legal Division - relevant solicitor will provide a view which should be typed in here>
Legal advice provided by <Insert name and job title>

Financial
There are no new financial implications arising from the report.
(a) Revenue
<Consult Finance Division>

(b) Capital
<Consult Finance Division>
Financial advice provided by <Insert name and job title>

Land/Property
<Insert implications or “not applicable”>
Land/property advice provided by <Insert name and job title>

Human Resources
<Insert implications or “not applicable”>
HR advice provided by <Insert name and job title>

Appendices:

None

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:

None

Page 20



Report for Audit Committee

Audit Committee
25th November 2019

Report of: Service Director Legal & Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Title: Administrative Changes to the Constitution.

Ward: Citywide

Officer presenting report:   Tim O’Gara, Service Director Legal & Democratic Services (Monitoring 
Officer)

Recommendation

That the Audit Committee note the administrative amendments to the Constitution as set out in the 
report, which address inconsistencies and improve formatting. 

Summary

Responsibility for reviewing the Council’s Constitution was delegated to the Audit Committee in 
December 2018.  The report sets out a number of administrative amendments to the Constitution which 
have been made by the Monitoring Officer under delegated powers.

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



Report for Audit Committee

Policy

1. The Audit Committee is a key component of the Council’s governance framework. Its function is 
to provide an independent and high level resource to support good governance and effective 
public financial management.

2. The purpose of an Audit Committee is to provide those charged with governance with 
independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal 
control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and annual governance 
processes.

Consultation

Internal
The Mayor and Party Group Leaders.

External
Not applicable

Context

Administrative changes 

The Constitution is kept under review by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that inaccuracies and 
formatting issues are rectified. 
 
Below lists those actioned to date:

 Financial Regulations
•

Document Name Actions Taken
Part 4 (i) Financial Regulations  Added section 2.7 regarding compliance with financial 

regulations.
 6.2.1 – Removal of write off limits as duplicated finance scheme 

of delegation.
 Update of all links to other documents
 General formatting changes

Part 4 (f) Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules 

 Amended header to remove reference to gold paper.
 Amended footer to say October 2019.

OER3 – Appointment of head of paid service
 Amended to confirm process is subject to Part I of the Local 

Authorities (Standing Orders ) (England) Regulations 2001.
 Amended to confirm that Full Council approve the appointment.

OER4 – Appointment of chief officers and deputy chief officers
 

Page 22



Report for Audit Committee

Document Name Actions Taken
 Amended to confirm process is subject to Part I of the Local 

Authorities (Standing Orders ) (England) Regulations 2001.
 Amended to confirm that all members of the committee or sub-

committee must have received recruitment and selection 
training within the previous 2 years.

Other Options Considered

None necessary

Risk Assessment

None necessary

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal
Local authorities are under a statutory obligation to keep their Constitutions up-to-date (s.9P 
Local Government Act 2000). Under the Council’s Constitution, this duty is discharged by the 
Monitoring Officer (Article 16.01).

Legal advice provided by Nancy Rollason, Head of Legal Services

Financial
(a) Revenue
Not applicable

(b) Capital
Not applicable

Land/Property
Not applicable

Human Resources
Not applicable

Appendices:
APPENDIX A : Financial Regulations 
APPENDIX B : Officer Employment Procedure Rules (OER) 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers: None

Page 23



Bristol City Council 
Financial Regulations

2019

Page 24



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 2 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

Contents
1 Introduction ...............................................................................................................................4

1.1 Status of Financial Regulations.............................................................................................4

2 Financial Roles and Responsibilities ........................................................................................5

2.1 Introduction............................................................................................................................5

2.2 Full Council............................................................................................................................5

2.3 The Mayor .............................................................................................................................5

2.4 Committees and Statutory Officers .......................................................................................5

2.5 Executive Directors ...............................................................................................................7

2.6 Internal Audit .........................................................................................................................8

  2.7     Compliance with Financial Regulations…………………………………………………………. 8

3 Financial Planning.....................................................................................................................8

3.1 Introduction............................................................................................................................8

3.2 Finance Scheme of Delegation to Officers............................................................................9

3.3 Revenue Budget....................................................................................................................9

3.4 Capital Budgets ...................................................................................................................10

3.5 Asset Leasing......................................................................................................................11

3.6 Treasury Management ........................................................................................................11

3.7 Income and Charging Policy ...............................................................................................12

3.8 Pay Policy Statement ..........................................................................................................12

4 Financial Management............................................................................................................12

4.1 Budget monitoring and control ............................................................................................12

4.2 Virement ..............................................................................................................................12

4.3 Supplementary Estimates ...................................................................................................12

4.4 Capital monitoring and spend..............................................................................................13

4.5 Accounting Records and Financial Systems .......................................................................13

4.6 Financial Systems ...............................................................................................................14

5 Risk Management and Internal Control ..................................................................................14

5.1 Introduction..........................................................................................................................14

5.2 Risk Management ...............................................................................................................15

5.3 Internal Control....................................................................................................................15

5.4 Audit Requirements.............................................................................................................15

5.5 Preventing Fraud and Corruption ........................................................................................16

5.6 Insurance.............................................................................................................................17

6 Financial Systems and Procedures ........................................................................................18

Page 25



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 3 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

6.1 Introduction..........................................................................................................................18

6.2 Income.................................................................................................................................18

6.3 Payment for Goods, Works and Services ...........................................................................19

6.4 Banking and Cash Handling................................................................................................19

6.5 Imprest Accounts.................................................................................................................19

6.6 Purchase Cards...................................................................................................................19

6.7 Procurement........................................................................................................................19

6.8 Assets..................................................................................................................................20

6.9 Land and Property Transactions .........................................................................................20

6.10 Stocks and Stores ...............................................................................................................20

6.11 Taxation...............................................................................................................................20

6.12 Staffing ................................................................................................................................21

6.13 Payments to Employees and Members...............................................................................21

6.14 Expenses and Allowances ..................................................................................................21

6.15 Declarations of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality....................................................................21

7 External Arrangements ...........................................................................................................22

7.1 Introduction..........................................................................................................................22

7.2 Partnerships ........................................................................................................................22

7.3 External Funding .................................................................................................................22

7.4 Work for Third Parties .........................................................................................................23

7.5 Council Owned or Controlled Entities..................................................................................24

Page 26



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 4 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

1 Introduction
1.1 Status of Financial Regulations

Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the authority’s financial affairs. 
They apply to every Member and officer of the authority and anyone acting on its behalf. The 
Regulations will be supplemented by detailed financial procedures and will be reviewed 
annually. Breach of these regulations or procedures will constitute a disciplinary offence.

Executive and Service Directors are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their 
departments are aware of the existence and content of the authority’s financial regulations 
and other internal regulatory documents and that they comply with them.

All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to provide 
for the security of all council assets, and for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, 
is properly authorised, provides value for money and achieves best value.

These regulations specifically identify the financial responsibilities of:

 The Full Council

 The Mayor and Executive Members

 Overview and Scrutiny Committees

 Head of Paid Service (S4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989)

 Service Director, Legal and Democratic Services, Monitoring Officer (S5 Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989)

 S151 Officer, Officer responsible for financial administration (S151 Local Government 
Act 1972)

 Executive and Service Directors

The Financial Regulations are divided into the following sections:

 Financial Roles and Responsibilities

 Financial Planning 

 Financial Management 

 Risk Management and Internal Control

 Systems and Procedures 

 External Arrangements

The Financial Regulations apply to all services of the Council. Whilst Schools with delegated 
budgets, under the Scheme for Financing Schools, have their own Financial Regulations for 
Schools with Delegated Budgets, these should not be contrary to the Council’s own 
Financial Regulations and any exceptions from it should be reported to the S151 Officer.

The S151 Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous overview of the Financial 
Regulations and for updating them, as necessary, for Full Council to approve.

Page 27



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 5 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

2 Financial Roles and Responsibilities
2.1 Introduction

Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of the 
authority, including the Budget and Policy Framework.

2.2 Full Council
The Full Council has responsibility for adopting the Budget and Policy Framework.

 The policy framework is made up of overarching plans and strategies as set out in 
the Constitution Additional corporate strategies may become part of the policy 
framework once adopted by full Council.

 The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to corporate priorities 
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the council tax base, setting the 
council tax and decisions relating to the control of the council’s borrowing, 
investments, capital expenditure, determining the authority's minimum revenue 
provision and the setting of virement limits.

2.3 The Mayor
The Mayor is responsible for all of the Council’s executive functions which are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under the Constitution. The 
Mayor will also:

 Recommend to Full Council the Policy Framework and Council Budget for approval 
and any subsequent amendments;

 Make all executive decisions within and in furtherance of the agreed Policy 
Framework and Budget;

 Recommend to Full Council the making of bye-laws;

2.4 Committees and Statutory Officers

2.4.1 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board
The overview and scrutiny Management Board is appointed by the Full Council. They have 
delegated roles and responsibilities according to their terms of reference 

2.4.2 Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is an advisory body, independent of the executive and scrutiny 
functions, that provides assurance, or otherwise, to Full Council in relation to the adequacy 
of the Council’s governance, risk management and internal control arrangements. Its full 
functions are set out in the Constitution and the Committee’s terms of reference The 
Statutory Officers

2.4.3 Head of Paid Service
The Head of Paid Service is responsible for the corporate and overall strategic management 
of the Council as a whole. The functions of the Head of Paid Service are explained fully in 
the Council’s Constitution.

Page 28

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/cs-constitution-part2-articles-of-constitution_0.pdf/f8c81ac9-838a-4404-a350-b082a37810e0
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/35432/0526_9+Terms+and+references+of+full+council+meetings
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/cs-constitution-part2-articles-of-constitution_0.pdf/f8c81ac9-838a-4404-a350-b082a37810e0
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/35432/0526_9+Terms+and+references+of+full+council+meetings
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/cs-constitution-part2-articles-of-constitution_0.pdf/f8c81ac9-838a-4404-a350-b082a37810e0


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 6 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

2.4.4 Monitoring Officer
The functions and responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer are carried out by the Service 
Director, Legal and Democratic Services. 

The functions of the Monitoring Officer are explained fully in the Council’s Constitution. 
However, the functions that are pertinent in the context of the Financial Regulations include:

 After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and S151 Officer, ensuring lawfulness and 
fairness of decision making;

 Advising whether executive decisions are within the budget and policy framework

2.4.5 S151 Officer 
The S151 Officer has statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and 
stewardship of the authority. This statutory responsibility cannot be overridden. The statutory 
duties arise from:

 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972

 The Local Government Finance Act 1988

 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989

 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (as amended)

 The Local Authorities Goods and Services Act 1970

 The Local Government Acts 2000 and 2003

 The Localism Act 2011

The S151 Officer is responsible for: 

 the proper administration of the authority’s financial affairs

 setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards

 advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial controls 
necessary to secure sound financial management

 Reporting to members on the overall budget performance and recommending 
corrective action where appropriate

 providing financial information

 preparing the revenue budget and capital programme and reporting to Full Council 
on the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves

 Prepare and publish the Council’s Statement of Accounts for each financial year, in 
accordance with the statutory timetable and arrangements specified by law.

 Treasury management arrangements.

 Internal audit

Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the S151 Officer after 
consulting the Head of Paid Service and Monitoring Officer to report to the Mayor, Members 
and external auditor if the authority or one of its officers:

Page 29

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/cs-constitution-part2-articles-of-constitution_0.pdf/f8c81ac9-838a-4404-a350-b082a37810e0


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 7 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

 has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring unlawful 
expenditure

 has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or would result 
in a loss or deficiency to the authority

 is about to make an unlawful entry in the authority’s accounts.

2.5 Executive Directors
The S151 Officer has overall responsibility for the finances of the Council however Executive 
Directors have delegated responsibility for the management of the finances of their services. 
As such they should

 put in place appropriate budget management and delegation arrangements to ensure 
the effective use of resources, the safeguarding of assets and the operation of a 
system of appropriate internal controls.

 promote appropriate financial management standards within their Services, and 
monitoring adherence to the standards and practices, liaising as necessary with the, 
S151 Officer and ensuring that relevant training is provided to those staff with 
financial management responsibilities.

 promote sound financial practices in relation to the standards, performance and 
development of staff in their services.

 Advise the Mayor and Executive Members and the S151 Officer of the financial 
implications of all proposals.

 Seek approval, in conjunction with the, S151 Officer on any matter liable to affect the 
Council’s finances materially, before any commitments are incurred.

 Consult with, and obtaining the approval of, the S151 Officer before making any 
changes to accounting records or procedures.

 comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties:

 Separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or from the Council 
and calculating, checking (including reconciling the accounts) and recording these 
sums from the duty of collecting or disbursing them.

 Ensuring that employees with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash 
transactions must not themselves be engaged in these transactions.

 Ensuring that claims for funds (including grants and ‘match funding’) are made, in 
accordance with accounting instructions issued by the S151 Officer and the 
conditions defined by the grant awarding body, by the due date and that appropriate 
records are maintained.

 Ensuring debts are collectable and that systems are in place for the effective 
recovery of sums due.

 Contributing to the development of performance plans in line with statutory 
requirements.

 Contributing to the development of corporate and service targets and objectives and 
performance information.

Page 30



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 8 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

2.6 Internal Audit
Internal Audit independently reviews, appraise and report upon the whole control framework 
including risk management, internal control and governance arrangements. In relation to 
financial controls, their focus is to review and report on:

 The extent of compliance with, and effectiveness of, relevant financial policies, plans 
and procedures.

 The adequacy and application of financial and other related management controls.

 The suitability of financial and other related management data.

 The extent to which the Council assets and interests are accounted for and 
safeguarded from loss of any kind from:

o Fraud and other offences.

o Waste, extravagance and inefficient administration.

o Inefficient value for money or other causes.

2.7 Compliance
Compliance with these Rules is mandatory.    

Those with responsibility for fulfilling their duties in line with the Rules are required to 
maintain ongoing knowledge and awareness to ensure compliance.

It will be the responsibility of Officers (including those with line management 
responsibilities) to address non-compliance swiftly and in the most appropriate way 
according to the circumstances. 

Means of reporting concerns can also be raised anonymously in line with the Council’s. 
Whistleblowing Procedure

Failure to comply with these Rules may constitute a disciplinary matter that would be 
pursued, as appropriate, in accordance with the relevant Human Resources Policy 
Framework.

3 Financial Planning
3.1 Introduction

The Full Council is responsible for agreeing the authority’s policy framework and budget, 
which will be proposed by the Mayor. In terms of financial planning, the key elements are:

 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)

 Annual Revenue Budget

 Capital Programme and Strategy

 Treasury Management Strategy, prudential indicators and Minimum Revenue 
Provision policy

Page 31

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/transformation/shared-transactional-services/hr/understanding-your-contract/whistleblowing/whistle-blowing-policy.en


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 9 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

3.2 Finance Scheme of Delegation to Officers
The Finance Scheme of Delegation details the power that officers have to make decisions 
on spending and other finance issues, across the council. The Scheme sets out the 
approved financial limits within which authorised officers may conduct the Council’s 
business. Changes to limits/values contained within it may only be made with the approval of 
the S151 Officer. The Scheme includes general limits on spending money, capital 
expenditure, Treasury Management, virement and supplementary estimates. Details of 
finance functions delegated to officers can be found here Finance Scheme of Delegation

3.3 Revenue Budget

3.3.1 Budget format
The Council is required to set an annual balanced budget presenting how its financial 
resources, are to be allocated and utilised; thus showing the Council’s financial plan for the 
coming year with regard to statutory services as well as local key priorities and objectives.

The general format of the budget will be approved by the Full Council and proposed by the 
Elected Mayor on the advice of the S151 Officer.

The S151 Officer, as the Council’s Chief Finance Officer, must report to Council (as required 
by the Local Government Act 2003) that the spending plans identified in its annual budget 
and the council tax calculation for the budget year are robust estimates that:

 Direct resources towards Council priorities in a way that is achievable

 Reflect the best estimate of pay and price increases available at this time

 Consider and recognise the major financial risks facing the Council

 Contain proposals for increased income or reduced expenditure that are achievable.

The S151 Officer must also confirm that the level of Council reserves is sufficient to meet the 
known financial risks facing the Council over the medium term.

3.3.2 Budget preparation
The Council operates within an annual cash limit, approved when the annual budget is set. 
The S151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is prepared on an annual 
basis for consideration by the Mayor and Cabinet, before submission to the Full Council. Full 
Council may amend the budget or ask the executive to reconsider it before approving it.

S151 Officer, in consultation with the Deputy Mayor for Finance, Governance and 
Performance, will issue detailed guidance and a timetable for production of the budget. The 
guidelines will take account of:

 legal requirements;

 medium-term planning prospects;

 available resources;

 spending pressures;

 best value and other relevant Government guidelines;

 other internal policy documents; and

Page 32

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/2914272/Scheme+of+Delegation+Finance+v1+June+2018-1+%28clean%29.pdf/5aa096f3-bb7c-0513-1fd7-0dce17ca9aff


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 10 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

 cross-cutting issues (where relevant).

Executive Directors must prepare detailed draft revenue and capital budgets, in consultation 
with the S151 Officer and the Deputy Mayor for Finance, Governance and Performance, and 
in accordance with the laid-down guidance and timetable, for consideration by the Mayor 
and Cabinet.

It is the responsibility of Service Directors to ensure that budget estimates reflecting the 
Corporate Strategy are submitted to the Mayor and Cabinet and that these estimates are 
prepared in line with guidance issued by the S151 Officer.

3.3.3 Maintenance of Reserves and Balances
Reserves are maintained to enable the Council to cope with unpredictable financial 
pressures, and to plan for future spending commitments. A general strategic reserve is 
maintained to cover unforeseen strategic, operational and financial risks whilst earmarked 
reserves are held for identified spending commitments. The S151 Officer will ensure that 
there are clear protocols for the establishment and use of reserves.

The creation of, or addition to, any reserve will be subject to the approval of the S151 
Officer. For each reserve established, the purpose, usage (including the timeframe for 
usage) and basis of transactions will be clearly articulated. 

The withdrawal of funds from a reserve will require the approval of the S151 Officer. In the 
case of balances held by schools, the appropriate Board of Governors are responsible for 
giving authorisation. 

The level of reserves will be reviewed annually by the S151 Officer who will advise upon 
prudent levels of reserves and balances for the Council. In developing a reserve strategy the 
S151 Officer will ensure;

 The level of reserves should be sufficient to ensure that the Council can comply with 
its statutory financial duties of setting a balanced budget.

 The level of reserves should take into account the known risks over the life of the 
current financial plan.

 The level of reserves should be capable of covering the estimated financial risk of the 
Council including contingent liabilities and insurance exposure risks.

Under section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the S151 Officer must report 
to Council if there is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced budget. This 
would include situations where reserves have become seriously depleted and it is forecast 
that the Council will not have the resources to meet its expenditure in a particular financial 
year.

3.4 Capital Budgets

3.4.1 Capital programme
The S151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a capital programme is prepared, with the 
associated financial implications set out in the revenue budget, on an annual basis for 
consideration by the Cabinet before submission to the Full Council.

Capital schemes will normally only be added to the capital programme as part of the annual 
budget setting process.

Page 33



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 11 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

3.4.2 Capital Expenditure
Capital expenditure involves the acquisition and enhancement of assets which provide a 
long term benefit to the Council, such as buildings and highways. Capital assets are integral 
to how services are delivered and create long term financial revenue commitments in the 
form of life cycle costs and financing costs if funded by borrowing.

The S151 Officer and Executive Directors have clear responsibilities along with a schedule 
of key controls to provide a framework to ensure resources are applied effectively to meet 
the goals of the authority and that the delivery of new capital projects including significant 
changes are reported accordingly. 

Schemes can only be approved if they are in the Capital Programme. Finance functions 
delegated to officers, including general spending limits in respect of capital expenditure can 
be found in the Finance Scheme of Delegation

3.5 Asset Leasing
Leasing arrangements, including rental agreements and hire purchase arrangements will 
only be entered into with the prior approval of the S151 Officer. This approval is required to 
ensure that leases that constitute credit arrangements are taken into account when the 
Council determines its borrowing limits and to ensure such arrangements represent best 
value for money and are accounted for appropriately.

3.6 Treasury Management
Treasury management activities are those associated with the management of the Council’s 
cash flows borrowings and treasury investments, and the effective control of the risks 
associated with these activities.

The authority is required to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management (2011) which requires the 
following:

 Annual Treasury Management Strategy including investment and borrowing 
strategies, a set of prudential indicators and a policy for making revenue provision for 
the repayment of debt (Minimum Revenue Provision) approved by Full Council. 
These will be consistent with the Council’s revenue budget and capital programme 
proposals.

 Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets out the policies and objectives of 
the Council’s treasury management arrangements.

 Treasury Management Practices which set out the manner in which the Council will 
seek to achieve those policies and objectives

 A Mid-year and outturn Treasury Management Report to provide an update including 
any revisions to policies or strategies.

 To nominate a committee to keep under review the treasury management 
arrangements. Under the current constitution this is undertaken by the Audit 
Committee.

In addition the S151 Officer and Executive Directors have clear responsibilities along with 
detailed requirements to ensure borrowing and lending activity is carried out in accordance 
with limits and criteria approved by Full Council including the Ethical Investment policy.

Page 34

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/2914272/Scheme+of+Delegation+Finance+v1+June+2018-1+%28clean%29.pdf/5aa096f3-bb7c-0513-1fd7-0dce17ca9aff


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 12 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

3.7 Income and Charging Policy
All new fees and amendments to existing charges will be reviewed by the relevant Executive 
Directors and are subject to formal approval by Cabinet following consultation with the 
relevant Executive Member, Executive Director and Section 151 Officer. Officers do not have 
the power to make changes to policies relating to fees and charges or give concessions to 
fees and charges.

All fees and charges must be reviewed annually, and will generally be increased in line with 
inflation. Where it is proposed that the charges should be increased either materially above 
or below inflation the proposal must be submitted to the relevant Executive Member and will 
require Full Council approval.

3.8 Pay Policy Statement
Officer’s remuneration must be set in accordance with the Council’s Pay Policy.

4 Financial Management
4.1 Budget monitoring and control

The S151 Officer is responsible for providing appropriate financial information to enable 
budgets to be monitored effectively. The S151 Officer is responsible for monitoring and 
controlling overall expenditure and income against budget allocations and must report to the 
Cabinet on the overall position on a regular basis.

Once the budget is approved by Full Council, Executive Directors will be required to sign off 
their annual budgets and are authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the 
approved budget, subject to the limits in the Constitution the Finance Scheme of Delegation

It is the responsibility of Executive Directors to control income and expenditure within their 
area and within the cash limited budget allocation delegated to them. They should monitor 
and report on variances within their own areas and take any action necessary to avoid 
exceeding their budget allocation and alert the S151 Officer to any problems. Where there 
are budget pressures mitigating actions must be identified.

Executive Directors must ensure that no commitments are made that would result in an 
approved budget being exceeded. Prior approval must be obtained to increase the budget 
either by virement or by a supplementary estimate (see below.)

4.2 Virement
Service Directors have a responsibility to ensure spending remains within the services 
overall cash limit. It is, in some instances, permissible to transfer a budget either between 
directorates or between services or budget headings within a directorate, subject to 
approved service plans and Council priorities. This change of purpose of a budget is known 
as a virement. Budget virements must follow the Finance Scheme of Delegation. Details can 
be found at the Finance Scheme of Delegation

4.3 Supplementary Estimates
In the event that it is not possible to transfer resources between budget headings to meet a 
liability, or no other mitigating actions can be taken, a request may be made for additional 

Page 35

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/council-spending-performance/senior-officers-pay
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/2914272/Scheme+of+Delegation+Finance+v1+June+2018-1+%28clean%29.pdf/5aa096f3-bb7c-0513-1fd7-0dce17ca9aff
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/2914272/Scheme+of+Delegation+Finance+v1+June+2018-1+%28clean%29.pdf/5aa096f3-bb7c-0513-1fd7-0dce17ca9aff


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 13 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

funding from the general balance, an earmarked reserve or from a contingency for 
unforeseen costs. These are referred to as supplementary estimates.

Supplementary estimates can only be requested for one off purposes. Where additional 
funding is required on an on-going basis, the full year effect must be addressed through the 
revenue budget setting process.

Following consultation with the S151 Officer, who will advise on the source(s) of 
supplementary funding, approval must follow the Finance Scheme of Delegation. All 
supplementary estimates must be approved by Cabinet or Full Council.

The S151 Officer will withdraw supplementary funding if it becomes apparent that the 
funding is not being used for the agreed purpose, or is no longer required and can be 
returned to the reserve from which it was allocated.

4.4 Capital monitoring and spend
Once the capital programme or a scheme is approved, Executive Directors are, subject to 
rules in the Constitution and the Finance Scheme of Delegation, authorised to progress 
capital projects that have:

(i) An approved start date in the current or prior financial year

(ii) Adequate scheme and payments approval in the Capital Programme to finance these 
projects

The principles and framework for managing the revenue budget apply equally with regards 
to the monitoring and management of individual capital projects within their scheme and 
payment approvals.

4.5  Accounting Records and Financial Systems

4.5.1 Accounting Records
The S151 Officer is responsible for determining the accounting procedures and records for 
the Council and for the completion of all accounts and accounting records.

The Council’s accounting records are maintained within its General Ledger. A standard 
coding convention is maintained that enables actual and budgeted income and expenditure 
to be analysed in a variety of ways (management and statutory reporting requirements). The 
integrity of the Council’s financial reporting is then dependent on transactions being correctly 
coded at source.

All financial records must be retained in line with the Councils Document Retention Schedule  

4.5.2 Annual Statement of Accounts
The Council has a statutory responsibility to prepare its accounts to present a true and fair 
view of the financial performance and results of its activities during the year, and is 
responsible for approval and publishing those annual statements in accordance with the 
timetable specified in the Accounts and Audit Regulations.

The S151 Officer is responsible for selecting suitable accounting policies, and for applying 
them consistently, to insure that the Council’s annual Statement of Accounts is prepared in 
compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom and other relevant accounting standards and practices. In addition, the S151 

Page 36

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/1998249/Officer+Scheme+of+Delegation%2C+Finance/25d9f88f-4439-a201-836b-e3f56071f95f
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/archive/cd-archive/Document-Retention-Schedule.en


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 14 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

Officer will ensure that the Statement of Accounts is complied, approved and published in 
accordance with the statutory timetable specified within the Accounts and Audit Regulations.

The S151 Officer will issue accounting instructions on the closure of accounts, including a 
timetable annually. All budget holders must comply with these accounting instructions and 
supply the information requested by the dates specified.

The S151 Officer must sign and date the Statement of Accounts, thereby confirming they 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council at the accounting date and its 
income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March.

The S151 Officer is responsible for making proper arrangements for audit of the Council’s 
accounts.

4.5.3 Transparency Requirements
The Council must publish on its website details of all expenditure on goods and services 
over £500. Similarly it must also publish on its website details of contracts awarded over a 
value of £5,000. The S151 Officer is responsible for ensuring these arrangements are met.

4.6 Financial Systems
The S151 Officer is responsible for the provision of a corporate system for the preparation of 
the Council’s accounts and for monitoring expenditure and income. This is currently provided 
by means of the Council’s financial system.

 Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial system accurately records 
the financial transactions of their functions, and for complying with any guidance issued by 
the S151 Officer. Executive Directors shall ensure that all income and expenditure, 
regardless of source must be processed through the financial system and that all 
transactions are recorded in a manner that complies with proper accounting practices, 
enables returns to be made to taxation authorities and complies with other legal 
requirements. The S151 Officer shall give whatever guidance is necessary to enable this 
obligation to be fulfilled.

Executive Directors shall use the financial system as the prime means of monitoring 
expenditure and income in their services and for comparing spending against budget. 
Executive Directors shall keep such subsidiary information and records as are necessary to 
effectively monitor expenditure, income and commitments, and to support any required 
returns.

Executive Directors shall provide all relevant information deemed necessary to compile the 
Council’s annual accounts in accordance with guidance issued by the S151 Officer.

5 Risk Management and Internal Control
5.1 Introduction

It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and maintained for identifying 
and evaluating all significant strategic and operational risks to the authority. This should 
include the proactive participation of all those associated with planning and delivering 
services.

Page 37



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 15 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

5.2 Risk Management
The Council operates a Risk Management Policy that details its approach and methodology 
for risk identification, assessment and management. The policy promotes operating with 
active risk awareness rather than risk aversion and requires operation at the highest risk 
levels to be escalated, reported and accepted via a directorate/corporate risk registers. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the authority’s risk management policy 
statement and approach and provides independent assurance to the Council on the 
effectiveness of risk management and internal control. 

Elected Members and officers alike are required to assist in, and take responsibility for, 
identifying, and controlling risk and opportunities (and better use of resources) in all their 
activities and areas of responsibility. Internal Control

The system of internal control is a significant part of the Council’s overall governance 
framework. The Council will compile an Annual Governance Statement each year which is 
supported by statements from management across the Council providing assurance that 
governance principles are embedded into everyday management. Internal control refers to 
the systems of control devised by management to help ensure the authority’s objectives are 
achieved in a manner that promotes economical, efficient and effective use of resources and 
that the authority’s assets and interests are safeguarded and properly accounted for. These 
arrangements also need to ensure compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations, 
and other relevant statements of best practice.

The S151 Officer is responsible for assisting the Council to put in place effective systems of 
internal financial control and to ensure a robust control environment. However, it is for 
managers across the Council to ensure that the system of internal control is operating 
effectively in their areas of service delivery.

Internal Audit will undertake a programme of independent reviews to establish the strength 
of control frameworks operated. Where improvement to internal control, risk management 
and governance arrangements is required, recommendations will be made by Internal Audit 
and timeframes for implementation agreed with service management. 

It is the responsibility of service management to ensure that such improvements are made in 
a timely manner in line with that agreed. Any non-implementation of recommendations will 
be escalated through the management structure and reported to the Audit Committee

5.3 Audit Requirements

5.3.1 External Audit/Inspection
The duties of the external auditor include reviewing and reporting upon:

(i) The financial aspects of the Council’s corporate governance arrangements.

(ii) The Council’s financial statements; the external auditor must be satisfied that the 
Statement of Accounts give a ‘true and fair view’ of the financial position of the 
Council and its income and expenditure for the year in question and complies with 
the legal requirements.

The Council may, from time to time, also be subject to audit, inspection or investigation by 
external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs and the Inland Revenue, who have 
statutory rights of access.

Page 38



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 16 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

The External Auditors and other statutory inspectors must be given reasonable access to 
premises, personnel, documents and assets that it is considered necessary for the purposes 
of their work. Regard must be given to the Councils GDPR policy though, and if there is any 
doubt about whether it is appropriate to provide such data to the external auditor or other 
statutory inspector, advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer.

5.3.2 Internal Audit 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations require the Council to maintain an effective internal 
audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 

Internal audit is an independent and objective appraisal function, established by the Council 
for reviewing the systems of internal control, risk management and governance 
arrangements across the Council. It assists the Council’s stakeholders by providing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of those arrangements related to the main risks faced by the 
Council.

Internal Audit adhere to proper practices in relation to internal control; specifically the PSIAS. 
They examine, evaluate and report upon the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to 
the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 

The Internal Auditors / Investigators have the authority to: 

(i) Access any Council premises, assets, records, documents and correspondence, and 
control systems. 

(ii) Receive any information and explanation related to any matter under consideration. 

(iii) Require any employee of the Council or school maintained by the Council to account 
for cash, stores or any other asset under his or her control. 

(iv) Access records belonging to third parties (e.g. Contractors) when required. 

(v) Directly access the Head of Paid Service, the Audit Committee, Executive and other 
elected members.

Managers must respond to Internal Audit reports in writing, within a timescale agreed as part 
of the internal audit methodology detailing the action intended, responsible officer, timescale 
for implementation and whether the action will require additional resources, to address all 
agreed recommendations. The relevant manager must ensure that any agreed actions 
arising from audit recommendations are carried out in a timely and efficient fashion. This is 
validated by the follow-up process undertaken by Internal Audit and reported to Audit 
Committee.

Any recommendations not agreed by the responsible officer must be reported to Audit 
Committee, with an explanation as to why the recommendation has not been accepted.

The Head of Internal Audit will be given the opportunity to evaluate the adequacy of new 
systems, or changes to existing systems, for maintaining financial records or records of 
assets prior to live implementation.

5.4 Preventing Fraud and Corruption
The diverse nature of services provided by the Council mean that there are many areas 
where we could be a target for fraud. The Council is committed to implementing and 

Page 39



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 17 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

maintaining the highest standard of corporate and financial governance and ethical 
behaviour. 

They recognise that fraud against the Council harms the citizens and taxpayers of Bristol 
and for that reason, fraud, bribery and corruption against the council will not be tolerated and 
all such occurrences will be investigated.

In accordance with the Council’s Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy all suspected 
irregularities must be reported to the Head of Internal Audit. The Head of Internal Audit will 
maintain a record of all such reports and will ensure a proportionate investigation is 
completed. Significant matters will be reported to the Head of Paid Service, Cabinet and the 
Audit Committee as appropriate. 

The Council operates a Whistleblowing Procedure which provides further guidance on how 
employees can raise issues or concerns about other inappropriate behaviour. Additionally, 
the Codes of Conduct for both Members and Officers set out the standards of behaviour 
expected regarding personal interests in professional matters and acceptance of gifts and 
hospitality. Declarations of interest, gifts and hospitality are required by these codes to 
ensure open and transparent transactions. 

The Council also has a legal duty under the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 to ensure 
staff are aware of the risks and report any suspected money laundering activity. The Anti 
Money Laundering Policy and Guidance provides details of the reporting procedure and 
guidance on recognising potential money laundering activity and the areas of operation most 
likely to be affected. Management in those areas are responsible for ensuring their staff 
understand their obligations so they can recognise and report suspicious activity. To mitigate 
the risks of the Council in respect of money laundering, cash payments in excess of £10,000 
will not be accepted except with the prior approval of the S151 Officer.

5.5 Insurance
The S151 Officer is responsible for arranging insurance cover on behalf of the Council, 
excluding any insurance under contracts which is the responsibility of the contractor.

The S151 Officer will hold in safe custody all insurance policies of the Council, arrange for 
payment of premiums by the due date, and manage the Council's own Insurance Fund. 
Procedures for dealing with claims on the Council's own Insurance Fund will be prescribed 
me by the S151 Officer.

With regard to the insurance of property, other than buildings, and any other insurable risks 
appropriate to the Council's services, it is the duty of all Executive Directors to:

 periodically review the valuation of insurable assets.

 Inform the S151 Officer promptly of any additions, disposals or revaluations of 
assets, so that appropriate changes in cover can be effected.

 Inform the S151 Officer promptly of any circumstances which necessitate the 
submission of a claim to an external insurer, or on the Council's Insurance Fund.

With regard to the insurance of assets, it is the duty of all Executive Directors to inform the 
S151 Officer promptly of any changes in the fabric, use or contents of any assets which may 
affect its valuation for insurance purposes.

Page 40

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=19143004
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/transformation/shared-transactional-services/hr/understanding-your-contract/whistleblowing/whistle-blowing-policy.en
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=18377002
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=18377002


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 18 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

It is the duty of the S151 Officer to periodically undertake a general revaluation of Council 
buildings so that appropriate amendments to insurance cover can be arranged.

The S151 Officer is responsible, in consultation with the appropriate Executive Directors, for 
submitting and agreeing insurance claims with external insurers and agreeing amounts to be 
met from the Council's Insurance Fund.

Insurance records relating to liability policies and related correspondence must be retained 
indefinitely. Documents relating to other policies and internal funding arrangements must be 
retained in accordance with the Council’s Document Retention Schedule.

6 Financial Systems and Procedures
6.1 Introduction

Sound systems and procedures are essential to an effective framework of accountability and 
control.

The S151 Officer is responsible for the operation of the authority’s accounting systems, the 
form of accounts and the supporting financial records. Any changes made by Executive 
Directors to the existing financial systems or the establishment of new systems must be 
approved by the S151 Officer. However, Executive Directors are responsible for the proper 
operation of financial processes in their own departments.

Any changes to agreed procedures by Executive Directors to meet their own specific service 
needs should be agreed with the S151 Officer.

Executive Directors should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial training that has 
been approved by the S151 Officer.

Executive Directors must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other systems are 
registered in accordance with data protection legislation. Executive Directors must ensure 
that staff are aware of their responsibilities under freedom of information legislation.

6.2 Income
The S151 Officer will agree the arrangements for the collection of income due to the Council 
and approve the procedures, systems and documentation for its collection and associated 
debt recovery. It is the responsibility of Executive Directors to ensure that a proper scheme 
of delegation has been established within their area and is operating effectively. 

The S151 Officer and Executive Directors will be responsible for:

(i) Administering all invoicing, credit notes, income collection and debt recovery.

(ii) Ensuring that claims for Government grants and other monies are made properly and 
promptly and properly.

(iii) Ensuring that all monies received are properly receipted and recorded and banked 
promptly.

(iv) Administering the process for writing off irrecoverable debts and monitoring and 
reporting on write off levels

(v) Recommending and implementing the Council’s debt management policy.

Page 41

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/archive/cd-archive/Document-Retention-Schedule.en


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 19 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

6.2.1 Writing Off Irrecoverable Income
In the course of collecting debt it is recognised that cases will arise where full payment or 
repayment is unlikely to be made, and where continued recovery action is ineffective or not 
economic, or where any possible arrangement will not lead to the debt being settled in 
realistic and reasonable timescales. In this instance the debt is written off and no longer 
pursued. The finance scheme of delegation sets out delegated authority to write off any debt 
due to the Council, 

Twice annually the amounts written off will be reported Audit Committee.

At the end of each financial year, each Executive Director will be required to supply the 
Finance Operations Manager with lists of outstanding debts to be brought into account in the 
Final Accounts of the year.

6.3 Payment for Goods, Works and Services
Expenditure may only be incurred where budgetary provision is available and must comply 
with the Council’s procurement rules and approved payment processes. All supplier invoices 
must be supported by a valid purchase order, otherwise this is likely to cause delay in 
payment. 

6.4 Banking and Cash Handling
The S151 Officer is responsible for,

 The opening, operating and closing of bank accounts in the name of the Council.

 Ensuring there are satisfactory arrangements in place for the ordering, storage and 
control of all cheques drawn on the Council’s main bank accounts.

 Ensuring regular reconciliations are carried out between all bank accounts and the 
financial records of the Council

 Approving the operation of imprest (petty cash) accounts.

Executive Directors are responsible for the proper administration of any imprest (petty cash) 
accounts including record keeping, document retention and the paying in of income. 

6.5 Imprest Accounts
Imprest (petty cash) accounts can only be established in exceptional circumstances, where 
there is no other practicable means of meeting minor expenditure on behalf of the Council. 
S151 Officer approval is required before establishing an imprest account. Service Directors 
are responsible for ensuring the imprest account is regularly reviewed and reconciled and 
must provide the S151 Officer with a certificate of the value of the account held at 31 March 
each year.

6.6 Purchase Cards
Purchase cards should only be used where it is not possible to go through the formal 
ordering process. Any request for a purchase card requires S151 Officer authorisation. 
Purchase cards can only be used in line with the Council’s Purchase Card Policy.

6.7 Procurement
Officers responsible for the purchase or commissioning of goods, services or works must 
ensure the appropriate procurement procedures are followed. These procedures are 

Page 42

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/finance/payments-goods-services/purchase-cards-policy.en


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 20 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

different depending on what it is being procured and how much is being spent. The rules are 
governed by European law, UK law, and the council’s own rules and regulations. Full details 
of the Council’s procurement rules, along with associated guidance can be found at   
procurement and commissioning

6.8 Assets 
The Council holds many different assets including property, land, vehicles, works of art and 
cash. These assets must be safeguarded and used efficiently in service delivery. Executive 
Directors must ensure that assets are properly maintained, securely held and appropriately 
documented. They should also ensure that contingency plans for the security of assets and 
continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure are in place. Executive 
Directors are responsible for ensuring intellectual property rights are protected.

6.9 Land and Property Transactions
The Council will enter into a variety of property agreements. These transactions will have a 
financial consequence for the Council. Approval is therefore required to authorise such 
property transactions for completion, and to declare properties surplus to requirements.

 The term "land" means real estate of whatever nature including land, buildings or structures, 
plus any rights over, under or through the land.

Prior to any disposal of Council property, the asset must first be declared surplus to 
requirements.

6.10 Stocks and Stores
Service Directors must make appropriate arrangements for the care and custody of stocks 
and stores held by their services and maintain inventory records that document the purchase 
and usage of these items. Stock levels should be subject to a regular independent check. All 
discrepancies should be investigated and pursued to a satisfactory conclusion.

6.11 Taxation
The S151 Officer is responsible for advising Executive Directors, in the light of guidance 
issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all taxation issues that 
affect the authority.

The S151 Officer is responsible for maintaining the authority’s tax records, making all tax 
payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns by their due date as appropriate. 
This includes National Insurance, VAT and the necessary Construction Industry Tax 
Deduction Scheme requirements.

The S151 Officer will ensure that VAT incurred in relation to “exempt” business income is not 
at risk of exceeding the partial exemption limit in any financial year, and undertake the 
annual calculation after year-end.

Executive Directors have the responsibility to check the VAT status of any new type of 
income with Finance. Ensure all new schemes, in particular involving capital expenditure or 
changes to current arrangements that in service areas which involve VAT exempt income, 
are notified to Finance at the earliest opportunity. Executive Directors should liaise with 
Finance if there is any type of query concerning VAT or if it is believed that an error may 
have occurred.

Page 43

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/tenders-contract/procurement-rules-regulations


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 21 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

6.12 Staffing
The Full Council is responsible for determining how officer support for executive and non- 
executive roles within the authority will be organised.

The Head of Paid service is responsible for providing overall management to staff. He or she 
is also responsible for ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or other agreed 
systems for determining the remuneration of a job.

Executive Directors are responsible for controlling total staff numbers by: 

 advising the executive on the budget necessary in any given year to cover estimated 
staffing levels

 adjusting the staffing to a level that can be funded within approved budget provision, 
varying the provision as necessary within that constraint in order to meet changing 
operational needs

 The proper use of appointment procedures.

 Ensuring the recruitment of agency staff, interim managers and consultants is in line 
with the Council’s policy for recruiting non-permanent staff and take into 
consideration Intermediaries Legislation (known as IR35)

6.13 Payments to Employees and Members
The Director of HR, Workforce and Organisational Design is responsible for all payments of 
salaries and wages to all staff, including payments for overtime, and for payment of 
allowances to Members.

6.14 Expenses and Allowances
The Director of HR, Workforce and Organisational Design is responsible for the payment of 
certified expense claims submitted by employees that are made in accordance with the 
Council’s Expenses, Benefits and Travel Policy. Certification of travel and subsistence 
claims is taken to mean that journeys were authorised and expenses properly and 
necessarily incurred for business purposes, and the allowances are properly payable by the 
Council. Further guidance is provided in the Expenses, Benefits and Travel Policy.

The S151 Officer will ensure that taxable allowances and benefits are accounted for, 
recorded and returned, where appropriate, to HM Revenue and Customs. Details of any 
employee benefits in kind must be notified to the S151 Officer to enable full and complete 
reporting within the income tax self-assessment system.

Member’s allowances and expenses are covered by part 6 of the Constitution.

6.15 Declarations of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality
The public is entitled to expect conduct of the highest standard from both local government 
Members and employees. Both a register of interests and a register for gifts and hospitality 
are maintained for both Members and employees and are examined by both Internal and 
External Audit. Full details of the requirements and guidance can be found in the following 

Code of Conduct Employee Declaration 

Code of Conduct for Members

Page 44

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/transformation/shared-transactional-services/hr/recruitment-and-redeployment/recruitment-folder/recruiting-non-permanent-staff-folder/recruiting-agency-staff-interim-staff-and-consultants.en
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/transformation/shared-transactional-services/hr/expenses-travel/expenses-benefits-travel-policy.en
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/cs-constitution-part2-articles-of-constitution_0.pdf/f8c81ac9-838a-4404-a350-b082a37810e0
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/transformation/shared-transactional-services/hr/understanding-your-contract/code-of-conduct-folder/code-of-conduct-employee-declaration-form.en
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/Part+5+%28A%29+Member+Code+of+Conduct.pdf


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 22 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

It is the S151 Officers responsibility to ensure that suspected irregularities are reported to 
the Chief Internal Auditor and, where appropriate the Head of Paid Service and the 
Executive. Executive Directors must ensure staff are properly informed of the requirements 
and guidelines laid down in the Councils Code of Conduct, and also of relevant service-
specific issues.

7 External Arrangements
7.1 Introduction

The local authority provides a distinctive leadership role for the community and brings 
together the contributions of the various stakeholders. It must also act to achieve the 
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of its area.

All partnership and joint working arrangements with outside bodies must be properly 
evaluated for risk before being entered into, and be supported by clear governance, 
accounting and audit arrangements.

7.2 Partnerships
The Mayor is responsible for approving delegations, including frameworks for partnerships. 
The Mayor is the focus for forming partnerships with other local public, private, voluntary and 
community sector organisations to address local needs.

The Mayor can delegate functions – including those relating to partnerships – to officers. 
These are set out in the scheme of delegation that forms part of the authority’s constitution. 
Where functions are delegated, the Executive remains accountable for them to the Full 
Council.

The Head of Paid Service represents the authority on partnership and external bodies, in 
accordance with the scheme of delegation.

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high standards 
of conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships that apply throughout the 
authority.

The S151 Officer must ensure that the accounting arrangements to be adopted relating to 
partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory. The S151 Officer must also consider the 
overall corporate governance arrangements and legal issues when arranging contracts with 
external bodies and must ensure that the risks have been fully appraised before agreements 
are entered into with external bodies.

Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained 
before any negotiations are concluded in relation to work with external bodies.

7.3 External Funding

7.3.1 Funding Conditions
External funding is an important source of income to the Council, but funding conditions 
need to be carefully considered prior to entering into agreements, to ensure that:

(i) They are compatible with the aims and objectives of the Council;

Page 45



Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 23 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

(ii) The requirements of the funding body are clearly understood and necessary procedures 
are in place to meet funding conditions and reporting requirements; and

(iii) Appropriate budget provision is available if ‘match funding’ is required.

7.3.2 Accounting for external funding.
The S151 Officer, in conjunction with Executive Directors must, as appropriate, will ensure:

 Any match funding requirements are considered prior to entering into any agreement, 
that future budgets reflect these requirements, and that any long term sustainability 
costs have been properly assessed.

 That all funding awarded or committed by external bodies is received and properly 
recorded in the Council’s accounts. This will include ensuring that claims for funding 
are made by the due date, and in accordance with the funding conditions.

 That a central register of external funding and grant arrangements is maintained

 All audit requirements are met

7.3.3 External Funding Claims
The S151 Officer and Executive Directors must, as appropriate, satisfy audit requirements in 
respect of external funding claims. This includes maintaining appropriate records that accord 
with the funding conditions, and making these available to the auditors as required.

For more information see the Grant Bid and Claim Protocol

7.3.4 Third Party Expenditure
Sometimes, grant funding awarded to the Council may be passed to an organisation falling 
outside of the direct responsibility of the Council. The Council will however remain 
accountable for the grant funding and, as such, will be responsible for ensuring that all of the 
terms of the grant are met.

The Executive Director in receipt of the grant must ensure that effective monitoring and 
reporting procedures are in place to provide assurances over the eligibility of expenditure 
incurred by the third party and the delivery of outcomes. Upon audit, if the eligibility of third 
party expenditure cannot be proven by the Council, the Council will itself usually be required 
to return the grant funding to the awarding body.

7.4 Work for Third Parties

7.4.1 Approval to contractual arrangements
Work can only be undertaken for third parties where the Council has the legal powers to 
undertake the work. Before progress is started the advice of the Service Director Legal 
Services must be sought as to whether this is within the Council’s legal powers. Where such 
legal powers exist, Executive Directors are responsible for:

(i) Approving the contractual arrangements for any work undertaken by their 
services for third parties or external bodies. 

(ii) Ensuring that the appropriate expertise exists to fulfil the contract. 

(iii) Ensuring that no contract adversely impacts upon the services provided by the 
Council. 

Page 46

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=20133002


Financial Regulations

Table of Contents 24 PART 4 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
PART 4 (i) FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES

7.4.2 Financial aspects of third party contracts
With regard to the financial aspects of third party contracts, Executive Directors will:

(i) comply with any guidance issued by the S151 Officer and will ensure that the 
appropriate insurance arrangements are made.

(ii) Ensure that all costs arising from the provision of services to a third party are 
recovered and hence that there is no subsidy included within the contract.

(iii) Ensure that the Council is not exposed to the risk of bad debts.

7.4.3 Documenting and recording contracts
A written agreement must be put in place between the Council and the third party, which 
details the services to be provided, over what period and at what price; this will be signed by 
both parties to the agreement. Executive Directors will provide information on the contractual 
arrangements to the S151 Officer as requested, in order that the appropriate disclosures can 
be made within the Council’s annual statement of accounts.

7.5 Council Owned or Controlled Entities
The Council recognises that a mix of different service delivery and business models are 
necessary to improve services and maximise value for money. Different service delivery 
models are available to the Council including the establishment of trading companies.
No such entities are to be established by the Council other than with the approval of Cabinet. 
Reports seeking approval for the establishment of such an arrangement must clearly set out:

 Both short and long term financial implications

 Comprehensive risk assessments

 How the proposed arrangement contributes to agreed priorities

 The legal basis for establishing the arrangement

 Exit strategies
No grants, loans, credit or other form of assistance, financial or otherwise, shall be provided 
to any owned or controlled entities outside the approved business plan other than with the 
prior agreement of the S151 Officer and where the transaction represents a key decision, the 
approval of the Cabinet. Regard must always be had in relation to such proposals to any 
State Aid implications that might arise as a result of the provision of such benefits. 
Where the Council owns shares, or in some cases the share, in an external entity a 
shareholder representative will ordinarily be appointed. Currently the power to appoint the 
shareholder representative rests with the Mayor. 
The principal responsibility for the financial management of Council owned and controlled 
entities is of the finance director, board of directors and other staff and officers of the entities. 
However, given the requirement for the Council to prepare and publish consolidated 
accounts referencing such entities and the responsibilities of the S151 Officer as to proper 
accounting practices and protection of the Council’s financial position, the S151 Officer is 
authorised to exercise such control as is appropriate and lawful in relation to the proper 
financial management of such entities. This includes recommending to such entities the 
embedding of and compliance with appropriate accounting arrangements and the adoption 
of appropriate Financial Regulations and Procedure Rules. 
The Council’s Shareholder Group has been established to provide an oversight function for 
the Council’s corporate portfolio.

Page 47



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

CONTENTS

Rule Reference

Appointment of chief officers and deputy chief officers OER4
Appointment of head of paid service OER3
Disciplinary action OER6
Dismissal OER7
Other appointments OER5
Recruitment and appointment OER1
Recruitment of chief officers and deputy chief officers OER2

Page 48



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES
PART I

OER1
Recruitment and appointment

(a) Declarations

(i) The council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 
appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the 
parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, 
grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an 
existing member of council or officer of the council; or of the 
partner of such persons.

(ii) No candidate so related to a member of council or an officer will 
be appointed without the authority of the relevant chief officer or 
an officer nominated by them.

(b) Seeking support for appointment

(i) The council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly 
seeks the support of any councillor for any appointment with the 
council. The content of this paragraph will be included in any 
recruitment information.

(ii) No member of council will seek support for any person for any 
appointment with the council.

OER2
Recruitment of chief officers and deputy chief officers

Where the council proposes to appoint a chief officer or deputy chief officer and it is 
not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing 
officers, the council will:

(a) draw up a statement specifying:

(i) the duties of the officer concerned; and

(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 
appointed;

Page 49



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 
likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply 
for it; and

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 
paragraph (a) to be sent to any person on request.

OER3
Appointment of head of paid service

This process is subject to Part I of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) Regulations 2001.

Where a committee, sub-committee or officer is discharging, on behalf of the authority, the 
function of the appointment of an officer designated as the head of the authority’s paid 
service, full council  must approve that appointment before an offer of appointment is 
made to that person.

OER4
Appointment of chief officers and deputy chief officers

This process is subject to Part I of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) Regulations 2001.

(a) A committee or sub-committee of the council will interview for the 
posts of chief officers and deputy chief officers. That committee must 
include at least one member of the executive. All members of the 
committee or sub-committee must have received recruitment and 
selection training within the previous 2 years.

(b) An offer of employment as a chief officer or deputy chief officer shall 
only be made where the procedure set out in Annex 1 to these rules 
has been completed.

(c) The committee will be responsible for the appointment of chief officers 
and deputy chief officers, except those officers designated as follows:

(i) Head of Paid Service

(ii) Monitoring Officer

(iii) Chief Finance Officer

(iv) Returning Officer for local elections

(v) Electoral Registration Officer

Page 50



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

(d) In the case of those appointments designated in (c) above the 
committee will recommend to full council accordingly.

OER5
Other appointments

(a) Officers below deputy chief officer

Appointment of officers below deputy chief officer (other than 
assistants to political groups) is the responsibility of the head of the 
paid service or their nominee, and may not be made by the Mayor or 
members of council.

(b) Assistants to political groups

Appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in 
accordance with the wishes of that political group.

(c) Mayor’s assistant

Appointment of the Mayor’s assistant shall be undertaken by the Mayor 
with appropriate officer support.

(d) Compliance with Equalities & Employment Legislation

Appointments of political assistants and Mayor’s assistant must comply 
with equalities and employment legislation.

OER6
Disciplinary action

Neither the Mayor nor members of council will be involved in disciplinary action 
against any officer below deputy chief officer except where such involvement is 
necessary for any investigation or inquiry into alleged misconduct, though the 
council’s disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as adopted from time to 
time may allow a right of appeal to members in respect of disciplinary action.

OER7
Dismissal

(a) Neither the Mayor nor members of council will be involved in the 
dismissal of any officer below deputy chief officer except where such 
involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry into alleged 
misconduct, though the council’s disciplinary, capability and related 
procedures, as adopted from time to time may allow a right of appeal 
to members in respect of dismissals.

Page 51



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

(b) Notice of dismissal of a chief officer or a deputy chief officer must not 
be given until the procedure set out in Annex 2 to these rules has been 
completed.

(c) Where a committee, sub-committee or officer is discharging, on behalf of the 
authority, the function of the dismissal of an officer designated as the head of 
paid service, as the authority’s chief finance officer, or as the authority’s 
monitoring officer, full Council  must approve that dismissal before notice of 
dismissal is given to that person.

(d) The chief finance officer, head of the authority’s paid service or 
monitoring officer may not be dismissed by the authority unless the 
procedure set out in Annex 3 to these rules has been followed.

Page 52



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

Annex 1

Appointment of chief officers and deputy chief officers

1. This procedure applies to the appointment of chief officers and deputy chief 
officers (“relevant officers”) and has been incorporated into these Rules, as 
required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001.

2. In this procedure, “appointor” means, in relation to the appointment of a relevant 
officer, full Council, the committee, sub-committee or officer discharging the 
function of appointment.

3. An offer of an appointment as a relevant officer must not be made until:

(a) the appointor has notified the proper officer of the name of the person to 
whom the appointor wishes to make the offer and any other particulars 
which the appointor considers are relevant to the appointment;

(b) the proper officer has notified every member of the executive of:

(i) the name of the person to whom the appointor wishes to make the 
offer;

(ii) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the 
appointor has notified to the proper officer; and

(iii) the period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to 
be made by the Mayor on behalf of the executive to the proper 
officer; and

(c) either:

(i) the Mayor has, within the period specified in the notice under sub-
paragraph (b) (iii), notified the appointor that neither s/he nor any 
member of the executive has any objection to the making of the 
offer;

(ii) the proper officer has notified the appointor that no objection was 
received by him/her within that period from the Mayor; or

(iii) the appointor is satisfied that any objection received from the Mayor 
within that period is not material or is not well-founded.

Page 53



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

Annex 2

Dismissal of chief officers and deputy chief officers

1. This procedure applies to the dismissal of chief officers and deputy chief 
officers (“relevant officers”) and has been incorporated into these Rules, 
as required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001.

2. In this procedure, “dismissor” means, in relation to the dismissal of a 
relevant officer, full Council, the committee, sub-committee or officer 
discharging the function of dismissal.

3. Notice of the dismissal of a relevant officer must not be given by the 
dismissor until:

(a) the dismissor has notified the proper officer of the name of the 
person who the dismissor wishes to dismiss and any other 
particulars which the dismissor considers are relevant to the 
dismissal;

(b) the proper officer has notified every member of the executive of:

(i) the name of the person who the dismissor wishes to dismiss;

(ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the 
dismissor has notified to the proper officer; and

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be 
made by the Mayor on behalf of the executive to the proper 
officer; and

(c) either:

(i) the Mayor has, within the period specified in the notice under 
sub-paragraph (b) (iii), notified the dismissor that neither s/he 
nor any other member of the executive has any objection to the 
dismissal;

(ii) the proper officer has notified the dismissor that no objection 
was received by him/her within that period from the Mayor; or

(iii) the dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from the 
Mayor within that period is not material or is not well-founded.

Page 54



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

Annex 3

Dismissal of the head of paid service, chief finance officer or monitoring 
officer

1. This procedure has been incorporated into these Rules, as required by 
the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015.

2. In the following paragraphs:

(a) “the 2011 Act” means the Localism Act 2011;

(b) “chief finance officer”, “disciplinary action”, “head of the authority’s 
paid service” and “monitoring officer” have the same meaning as in 
regulation 2 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001;

(c) “independent person” means a person appointed under section 28(7) 
of the 2011 Act;

(d) “local government elector” means a person registered as a local 
government elector in the register of electors in the authority’s area 
in accordance with the Representation of the People Acts;

(e) “the Panel” means a committee appointed by the authority under 
section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of 
advising the authority on matters relating to the dismissal of relevant 
officers of the authority;

(f) “relevant independent person” means any independent person who 
has been appointed by the authority or, where there are fewer than 
two such persons, such independent persons as have been 
appointed by another authority or authorities as the authority 
considers appropriate.

(g) “relevant meeting” means a meeting of the authority to consider 
whether or not to approve a proposal to dismiss a relevant officer; 
and

(h) “relevant officer” means the chief finance officer, head of the 
authority’s paid service or monitoring officer, as the case may be.

3. The authority must invite relevant independent persons to be considered 
for appointment to the Panel, with a view to appointing at least two such 
persons to the Panel.

Page 55



October 2019 PART 4: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (CPR)
PART 4(F) OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (OER)

4. The authority must appoint to the Panel such relevant independent 
persons who have accepted an invitation in accordance with the following 
priority order:

(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 
authority and who is a local government elector;

(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by 
the authority;

(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another 
authority or authorities.

5. The authority is not required to appoint more than two relevant 
independent persons but may do so.

6. The authority must appoint any Panel at least 20 working days before the 
relevant meeting.

7. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or not to 
approve such a dismissal, the authority must take into account, in 
particular:

(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel;

(b) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and

(c) any representations from the relevant officer.

8. Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the authority to an 
independent person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of 
remuneration, allowances or fees payable to that independent person in 
respect of that person’s role as independent person under the 2011 Act.

Page 56



Name of Meeting – Report

Audit Committee
25 November 2019

Report of: Denise Murray – Finance Director

Title: Proposed Changes to Bristol City Council Procurement Rules

Ward: n/a

Officer Presenting Report: Steve Sandercock – Head of Strategic Procurement and Supplier 
Relations Service

Contact Telephone Number: 07768 476812

Recommendation

To recommend to Full Council that:

(i) The proposed change to the Procurement Rules be approved.
(ii) Delegation be granted to Finance Director (S151) to undertake any necessary updates to finalise 

minor drafting of the Procurement Rules and/ or supporting Procedural Rules, in conjunction with 
Director Legal & Democratic Services

Summary
Members are reminded that the current Procurement Rules (the Rules) form a key part of the Council’s 
Constitution.
In doing so the Rules must abide by the statutory requirements of the EU Treaty Principles and UK law of 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (‘PCR’).  The EU Treaty principles are:
• non-discrimination; free movement of goods; freedom to provide services; freedom of 

establishment
General principles of law the following apply in how procurement is to be undertaken:
• equality of treatment; transparency; mutual recognition; proportionality
The Rules were last reviewed in January 2018.  With the Rules being in place for a period of over 18 
months it is appropriate timeframe to review and give consideration to how these changes are 
supporting effective commercial governance in a proportional and effective manner.  

Page 57

Agenda Item 10



Name of Meeting – Report

The significant issues in the report are:

The main purpose of the changes proposed is to enable and empower effective procurement and 
commercial decision making and how this is aligned to the Council’s Constitution.    

Policy

1. As noted the Procurement Rules form a fundamental part of the Council’s overarching 
Constitution.

Consultation

2. Internal

Principle engagement has been through the Constitutional Review Group and internal subject 
matter experts within Legal and Finance.

3. External

Not applicable

Context

4. Key changes are: 

i. The proposed structure has been re-ordered following a typical commissioning, procurement 
and contract management cycle taking the reader through the various options, routes to 
market and related steps in a logical way;  

ii. Replacement of the Commissioning and Procurement Group (CPG) approval and authorisation 
process in favour of a more streamlined proportional approach, linking to the Council’s 
Schemes of Delegation;  

iii. Improved clarity on the process to be followed in regards to waivers (e.g. approvals to step 
outside of the set Rules) including clarity on what grounds approvals are made;

iv. Improved clarity on when the Procurement Rules do not apply;

v. Setting out clearer procedural guidance that works alongside the Procurement Rules and 
avoids unnecessary detail in the Rules themselves, with Procedural Notes relating to:  
Concessions; Waivers; Late Submissions; Missing /Omitted Information; Acquisition and 
Commissioning of Art; Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees;

vi. Setting out details of approach to breaches of the Rules and escalations that would follow;

vii. Clarify contract variations and contract management; 

viii. Improved clarity on the sourcing approach to be followed, for example, the requirement to 
source from internal provision in the first instance ahead of considering formal procurement.

ix. Improved clarity in connection to extreme urgency or emergency situations;

x. Raising £15k threshold to £25k to align with Contracts finder, in order to reduce barriers and 
procurement "getting in the way".

Page 58



Name of Meeting – Report

Proposal

5. The Rules are informed both by consideration of the overarching legislation (e.g. Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015) and sound approach to commercial governance with the 
requirement for such rules around procurement and contracting to be part of the wider 
Constitutional framework of the Council.  

6. Accordingly the formal changes to the Constitutional matters rests with the Full Council.  Audit 
Committee are asked to endorse what is proposed to Full Council at the next Full Council 
meeting.

Other Options Considered

7. The work to review and update the Procurement Rules are informed by internal assessment on 
how effective or otherwise the current Rules are in delivering a governance framework for 
procurement and contract activity.  What is proposed is therefore based on a wider position of 
what is deemed appropriate for the Council going forward.

Risk Assessment

8. The risk of not recommending and ultimately adopting changes to the current Procurement 
Rules are that the Council does not maximise efficient and effective ways of undertaking 
procurement and contracting activities. 

Not reviewing the City Council’s Procurement Rules would lead to a number of risks:
- Non-compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the Concession Regulations 

2016 and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. 
- Failure to exploit the benefits of Social Value for the social, economic and environmental 

wellbeing of the city. 
- Failure to optimise the delivery of financial savings from successful procurements and 

commercial opportunities. 

Public Sector Equality Duties

8a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 
considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to:

i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 
the Equality Act 2010.

ii) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to --

Page 59



Name of Meeting – Report

- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic;

- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities);

- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low.

iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to –

- tackle prejudice; and
- promote understanding.

8b) Limited risks identified in the Equalities Impact Assessment which accompanies this report.

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal
These Procurement Rules constitute the Council’s Standing Orders in respect of contracts for the 
purposes of section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972.   Accordingly they must include 
provision for securing competition for such contracts and for regulating the manner in which 
tenders are invited. Section 135 allows the Council to exempt from any such provision contracts 
for a price below that specified and may authorise exemptions from any such provision when the 
authority is satisfied that the exemption is justified by special circumstances. The Procurement 
Rules seek to encourage competition and value for money, set out tendering requirements and 
provide for exemptions and waivers in defined circumstances.
Legal advice provided by Eric Andrews, Senior Solicitor 31/10/2019

Financial
(a) Revenue
The Procurement Rules are part of the overall finance governance framework. The Council’s 
financial regulations state that all payments for goods, works and services must comply with the 
Council’s procurement rules and approved payment processes.  The Procurement Rules set out 
to assure that the Council is achieving best value on its procured expenditure and also to comply 
with relevant legislation.
(b) Capital
See above

Financial advice provided by Michael Pilcher, Chief Accountant 29/10/2019

Land
 “not applicable”>

Personnel
 “not applicable”>

Page 60



Name of Meeting – Report

Appendices:

Appendix 1 Revised Procurement Rules 
Appendix 2 Comparison Table of Original Rules (May 2018) to Proposed December 2019
Appendix 3 Equalities Impact Assessment

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

Background Papers:

Page 61



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  1 of 24

THE CITY COUNCIL OF BRISTOL

PROCUREMENT RULES  

December 2019

FOR REVIEW AUDIT COMMITTEE (25 NOVEMBER 2019)

Page 62



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  2 of 24

THE CITY COUNCIL OF BRISTOL PROCUREMENT RULES

Contents
SECTION 1 INTRODUCTION ...................................................................................................................3

Background .......................................................................................................................................................3

General Principles............................................................................................................................................3

When the Rules do not apply .........................................................................................................................5

Waivers..............................................................................................................................................................6

Standards, Breaches and non-compliance ..................................................................................................7

SECTION 2 KEY FINANCIAL & PROCUREMENT THRESOLDS .......................................................8

General ..............................................................................................................................................................8

Observance of Thresholds..............................................................................................................................8

Authorisation and approvals Stages .............................................................................................................8

SECTION 3 KEY PROCESSES AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS .................................................11

Due Diligence .................................................................................................................................................11

Timescales ......................................................................................................................................................11

Preliminary Market Consultation ..................................................................................................................11

Advertising Opportunities..............................................................................................................................12

Procurement Clarifications............................................................................................................................12

Evaluation........................................................................................................................................................12

Opening of Quotations / Tenders.................................................................................................................12

Contract Award...............................................................................................................................................13

Application of the Light Touch Regime .......................................................................................................13

Contracts and documentation ......................................................................................................................14

Contract Extensions and Variations ............................................................................................................15

Contract Management ...................................................................................................................................15

OTHER MATTERS AND CONSIDERATIONS ..........................................................................................17

Frameworks and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS) ...........................................................................17

State Aid ..........................................................................................................................................................17

Provision of Art ...............................................................................................................................................17

Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees ..................................................................................................17

SECTION 4 Roles and Responsibilities .................................................................................................18

SCHEDULE 1 – DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................21

KEY LINKS ..........................................................................................................................................................24

Page 63



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  3 of 24

SECTION 1 INTRODUCTION

Background

1.1. The City of Bristol Council (the Council) is accountable to the public for the 
way it spends public funds, ensuring efficient, effective and economic delivery 
of services and maximising the benefits available from the budgets and activity 
which supports the Council’s strategic objectives. These Procurement Rules 
(the Rules) set out the Rules that must be followed by the Council for:

i. The procurement of Supplies, Services or Works and / or,

ii. The award of any Concession or license.

1.2. The Rules are complemented with supporting Procedural Notes and guidance 
which must be adhered to unless otherwise approved by the Head of Strategic 
Procurement and Supplier Relations.  These documents will be periodically 
reviewed and amended in consultation with Legal Services and the Section 
151 Officer where appropriate, to reflect changes in law, corrections etc.  

1.3. In the case of Concessions, reference should be made to the Procedural 
Note: Concessions and the associated Concession Contracts Regulations 
2016 (CCR).  

1.4. At the time of formal adoption due relevance to existing legislation was taken 
into account and would need due consideration on any subsequent related 
equivalent changes that may occur (e.g. changes in regards to EU status).

General Principles

1.5. These Rules constitute the Council’s standing orders in respect of third party 
contracts for the purposes of section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972:

i. To ensure that the Council complies with its legal obligations regarding 
the procurement of Supplies, Services and Works;

ii. To ensure that the Council obtains Value for Money and Best Value;  

iii. To prevent corruption or the suspicion of it; 

iv. To ensure fairness and equality of treatment of all suppliers, avoidance 
of bias, favouritism and that fairness can be demonstrated through an 
audit trail and;

v. To promote social value, including the local economy and 
environmental sustainability, to the extent that it is legally permitted.

Page 64



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  4 of 24

1.6. All contracts must be let in accordance with:

i. applicable UK and European Union legal requirements (including the 
PCR and CCR and the principles of transparency, equal opportunity 
and non-discrimination set out in the Treaty on the Functioning of the 
European Union (‘TFEU’));

ii. these Rules and the Constitution (including the Financial Regulations 
and scheme of delegation;

iii. on the Council’s terms and conditions.  Where this is not possible or 
departure is being considered a clear note on why it is not possible to 
be noted for audit purposes.  Depending on nature of risk / complexity 
Legal Services shall be consulted ahead of any formal decision.

1.7. For all Suppliers or Services procurement related to Financial, Legal or ICT 
these should not commence without prior approval from the Service Director 
with responsibilities for those functions. 

1.8. The Council’s procurement process shall:

i. Comply with the Council’s Social Value Policy and associated supply 
chain standards and initiatives;

ii. Seek to reduce disadvantage, advance equality and promote 
community cohesion as defined in the Equality Act 2010;

iii. Make every effort to promote local business including Small and 
medium-sized enterprises (SME). 

1.9. No Contract shall be made unless: 

i. There is a statutory power to do so;

ii. It can be demonstrated that it represents Value for Money;

iii. The necessary authorisation has been obtained in accordance with the 
Constitution and decision pathway. 

1.10. In addition, where a procurement is to be undertaken it should:

i. Ensure that the whole needs of Council are considered and wherever 
possible taken into account;

ii. Take into consideration opportunities to benefit from collaboration or 
using existing compliant contracts.

1.11. In the event of Contracts where the Council is entering into a contract to be 
funded from the Council’s delegated schools grant the Schools Forum must be 
given an opportunity to comment and give views. 

Page 65

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/273/contents/made


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  5 of 24

When the Rules do not apply

1.12. These Rules do not apply to:

1.13. Service contracts excluded under Regulation 10 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (PCR), including but not limited to: 

i. Contracts regarding the purchase or lease of property, acquisition, 
disposal, transfer of land, or any interest in land which includes 
licenses (for which the Council’s Corporate Land Policy shall apply);

ii. Legal costs (including all associated costs and fees) in connection with 
legal proceedings (including tribunals, inquiries, civil or criminal court 
proceedings);

iii. Treasury Transactions as outlined within the Treasury Management 
Strategy.

1.14. Contracts awarded under the PCR 12(1) (formerly referred to as the Teckal 
exemption);

1.15. Contracts awarded under PCR 12(7) (e.g. establishing or implementing a 
public contract with another public sector entity). 

1.16. Contracts for employment which make an individual a permanent or interim 
employee of the Council (for the avoidance of doubt this exemption does not 
apply to the appointment of consultants);

1.17. Non-contractual funding arrangements (including Grant agreements under 
which the Council gives a Grant to third parties) provided that the terms of the 
funding arrangements do not constitute a contract (rather than a Grant);

1.18. Specific licencing requirements (such as TV Licence or Public Entertainment 
Licence) or subscriptions to national organisations (such as the Local 
Government Association (LGA));

1.19. A contract for or on behalf of a school with a delegated budget, where the 
contract has been procured in accordance with the school’s own formal 
procurement and contractual rules; 

1.20. Contracts for the execution of either Works or provision of Supplies or 
Services which must be provided by Statutory Undertaker other than the 
Council. This includes, but is not limited to, arrangements with a utilities 
provider, where the  Council has no discretion regarding whether Works are 
required or who must deliver them; 

Page 66



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  6 of 24

1.21. Contracts entered into with others Local Authorities in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Supplies and Services) Act 1970, to include the supply of 
goods or materials and the provision of any administrative, professional and/or 
technical services;

1.22. Disposal of supplies deemed surplus to the Council needs;

1.23. The obligation to obtain quotations or tenders would not apply in the situation 
of social care services and related services (e.g. fostering placements) for 
vulnerable adults or young people and where there is either,

i. the right for the service user choice around provision;

ii. a panel or tribunal led placement decision and / or;

iii. a judicial review or decision directing the placement.

1.24. In the event of a genuine emergency or a major disaster involving immediate 
risk to persons, property or serious disruption to Council services or significant 
financial loss, these Rules would not apply to the extent necessary to deal with 
the immediate risk.  

1.25. Once the immediate risks of that genuine emergency or major disaster has 
been duly mitigated, any follow up actions which would typically be subject to 
these Rules should look to comply with the Rules as soon as practically 
possible following this.

Waivers

1.26. It should be the default position to follow the Rules in all situations.  A Waiver 
is not permissible for any EU Legislation.  

1.27. Where consideration of a Waiver is considered, the Procedural Note:  
Waivers must be applied.  

1.28. Notwithstanding the provision for waiver of these Rules, procurements must 
comply with relevant national legislation and European Union laws.

1.29. When considering applying for a Waiver, it must be done in a manner that 
ensures the best interests of the Council are being secured.

1.30. Note that the approval of a Waiver does not preclude the need to formalise 
any necessary approvals and administration, for example, the creation of 
purchase orders and a formal contract.

Page 67



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  7 of 24

Standards, Breaches and non-compliance
 
1.31. Compliance with these Rules is mandatory.    

1.32. Those with responsibility for fulfilling their duties in line with the Rules are 
required to maintain ongoing knowledge and awareness to ensure 
compliance.

1.33. It will be the responsibility of Officers (including those with line management 
responsibilities) to address non-compliance swiftly and in the most appropriate 
way according to the circumstances. 

1.34. Means of reporting concerns can also be raised anonymously in line with the 
Council’s Whistleblowing Policy – whistle-blowing-policy 

1.35. Failure to comply with these Rules may constitute a disciplinary matter that 
may be pursued as appropriate, in accordance with the relevant Human 
Resources Policy Framework. 

1.36. A Councillor or Officer must not seek or receive any bribe, gift or inducement 
of any kind.  Any Councillor or Officer who has either been offered a bribe, gift 
or inducement or is aware or suspects that another Councillor or Officer has 
been, shall report it to the Chief Internal Auditor or the Director: Legal 
Services.

1.37. If a Councillor or Officer is or could be in a position where somebody with 
whom they have a family, personal or financial relationship might bid for a 
contract, they must not be involved in any way in the procurement exercise or 
seek to influence it. Officers and Councillors shall be aware of the 
requirements of the appropriate codes of conduct and must declare any direct 
or indirect interest in accordance with the law and such codes. 

1.38. Officers should follow the Code of Conduct for Employees and relevant 
authorisations.

1.39. Councillors are not permitted to form part of the process once a procurement 
exercise is active and must ensure that their actions do not compromise or 
impact on the due process that has been set out.

Page 68

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/transformation/shared-transactional-services/hr/understanding-your-contract/whistleblowing/whistle-blowing-policy.en
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/transformation/shared-transactional-services/hr/understanding-your-contract/code-of-conduct-folder/code-of-conduct-for-employees.en


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  8 of 24

SECTION 2 KEY FINANCIAL & PROCUREMENT THRESOLDS

General

2.1. Before undertaking a new procurement, the following approaches should be 
used in the first instance:

i. Use of internal Council service(s);

ii. Use of an existing corporate Contract (including Teckal arrangements).

2.2. All of the above should take into account the wider principles of these Rules.

Observance of Thresholds 

2.3. The value for a proposed Contract must be a genuine pre-estimate and must 
be based on the total aggregated value over the life of the Contract, including 
any provision for extension(s). 

2.4. Where there is a requirement for similar Supplies, Services and / or Works, 
this spend should be aggregated to ensure compliance with the PCR in 
particular Regulation 6.  There shall be no disaggregation of requirements 
from across the Council in order to avoid the thresholds. 

Authorisation and approvals Stages

2.5. Approvals and authorisations shall be made at four key stages (Sign Off 
Approvals):

i. Stage 1 – Determining the appropriate Route to Market (Business case 
sign off)

ii. Stage 2 – Confirmation of Award Decision

iii. Stage 3 – Contract Variations / Extensions

iv. Stage 4 – Benefits Realisation (for Significant Contracts)

Page 69



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  9 of 24

Table 1  Key Financial Thresholds & Procurement Procedures 

ACTIVITY UP TO £5k
Over £5k to 

£25k

Over £25k to 
£250k or relevant 
OJEU Threshold 

Over £250k or 
relevant OJEU 

threshold

Tender process 
(as a minimum)

Obtaining at least 
one Quotation 

(preferably written) 
where possible 

from local / SME 
Supplier

Seeking a minimum 
of three Quotations 

where possible 
with one of the 

three quotes from 
local / SME 
Suppliers

Seeking a minimum 
of three Quotations 

where possible 
with one of the 

three quotes from 
local / SME 

Suppliers or formal 
compliant tender 

procedure

Formal compliant 
tender procedure 

Formal 
Advertising / 
Publication of 
opportunity and 
award

Optional Optional
Yes

Contracts Finder

Yes – OJEU* and 
Contracts Finder 

Contract 
published on 
Contract 
Register?

Not required Yes Yes Yes

Use of electronic 
Tendering 
System? Optional

Optional – unless 
approach is not 

taken then 
eTendering 

required

Yes Yes

Application of a 
Waiver (see 
Procedural Note: 
Waivers)

Not required but 
necessary records 

to be kept for audit 
purposes

Not required but 
necessary records 

to be kept for audit 
purposes

Yes – in line with 
Scheme of 
Delegation

Yes – in line with 
Scheme of 
Delegation

Strategic 
Procurement 
and Supplier 
Relations Service 
engaged

Optional Optional Yes Yes

Notes:  
*Not required for works, concessions or procurements subject to light touch regime below threshold.
Where a quotation from a local supplier is not possible, the reasons must be recorded for audit 
purposes. 
Official Journal of European Union (OJEU) Thresholds: https://www.ojeu.eu/thresholds.aspx (see “Other 
Contracting Authorities”).  Where possible all quotations should be confirmed in writing for audit 
purposes.

Page 70

https://www.ojeu.eu/thresholds.aspx


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  10 of 24

Table 2 Authorisations, approvals and Contract signatory

VALUE LEVEL METHOD/APPROACH AUTHORISATION POINT
Up to £25,000 Relevant means for audit purposes as 

needed, e.g. emails, etc.
Budget Holder (or Officer delegated 
by Budget Holder)

In excess of £25,000, 
but not more than 
£100,000 

1) Formal Authorisation carried out 
between authorisation points in 
line with decision pathway

Head of Service (or Officer with 
authority delegated by the Budget 
Holder) and Head of Strategic 
Procurement and Supplier Relations 
Service  (or Officer delegated by Head 
of Strategic Procurement and Supplier 
Relations Service)

In excess of £100,000, 
but not more than 
£250,000 

Note: OJEU Supplies / 
Services Threshold 
within this value level

1) Formal Authorisation carried out 
between authorisation points in 
line with decision pathway

2) Completion of Officer Executive 
Decision (OED) form for record of 
decision (within 5 days of decision)

Service Director (following 
consultation with the Budget Holder 
and relevant executive member) 
and Head of Strategic Procurement 
and Supplier Relations Service 

In excess of £250,000, 
but less than £500,000

1) Formal Authorisation carried out 
between authorisation points in 
line with decision pathway

2) Completion of Officer Executive 
Decision (OED) form  for record of 
decision (within 5 days of decision

Executive Director with approval of 
the Section 151 Officer (with 
consultation of Head of Strategic 
Procurement and Supplier 
Relations Service) and relevant 
executive member(s) 

£500,000 and above, 
but not more than £1m

Note: OJEU Social and 
other specific services 
Threshold within this 
value level

Cabinet Report  (Note:  OED  form 
required where delegation has 
previously been approved, e.g. 
approved route to market but 
delegation to award)

Cabinet approval 

Over £1m

Note: OJEU Works 
Threshold within this 
value level

Cabinet report  (Note:  OED form 
required where delegation has 
previously been approved, e.g. 
approved route to market but 
delegation to award)

Cabinet approval

Page 71



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  11 of 24

SECTION 3 KEY PROCESSES AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1. The following section provides a summary of key areas to consider when 
assessing procurement implications and / or undertaking a procurement process.

Due Diligence

2.2. Relevant subject matter experts (e.g. service area teams, Legal Services, 
Finance, IT, Property, Information Security, Data Protection / GDPR, etc.) are 
to be consulted at appropriate times during the procurement process. 

2.3. Prior to their involvement in a procurement activity, Officers (including those 
involved in the development specifications through to being part of an 
evaluation team) are required to sign a declaration any conflict / interest form, 
outlining any direct or indirect interest, canvassing and confidentiality matters.  
The completed form should be retained as part of the Contract records.

Timescales

2.4. Documenting specifications clearly and accurately is critical to achieving the 
right long-term outcomes for the Council so Officers should dedicate sufficient 
time for this activity.

2.5. Timescales for submission of tenders / quotations shall be reasonable, 
sufficient and proportionate in order to enable suppliers to submit a suitable 
response in order to facilitate genuine competition and compliance with the 
relevant PCR requirements.  

2.6. Where the procurement is a re-tender it is essential to put in place necessary 
and appropriate time in advance to ensure continuity of service.  

Preliminary Market Consultation

2.7. Where relevant and proportionate to do so, preliminary market consultation is 
permitted and encouraged with the intention of informing the procurement 
process and potential suppliers.  Where such consultation takes place, care 
shall be taken that it is in line with the PCR and in particular Regulations 40 
and 41. 

Advertising Opportunities

2.8. Publishing of quotation / tender opportunities shall be in line with Table 1 Key 

Page 72



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  12 of 24

Financial Thresholds & Procurement Procedures.  The primary means of 
advertising shall be via Contracts Finder, any associated Portal in connection 
with the Council default eTendering System and for those subject to the PCR 
and the Official Journal of the European Union.

2.9. Advertising of Contracts subject to the PCR shall be in line with the 
requirements of the PCR and in particular Regulations 49 and 50 plus 
Regulation 106 in relation to Contracts Finder.

Procurement Clarifications

2.10. Where Quotations/Tenders are placed via the Council’s eTendering System, 
clarifications on the procurement are only permitted via that System.

2.11. Discussions with tenderers after submission of a Tender and before the award 
of a Contract, with a view to obtaining adjustments in price, delivery or content 
(i.e. post-tender negotiations) is generally not be permitted.  If this is 
considered necessary then advice must be sought from Legal Services.

2.12. Planned and structured supplier contact in the form of a Bidder’s day or 
dialogue / negotiation as part of a prescribed procedure are permitted.

Evaluation

2.13. Quotations / Tenders will be evaluated in accordance with the evaluation 
criteria disclosed in the published procurement documents.

2.14. In setting criteria and in the evaluation of quotes/tenders, reference should be 
made to the accompanying evaluation guidance.

Opening of Quotations / Tenders

2.15. In line with Table 1 Key Financial Thresholds & Procurement Procedures, 
Quotations / Tenders are submitted via eTendering System and will be 
transmitted by electronic means. Quotations and Tenders submitted by 
electronic means shall ensure that:

i. evidence that the transmission was successfully completed is obtained 
and recorded through the system, and; 

ii. Quotations / Tenders are not opened until the deadline has passed for 
receipt of tenders.

2.16. Quotations / Tenders received after the specified date and time must be 
assessed in line with Procedural Note: Late Submissions.

Page 73



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  13 of 24

2.17. Where information is felt to be missing or omitted in a Quotation / Tender then 
reference should be made to Procedural Note:  Missing / Omitted 
Information.

2.18. Where the electronic Tendering System is not used in relation to a quotation 
process, an audit trail shall be put in place in order to uphold the principles as 
set out in the Rules.  A record shall be made of the Quotations received 
including names, addresses and the date and time of opening.

Contract Award

2.19. Where a Contract is awarded with a value of above £25,000 the following 
information shall be published on Contracts Finder: name of contractor; date 
on which Contract entered into; value of Contract; whether contractor is a 
SME or voluntary and community vector enterprises (VCSE).

2.20. For all Contracts subject to the PCR, Contract Award Notices shall take into 
account any requirements and conditions around Standstill Period, in line with 
Regulation 87 and an individual contract report is to be completed in line with 
regulation 84 of the PCR.

Application of the Light Touch Regime 

2.21. Under the PCR the Council can apply flexibility to the approach and 
procedures for certain Services.  A list of services to which the Light Touch 
Regime applies can be found in Schedule 3 of the PCR. 

2.22. The Light Touch Regime only applies to Contracts over the PCR stated 
threshold.   

2.23. Although the use of the flexibility permitted by the Light Touch Regime is 
encouraged, the principles of the TFEU still apply, meaning that the 
procurement procedures and the award of Contracts shall be fair, transparent 
and non-discriminatory. 

2.24. Application of the Light Touch Regime does not negate requirements to 
comply with these Rules and follow the Council’s formal decision-making 
process. 

Contracts and documentation

2.25. All Contracts shall be executed by an Officer with authority to do so under the 
Council’s scheme of delegations. 

Page 74

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/schedule/3/made


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  14 of 24

2.26. The use of electronic signatures is permitted provided a process has been 
established in approval with Legal Service.

2.27. Subject to 3.31, a Contract must be  executed as a deed when one or more of 
the following situations exist:

i. The Contract relates to a construction project (whether a Contract for 
Works or a Contract for Services) where the overall value of the Works 
or Services is greater than £500,000;

ii. The Contract Value is greater than £1,000,000 and there is a residual 
implication beyond the Contract term;

iii. Where it is particularly complex or high risk;

iv. Where it is a mortgage or charge;

v. Where it is for the acquisition or disposal of an interest in land;

vi. Where it is a release or variation to a deed;

vii. Where it is an appointment of a trustee, and/or;

viii. Where it is a power of attorney.

2.28. There is no requirement for a Contract to be executed as a deed where the 
Monitoring Officer has determined that a deed is not required. 

2.29. The formal advice of a Legal Officer must be sought for a Contract that 
includes one or more of the following features:

i. Where the Contract Value is greater than the EU Threshold for 
Services and Supplies and greater than £250,000 for Works;

ii. Where it involves financial lease arrangements;

iii. Where it is proposed to use a contractor’s own terms; 

iv. Where it is particularly complex or high risk;

2.30. Where payment in advance is required then formal written advice of the S151 
Officer is also required.  In the event of industry standards leading to a 
common accepted practice of advance payments (e.g. software licences) this 
would only need to be sought once. 

2.31. All Contract formalities must be concluded before the supply, service or 
construction work begins, bar in exceptional circumstances, and then only with 
the written consent of a Legal Officer. All related parent company guarantees 
and/or bonds should be delivered in accordance with the Contract.

Page 75



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  15 of 24

2.32. The Officer responsible for securing signature of the Contract must ensure 
that the person signing for the other contracting party has authority to bind it.

Contract Extensions and Variations

2.33. Unless an existing Contract makes provision for extension of the original term, 
a Contract must not be extended without confirmation from a Legal Officer that 
the extension does not conflict with EU and UK procurement law. 

2.34. Variations to existing Contracts must be carried out in line with the terms of 
the Contract and in line with the PCR Regulation 72.

2.35. Further guidance on variations to Contracts should be sought from the 
Strategic Procurement and Supplier Relations Service (in conjunction as 
required from Legal Services).

2.36. Guidance on variations under PCR can be found here:

Crown Commercial Service: Guidance on Amendments to Contracts

Contract Management

2.37. Contract management must be an integral part of the consideration when 
seeking to award a new Contract.  This will include establishing dedicated 
contract managers and contract management systems that are aligned to 
contract and corporate objectives, Value for Money and performance 
improvement.  

2.38. Payments shall be made in accordance with the contract and in a timely 
manner so as to avoid the payment of any interest charges.

2.39. During the life of a Contract, the contract manager must monitor the Contract 
in line with any approved Contract management framework 

2.40. If a contractor fails to comply with any of the provisions of a Contract, 
the contract manager must try to secure compliance.  Due records must be 
kept in regards to Contract failings and any corrective measures put forward.  
If this is not successful, the matter should be referred promptly to the Strategic 
Procurement and Supplier Relations Service and their advice sought as to 
what action should be taken to protect the Council’s interests.

2.41. Where practicable, all Contracts should contain a dispute resolution 
procedure.  If a contractor raises a dispute which is not clearly within the terms 
of a contract, the contract manager must not negotiate a settlement until the 

Page 76

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/560262/Guidance_on_Amendments_to_Contracts_-_Oct_16.pdf


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  16 of 24

claim has been referred to:

i. A Legal Officer for advice about the Council’s legal liability, and,

ii. The Section 151 Officer for advice about the financial implications.

Page 77



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  17 of 24

OTHER MATTERS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Frameworks and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS)

2.42. Framework Agreements and DPS can be set up internally to procure batches 
of similar Supplies, Services or Works which the Council expects to need over 
a period of time, but has no certainty as to what sort of quantity or details it 
may require. 

2.43. All Framework Agreements and DPS must be awarded, set up and managed 
strictly in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

2.44. All call offs must be in accordance with the terms of relevant framework 
agreement.

2.45. In looking to establish a Framework or DPS, due consideration must be given 
to sub-dividing the contract into lots and the reasoning provided where it is 
decided that this is not appropriate.

State Aid

2.46. State Aid must be considered in situations or circumstances where the 
proposed arrangement may provide an advantage through state resources on 
a selective basis to any organisation(s) that could potentially distort 
competition and / or trade in the European Union (EU).

Provision of Art

2.47. Where the Council is seeking to acquire or commission the creation of a 
unique work art or an artistic performance then the Procedural Note: 
Acquisition and Commissioning of Art shall be followed.

Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees

2.48. As part of the overall due diligence consideration should be taken as to the 
necessity or otherwise around seeking a Bond or Parent Company Guarantee 
based on strategic risk.  Guidance should be followed in the Procedural Note:  
Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees.

Page 78



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  18 of 24

SECTION 4 Roles and Responsibilities

Stakeholder Role / Responsibility

Director Directors must:

- In prior written consultation with the Strategic Procurement 
and Supplier Relations Service and advice from Legal 
Services, only approve variations to Contracts where there 
are financial, legal or commercial implications within their 
delegated limit of authority, and in accordance with the 
Public Contracts Regulations;

- In prior written consultation with the Council’s Strategic 
Procurement and Supplier Relations Service and the 
Section 151 officer, seek approval of the Cabinet to accept 
any tender other than the first ranked tender evaluated in 
accordance with prescribed procedures and criteria 
declared before submission of tenders;

- Provide information to the Head of Strategic Procurement 
and Supplier Relations Service for the maintenance of a 
contracts register, to include identifying a named contract 
manager for each Contract awarded;

Strategic 
Procurement 
and Supplier 
Relations 
Service 

Strategic Procurement and Supplier Relations Service must:

- Provide commercial advice and support to members and all 
service areas on  commercial and procurement matters in 
accordance with these procurement rules; 

- Promote the Procurement approach, policies and 
procedures and initiate appropriate reviews;

- Ensure the contracts register is maintained for all Contracts 
above £5,000;

- Approve any: 

o Guidance containing permanent alternative practices to 
the Procurement Policies and Procedures;

o Variations to the Standard Procedure subject to 
consultation with the Section 151 officer and Legal 
Officer where there are financial and legal implications 
respectively; 

- Initiate the Sign Off Approach and ensure major 
procurement activity is strategically managed;

Page 79



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  19 of 24

- Designate a Procurement Officer in consultation with 
Directors and ensure appropriate training is given and 
appropriate systems are in place and observed for the 
proper discharge of the procurement activity.

- In addition to any other responsibilities set out in these 
Rules, Section 151 Officer shall:

o Conduct financial appraisals of organisations where 
required, including advising on the most appropriate form 
of financial assurance;

o Make payments from the Council’s funds upon the 
receipt of proper original, certified copy or valid 
electronic VAT invoices that have been checked, coded 
and certified by the Service. Details of the rules applying 
to payment of suppliers are set out in the Council’s 
Financial Regulations.

o Standard payment terms are 30 days from date of an 
undisputed invoice. Any variation to this must be 
approved by the Section 151 officer.

Mayor and 
Councillors

The Mayor and Councillors make strategic decisions over the 
budgetary and policy framework within which procurement plans 
are developed and implemented. 

Decisions to approve procurement processes leading to the 
award of Contracts that constitute Key Decisions can only be 
made by the Mayor, or other body or individual delegated this 
authority, as prescribed in the Council’s Constitution. 

Where a Key Decision is made, the Mayor and Cabinet will 
generally authorise the procurement process to be followed and 
delegate the Contract award to the relevant Executive or Service 
Director.  

Officers Officers responsible for purchasing and the relevant Director 
must:

- Comply (and ensure that any agents, consultants and 
contractual partners acting o n  t h e i r  b e h a l f  a l s o  
c o m p l y ) w i t h  t h e s e  R u l e s , t h e  F i n a n c i a l  
R e g u l a t i o n s ,  the Constitution and with all UK and 
European Union legal requirements;

- Comply with all of the obligations set out in the 
Procurement Guidance and have regard to all other 
aspects of the Procurement Guidance;

Page 80

file://ds.bcc.lan/data/FIN/CORPPROC/CPG/CPG%20Forms%20and%20Process/Reviews/Constitutional%20Review%202019/Means%20the%20Director%20%E2%80%93%20Legal%20Services%20or%20such%20other%20legal%20officer%20with%20the%20appropriate%20delegated%20authority;.
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/Part+4.1%28i%29+Financial+Regulations.pdf/822f018f-a32c-0339-01af-1916f961ca20
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/Part+4.1%28i%29+Financial+Regulations.pdf/822f018f-a32c-0339-01af-1916f961ca20
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  20 of 24

- Ensure compliance with the requirements of the Public 
Services (Social Value) Act 2012 and the Council’s Social 
Value Policy;

- Agree annual service procurement plans for their directorate. 
These plans should be considered and approved by the 
appropriate Procurement Officer for that service area before 
the start of each financial year. The plans should detail 
existing Contracts / spend, pending Contract renewals and 
any new Contract / spend identified for the coming year.  In 
drawing up these procurement plans the Director should 
consider:

 Utilising any internally provided services and corporate 
Contracts;

 Future service projections and known requirements for 
the year to come, including potential regulatory changes; 

 Current and future budgetary considerations; 

 Links to the corporate plan and directorate business 
plans and how the objectives set out within this 
document will be supported by the annual procurement 
plan; 

- When any employee either of the Council or of a contractor 
may be affected by any transfer arrangements, ensure that 
the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
(TUPE) and pension issues are considered and that legal 
advice is obtained before commencing the procurement 
procedure;

- Consult with the relevant Procurement Officer to establish 
whether a suitable Contract or external Framework 
Agreement may exist, before commencing a new procurement 
project; where internal services are provided or corporate 
contracts have been procured these will be used throughout 
the Council;

- E n s u r e  that for Contracts in excess of £25,000, all contact 
with any Bidder during a competitive process is conducted using 
the Council’s e-tendering  system 

Page 81

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/239382/Social+Value+Policy+-+approved+March+2016-1.pdf/391b817b-55fc-40c3-8ea2-d3dfb07cc2a0
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/239382/Social+Value+Policy+-+approved+March+2016-1.pdf/391b817b-55fc-40c3-8ea2-d3dfb07cc2a0


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  21 of 24

SCHEDULE 1 – DEFINITIONS

DEFINED TERM MEANING

“Best Value” Means arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

“Bidder” Means any person who asks or is invited to submit a quotation or tender.
“Concession - CSR” Means Concession as defined under the Concession Regulations 2016
“Constitution” Means the Council’s Constitution.
“Contract” Means Contracts that have been set up with the expressed intention of 

supporting the delivery of Works, Service or Supplies across the whole 
of the Council.

“Contract Manager” Means the officer appointed by the relevant Director (pursuant to Rule 
3.2.3) with responsibility for managing a particular Contract.

“Contract Value” Means the whole life value or estimated whole life value (in money or 
equivalent value) for any purchase (including any extensions available) 
calculated as follows:

(a) Where the Contract is for a fixed period, by taking the total price 
to be paid or which might be paid during the whole of the fixed period;

(b) Where the purchase involves recurrent transactions for the same 
type of item, by aggregating the value of those transactions over the life 
expectancy of the Contract;

(c) Where the Contract is for an uncertain duration, by multiplying 
the monthly payment by 48.  In regards to calculation estimate of 
Contract Value for procurement purposes further guidance should be 
sought from the PCR Regulation 6.

“Councillor” Means a duly elected Member representing the Council in line with the 
Council’s Constitution.

“EU Procedure” Means a procurement procedure required under the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015.

“EU Threshold” Means the Contract Value at which the full requirements of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 / Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 
apply.   https://www.ojec.com/thresholds.aspx

“Framework 
Agreement”

Means an agreement between one or more public bodies with one or 
more contractors, the purpose of which is to establish the terms 
governing contracts to be awarded during a given period.

“Grants” For the purpose of this document Grants shall mean a payment to help 
the recipient (e.g. charity) to delivery an agreed outcome, but has no 
contractual basis. In return, the grant funder (e.g. the Council) gets no 

Page 82

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Continuous_improvement
https://www.ojec.com/thresholds.aspx


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  22 of 24

direct service delivery. A grant is usually provided subject to conditions 
that state how the Grant shall be used (for example to support the wider 
objectives of the Council in promoting the social, economic or 
environmental well-being within their communities).  Grant funding is 
usually preceded by a call for proposals. The Grant offer letter will 
normally set out general instructions as to how this is to be achieved, 
and any particular conditions in regards to clawback if those wider 
objectives are not met

“Head of Strategic 
Procurement and 
Supplier Relations 
Service”

Means the lead officer for the Strategic Procurement and Supplier 
Relations Service, or such other Procurement Officer / Manager with the 
appropriate delegated authority.

“Key Decision” Means a key decision as defined in the Constitution.

“Legal Officer” Means the Director – Legal and Democratic Services or such other Legal 
Officer with the appropriate delegated authority.

“Local Authorities” Means Public Sector organisations as defined as Local Authorities in the 
UK

“Officer” Means an Officer as employed by the Council with relevant and 
appropriate authority to act on behalf of the Council.

“Procurement 
Guidance”

Means the guidance issued by the Strategic Procurement and Supplier 
Relations Service, together with a number of standard documents and 
forms, which supports the implementation of these Rules.

“Procedural Note” Means detailed guidance issued by the Strategic Procurement and 
Supplier Relations Service, together with a number of standard 
documents and forms, which supports the practice and the 
implementation of these Rules.

“Procurement Officer” Means the appropriate officer for the Strategic Procurement and Supplier 
Relations Service.

“Quotation” Means a quotation of price and any other relevant matter (without 
the formal issue of an invitation to Tender).

“Section 151 Officer” Means the Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer or such other 
finance officer with the appropriate delegated authority.

“Sign Off Approval” Means a series of quality assurance checkpoints through which a 
procurement project needs to pass prior to approval, publication and 
contract award. 

“Significant Contract” For the purposes of Rules a Significant Contract shall mean a Contract 
that is defined in line with the Council’s contract management framework 
(currently under development).

Page 83



Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  23 of 24

“Social Value” Public authorities are required, under the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012 to, when commissioning a public service, consider how the 
service they are procuring could bring added economic, environmental 
and social benefits. 

“Standstill Period’ Means a period following the notification of an award decision in a 
contract tendered via the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU), 
before the Contract is awarded to the successful Bidder(s) as set out in 
the Public Contract Regulations 2015 in line with Regulation 87.

“Supplies, Services or 
Works”

Means Supplies, Services or Works as defined in the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015.

“Teckal”  The right to award contracts for Works, Services or Supplies from the 
controlling authority to the Council Owned company.  See the 
Regulations regulation 12 for more details:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/12/made 

“Tender” Means a Bidder’s proposal submitted in response to an invitation to 
tender.

“Treaty on the 
Functioning of the 
European Union 
(TFEU)”

Originating as the Treaty of Rome, the TFEU forms the detailed basis of 
European Union law, by setting out the scope of the EU's authority to 
legislate and the principles of law in those areas where EU law operates.

“Value for Money” Means optimum combination of whole-life cost and quality (or fitness for 
purpose) to meet the customer's requirement.  This includes 
consideration of Social Value. 

Page 84

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/12/made


Version 1.
Date Nov 2019
Page  24 of 24

KEY LINKS

Public Contracts Regulations 2015
Public Contracts Regulations 2015

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016

Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted

Bristol City Council’s Social Value Policy
Bristol CC - Social Value Policy

Internal procedural notes and guidance on Bristol City Council procurement  
(intranet):
Commissioning-procurement guidance

Published details on Bristol City Council procurement (external website):
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/tenders-contract/procurement-rules-regulations

Page 85

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/273/pdfs/uksi_20160273_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/239382/Social+Value+Policy+-+approved+March+2016-1.pdf/391b817b-55fc-40c3-8ea2-d3dfb07cc2a0
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/navigation/support-services/commissioning-procurement/commissioning/
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/tenders-contract/procurement-rules-regulations


APPENDIX 2 - Principle Changes / comparison between current Original Procurement Rules (May 2018) and 
Proposed Procurement Rules (December 2019)

General;

 Duplication removed (e.g. duplicated reference to Social Value / Value for Money)

Thresholds added into Tables (see Tables 1 and 2)

New Section added to make reference to Procedural notes and Guidance

New Document 
Para Reference

Original 
Document Para 
Reference

Summary / Comment 

Front page Date amended from May 2018 to December 2019
Page 2 Content page added
Page 3 – Para 1.1 “City Council” and “Rules” added a defined term
Page 3 – Para 1.1(i) 
and (ii)

1.1.1 / 1.1.2 Minor drafting including defining “Supplies, Services, Works and 
Concessions”

Page 3 – Para 1.2 
to 1.4

Added, which includes details on use of Procedural Notes, 
acknowledgment of Concessions Regulations 2016, plus any 
changes in regard to relevant legislation (e.g. EU status)

Page 3 – Para 1.5 (i 
to v)

Title General Principles added and Minor drafting edits

Para 1.6 to 1.7 Drafting to include reference on alignment of the Rules to 
Constitution, use of Council Terms and Conditions

2.1.3 to 2.2 Deleted from original.  Also Contract Value for obtaining 
quotations raised from £15,000 to 25,000.

Section 4 3.1 to 3.4 (3.4.1 
to 3.4.3)

Moved (and includes minor drafting updates)– now included in 
Section 4 Roles and Responsibilities 

Table 1 Table 1 Original Table deleted.  New and amended Table 1 included 
under Section 2 and based on thresholds aligned to nature of 
Activity (as opposed by value in original).  New Table sees value 
raised from £15k to 25K to undertake quotations / tenders, plus 
brings related Activity that is directed by spend thresholds into 
one place as opposed to original version that included this in text 
within / throughout the document, e.g. Contract Published on 
Contract Register. Also Introduces the requirement for all 
contracts above £5k to be recorded on the Contracts Register to 
ensure the ability of the Council to meet Transparency Code

3.42 to 3.45 4.3 to 4.7 Details on Frameworks amended and now included under OTHER 
MATTERS AND CONSIDERATIONS and awards included in Table 1

5.1 to 5.4 
(Gateway 
Approvals)

Deleted in regard to Commissioning and Procurement Group 
(CPG) and now included in Table 2 aligned to Scheme of 
Delegation (see also 2.5 (i to iv)

1.12 to 1.25 Exemptions and 
Waivers (section 
7)

Section redrafted in regard to clarity on when the Rules wont 
apply and split out from Waivers now covered in 1.26 to 1.29

1.26 to 1.29 Exemptions and 
Waivers
(section 7)

Waiver details now included in 1.26 to 1.29 and actual detail on 
the process to be followed updated Procedural Note: Waivers

1.31 to 1.39 
(Standards, 
Breaches and non-
compliance)

2.4 to 2.11 Added / amended and strengthened from original

2.1 – 2.2 n/a Added in regard to approach on application of Rules and Page 86



consideration of use of internal Services in first instance and 
existing Corporate Contracts

2.3 – 2.4 4.1.1 and 4.1.2 Moved
Table 2 Added to include details on Authorisation in regard to Scheme of 

Delegation approvals.  

Section 3 General Note:  Section 3 relates more to overall process and as 
such details have been taken out and where relevant included in 
reference to New Procedural Notes, in particular:
 Late Submissions 
 Missing / Omitted Information
 Acquisition and commissioning of Art
 Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees

3.21 – 3.24 n/a Addition in reference to Light Touch Regime as defined under the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

3.46 n/a Addition in reference to State Aid considerations
3.47 n/a Addition in reference to Provision of Art
Schedule 1 
Definitions 

Definitions Update and amended

Page 87



Bristol City Council Equality Impact Assessment Form 

(Please refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance when 

completing this form)  

Name of proposal  Update of the Council’s Procurement 
Rules (Dec 2019 

Directorate and Service Area Resources Directorate / Strategic 
Procurement and Supplier Relations 
Service 

Name of Lead Officer Steve Sandercock 

Step 1: What is the proposal?  

Please explain your proposal in Plain English, avoiding acronyms and jargon. 

This section should explain how the proposal will impact service users, staff 

and/or the wider community.  

1.1 What is the proposal?  

The current Procurement Rules (the Rules) form a key part of the Council’s 
Constitution setting out how the Council tenders and contracts for with third 
party suppliers.  In doing so the Rules Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (‘PCR’) 
require: 

 non-discrimination 

 free movement of goods 

 freedom to provide services 

 freedom of establishment 
 

General principles of law the following apply in how procurement is to be 
undertaken: 

 equality of treatment 

 transparency 

 mutual recognition 

 proportionality 
 

The objectives and outcomes of the Procurement Rules are to direct how 
spending is carried out in a transparent and open manner delivering value for 
money taking into account proportionality and risk. 
 
The Procedure Rules are the overarching framework for how third party spend 
is procured and managed, and therefore it applies to all those involved in the 

Page 88



tendering and contract management processes for the Council. 
 
The Rules were last fundamentally reviewed in January 2018.  With the Rules 
being in place for a period of over 18 months it is an appropriate timeframe to 
review. 
 
It should be noted that whilst the considerations around changes to Council’s 
current Rules come at a time of uncertainty around the shape of the UK’s 
future relationship with the EU (e.g. BREXIT) regardless of outcomes in relation 
to this and timings of any outcomes, the overriding legislative framework will 
remain predominantly unchanged for a period.  As such make changes to the 
Council’s Rules now will likely be unaffected by any outcomes, certainly in the 
short-term. 

 

Step 2: What information do we have?  

Decisions must be evidence-based, and involve people with protected 

characteristics that could be affected. Please use this section to demonstrate 

understanding of who could be affected by the proposal.  

2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected? 
The review and resulting documents take into account the overall principles of 
the Public Contracts Regulation around transparency and equality. From a 
process perspective the main stakeholders impacted will be suppliers and 
contractors in terms of the processes outlined in the overarching framework 
and how these are applied. 
 
In addition the users of the contracts will also be impacted but this would be 
part of the overall considerations in how goods, services and works are 
specified (and protected characteristics would fall into this consideration). 
2.2 Who is missing? Are there any gaps in the data?  

n/a 
2.3 How have we involved, or will we involve, communities and groups that 
could be affected? 
There will be a supporting Communications and Engagement Plan as part of 
the wider roll out will be to communicate the changes effectively with both 
incumbent suppliers but also potential new suppliers, either direct with the 
Council or as part of an extended supply chain with the Council’s main 
suppliers. 

 

Page 89



 

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact?  

Analysis of impacts on people with protected characteristics must be 

rigourous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts in this section, 

referring to all of the equalities groups as defined in the Equality Act 2010.  

3.1 Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people with 
protected characteristics?  

The proposed Procurement Rules provide the foundations to ensure that 
equality considerations and impacts around protected characteristics are 
proactively thought off and taken into account in the delivery of the resulting 
tendering and contracting processes themselves.  Compliance with the Rules 
will be mandatory. In addition there is also  clear policy around when / how 
exemptions to the Rules should be considered. 

3.2 Can these impacts be mitigated or justified? If so, how?  
The development of the revised Rules has seen considerable consultation 
undertaken across the Council and reflected in updates of the documents.  This 
includes both direct discussions with key senior managers who would be 
responsible for applying the new Rules / Procedures, plus with key subject 
matter experts e.g. Legal, Audit, Finance. 
 
From an external consideration the Strategic Procurement and Supplier 
Relations Service has taken into account ongoing feedback from suppliers as 
part of the day to day activity. 
 
In the event that documents are required in different language this would be 
facilitated as part of any formal procurement.  
 
To support the wider role out there will be a robust communication and 
engagement plan around the changes, what the expectations are to deliver in 
line with the new Procurement Rules, and where more information, help and 
support can be found.  This will include supporting information such as 
webinar, Internet / Intranet access to the documents and guidance plus 
training and drop-in sessions both for suppliers and Officers / Members. 
 
To ensure fairness and transparency the documents and guidance take into 
account and comply with the Public Contracts Regulations. 

3.3 Does the proposal create any benefits for people with protected 
characteristics?  

Page 90



Overall the positive impacts are that the Rules provide a framework and 
supporting guidance promote transparency and probity in how the Council 
undertakes its business, and by being clear how this is set out it should help 
reduce reputational damage by the Council’s overall conduct.  The Rules 
enable wider Strategic objectives of the Council to be considered as part of 
procurement arrangement that will enable and maximise overall value for 
money in how spend is undertaken. 
 
Having consistency in how procurement and tendering activity is undertaken 
provide a common framework to ensure that equality matters are proactively 
considered as part of the process from the commissioning stages, through to 
the actual procurement process and ultimate delivery in the contract itself. 
 
There is additional benefit indirectly through the Rules having due reference to 
Social Value and the application of the Council’s Social Value Policy in how it 
undertakes contracts with third party suppliers. 

3.4 Can they be maximised? If so, how?  

Application of Social Value and the measuring of tangible benefits delivered 
through third party contracts.  In addition the Rules set out clear expectations 
and approach in when and how Local Suppliers are considered as part of 
procurement processes, and where Local Suppliers are awarded relevant 
contracts this will in effect as a direct and indirect consequence have a positive 
on the wider Bristol economy.  

Step 4: So what? 

The Equality Impact Assessment must be able to influence the proposal and 

decision. This section asks how your understanding of impacts on people with 

protected characteristics has influenced your proposal, and how the findings of 

your Equality Impact Assessment can be measured going forward.  

4.1 How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the 
proposal?  

The application of the Procurement Rules should include delivery of third party 
contracts that have tangible and measurable outcomes to Social Value that 
sets out social, environmental and economic benefits to communities in and 
across Bristol. 

4.2 What actions have been identified going forward?  
As per 4.1 and 4.3  

4.3 How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured moving 
forward?  

Page 91



A performance and reporting framework for the Strategic Procurement and 
Supplier Relations Services is to be put in place which will support the overall 
measures around delivery under the Rules.  This will include contracts with 
local suppliers and numbers of contracts that are waivered and tangible 
benefits returned in regards to Social Value. 

 

Service Director Sign-Off: 

 
Denise Murray 

Equalities Officer Sign Off:  
Reviewed by Equalities and 
Community Cohesion Team 

Date: 13/11/2019 Date: 11/11/2019 
 

Page 92



Report for Audit Committee

Audit Committee
25th November 2019

Report of: Monitoring Officer

Title: Key decision definition in Constitution

Ward: N/A

Officer Presenting Report: Tim O’Gara

Recommendation

That the Committee recommends to Full Council that the definition of ‘key decision’ in the Constitution 
be amended in accordance with Appendix 1.

Summary

Responsibility for reviewing the Council’s Constitution and making recommendations to Full Council was 
delegated to the Audit Committee in December 2018. This report follows on from the report on 26th 
March 2019 and updates the Committee on proposals for changes to the definition of ‘key decision’ in 
the Constitution.

Page 93

Agenda Item 11



Report for Audit Committee

Policy

1. The Audit Committee is a key component of the Council’s governance framework. Its function is 
to provide an independent and high level resource to support good governance and effective 
public financial management.

2. The purpose of an Audit Committee is to provide those charged with governance with 
independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal 
control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and annual governance 
processes.

Consultation

3. Internal
Not applicable

4. External
Not applicable

Context

5. The definition of what constitutes a ‘key decision’ is currently addressed in multiple places 
within the Constitution. These definitions, whilst similar, are not consistent. The primary purpose 
of this part of the review exercise was to ensure that there was a single definition in order to 
remove the current uncertainty around interpretation.

Proposal

6. The definition that is being proposed is attached at Appendix 1 and a tracked change version 
may be found at Appendix 2.

7. There are some minor amendments in the definition to be considered:

7.1. The current definitions exclude certain expenditure items from the definition of key decision. 
It is proposed under the new definition that £500,000 will be an objective threshold in order 
to provide clarity i.e. all expenditure above that level will be a ‘key decision.’

7.2. Concession contracts are not covered by the statutory definition; however in practice they are 
taken to Cabinet if they are above the threshold. A clarification has been added to this effect.

7.3. Whilst the above should reduce the times where this is necessary, the current definition 
places the final decision with Executive Director, subject to guidance from the Monitoring 
Officer. In practice it is expected that input would be sought from the decision-maker and this 
has been reflected in the updated guidance. 

Other Options Considered

None necessary

Page 94



Report for Audit Committee

Risk Assessment

None necessary

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal
Local authorities are under a statutory obligation to keep their constitutions up-to-date (s.9P 
Local Government Act 2000). Under the Council’s constitution, this duty is discharged by the 
Monitoring Officer (Article 16.01).
Legal advice provided by Nancy Rollason, Head of Legal Services

Financial
(a) Revenue
Not applicable

(b) Capital
Not applicable

Land/Property
Not applicable

Human Resources
Not applicable

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Proposed amendment to definition of ‘key decision’
Appendix 2 – Tracked change version of Appendix 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:

None

Page 95



Appendix 1

Amendment to  Article 6 of Constitution

(To replace all other current definitions of key decision in constitution)

Key Decisions are those that meet criteria laid down in legislation and the Council’s criteria. Key 
Decisions will be recorded on the Mayor’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions. Details regarding the 
procedure for Key Decisions are given in the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

The statutory definition of Key Decision is an executive decision, which is likely: 

- to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, 
significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision 
relates; or 

- to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in two or more wards in 
the City. 

The threshold at which expenditure or savings will be regarded as significant has been set at 
£500,000 (see guidance in [INSERT]). 

For clarity, the following will also be reported to the Executive: 

- Any matters deemed to have a reputational risk to the Council 

- Any matter deemed to have significant financial or legal risk 

- Any matter relating to cessation or significant change in service delivery or policy direction 

- Any matter deemed significant by the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, or s151 Officer

- Concession contracts with a value in excess of £500,000

Further guidance on key decisions may be found at [INSERT]

Page 96



FURTHER GUIDANCE

Calculating the value for the purposes of the threshold

When calculating whether or not expenditure/savings are above the £500,000 threshold, the 
cumulative value is the relevant amount. Typically this will be the total contract value, inclusive of 
any extensions e.g. a four year contract with a two year extension period and an annual value of 
£100,000 will be worth a cumulative value of £600,000 and therefore will require a key decision.

Significant impact on communities

Central government guidance clarifies what is meant by “significant impact on communities”: 

• For example a council should regard as key a decision to close a school or carry out road works 
(such as introducing or altering traffic calming measures) in a neighbourhood, notwithstanding the 
thresholds of financial significance and that there may be an impact on only one ward. 

• Where a decision is only likely to have a significant impact on a very small number of people in one 
ward or electoral division the decision maker should ensure that those people are nevertheless 

informed of the forthcoming decision and sufficient time allowed for them to exercise their rights to 
see the relevant papers and make an input into the decision making process.

• In considering whether a decision is likely to be significant, the decision maker will need to 
consider the strategic nature of the decision and whether or not the outcome will have an impact, 
for better or worse, on the amenity of the community or quality of service provided by the authority 
to a significant number of people living or working in the locality affected. The following should be 
considered:

o The effect on communities, businesses and communities;

o The expectation of the public and councillors as to whether the decision should be taken by the 
executive;

o The anticipated interest of the public and of councillors;

o The effect on other council services and functions.

Who decides if a decision is key?

• It is for the Executive Director to decide which decisions within their responsibility are key, subject 
to [consultation with the Mayor/relevant Cabinet Member and] guidance from the Monitoring 
Officer who may require that a decision be treated as a key decision.

Page 97



Appendix 2

Amendment to  Article 6 of Constitution

(To replace all other current definitions of key decision in constitution)

Key Decisions are those that meet criteria laid down in legislation and the Council’s criteria. Key 
Decisions will be recorded on the Mayor’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions. Details regarding the 
procedure for Key Decisions are given in the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

The statutory definition of Key Decision is an executive decision, which is likely: 

- to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, 
significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision 
relates; or 

- to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in two or more wards in 
the City. 

The threshold at which expenditure or savings will be regarded as significant has been set at 
£500,000 (see guidance in [INSERT]). 

For clarity, the following will also be reported to the Executive: 

- Any matters deemed to have a reputational risk to the Council 

- Any matter deemed to have significant financial or legal risk 

- Any matter relating to cessation or significant change in service delivery or policy direction 

- Any matter deemed significant by the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, or s151 Officer

- Concession contracts with a value in excess of £500,000

Further guidance on key decisions may be found at [INSERT]

Page 98



FURTHER GUIDANCE

Calculating the value for the purposes of the threshold

When calculating whether or not expenditure/savings are above the £500,000 threshold, the 
cumulative value is the relevant amount. Typically this will be the total contract value, inclusive of 
any extensions e.g. a four year contract with a two year extension period and an annual value of 
£100,000 will be worth a cumulative value of £600,000 and therefore will require a key decision.

Significant impact on communities

Central government guidance clarifies what is meant by “significant impact on communities”: 

• For example a council should regard as key a decision to close a school or carry out road works 
(such as introducing or altering traffic calming measures) in a neighbourhood, notwithstanding the 
thresholds of financial significance and that there may be an impact on only one ward. 

• Where a decision is only likely to have a significant impact on a very small number of people in one 
ward or electoral division the decision maker should ensure that those people are nevertheless 

informed of the forthcoming decision and sufficient time allowed for them to exercise their rights to 
see the relevant papers and make an input into the decision making process.

• In considering whether a decision is likely to be significant, the decision maker will need to 
consider the strategic nature of the decision and whether or not the outcome will have an impact, 
for better or worse, on the amenity of the community or quality of service provided by the authority 
to a significant number of people living or working in the locality affected. The following should be 
considered:

o The effect on communities, businesses and communities;

o The expectation of the public and councillors as to whether the decision should be taken by the 
executive;

o The anticipated interest of the public and of councillors;

o The effect on other council services and functions.

Who decides if a decision is key?

• It is for the Executive Director to decide which decisions within their responsibility are key, subject 
to [consultation with the Mayor/relevant Cabinet Member and] guidance from the Monitoring 
Officer who may require that a decision be treated as a key decision.

Page 99



Name of Meeting – Report

Audit Committee
25 November 2019

Report of: Grant Thornton UK LLP

Title: Audit Progress Report 

Ward: City Wide

Officer Presenting Report: Grant Thornton UK LLP

Contact Telephone Number: 

Recommendation

The Audit Committee note, and comment as appropriate, on Grant Thornton’s Audit Progress Report.

Summary
Attached to this report is Grant Thornton’s Audit Progress Report with regards the 2018/19 audit of the 
accounts.  The report sets out progress made to date along with an outline of the work outstanding.

Page 100

Agenda Item 12



Name of Meeting – Report

Policy

None affected by this report. Grant Thornton are the Council’s appointed external auditors. In carrying 
out their audit and inspection duties they have to comply with the relevant statutory requirements, 
namely the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Consultation

1. Internal
 Director of Finance

2. External
None

Other Options Considered

3. None

Risk Assessment

4. None necessary for this report

Public Sector Equality Duties

5. None necessary for this report

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal
None arising from this report

Financial
(a) Revenue
None arising from this report

(b) Capital
None arising from this report

Land
Not Applicable

Personnel
Not Applicable

Appendices:  Grant Thornton’s Audit Progress Report and Sector Update.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers: None

Page 101



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Bristol City Council  |  2018/19 

Internal

Audit update report
for Bristol City Council

November 2019

Year ended 31 March 2019

P
age 102



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Bristol City Council  |  2018/19 

Internal

2

Audit progress update
In September we reported in detail the progress of our audit of the Council’s financial statements, including the work that we had completed in respect of our significant financial
statements audit risks. Our work in these risk areas is substantially complete and our review of the Council’s pension disclosures, unquoted equity investments and new Housing
Revenue Account system implementation has been finalised. We also reported a number of findings, adjustments and recommendations that had been identified from our audit to date.
In addition to these adjustments we have also identified some complex accounting requirements which have required us to complete more work than we had anticipated.

Additionally, we reported in detail the findings from our work on our Value for Money conclusion, and confirmed that we anticipate issuing an unqualified conclusion.

The table below summarises the items that remain outstanding in respect of our audit of Bristol City Council’s 2018/19 financial statements.

Area outstanding Impact on our audit

Satisfactory completion of our review of land and building valuations. As a significant audit risk we need to conclude this work and report the findings to you as 
Those Charged With Governance. We have already challenged the assumptions and 
estimates that management and the valuer have adopted and have employed our own 
expert

Conclusion on the accounting treatment of guarantees provided by the Council on behalf of 
Bristol Energy Limited.

This is a highly technical issue that could lead to an adjusted or unadjusted misstatement 
above our trivial level that would need to be reported to you as Those Charged With 
Governance.

Review of final outstanding sample items and resolution of any queries arising. We are required to obtain sufficient assurance over all material balances, transactions and 
disclosures in the financial statements before we can issue our audit report. We have 
completed significant amounts of sample testing to date. Errors identified in certain areas 
of expenditure testing have required us to select additional samples.

We have recently been made aware of a material prior period error in the financial 
instruments disclosure notes. In accordance with the CIPFA Code and accounting 
standards the Council is required to restate the prior year disclosures.

As a material change to the financial statements, we need to be assured that the 
adjustment to prior year audited values is appropriate and that appropriate disclosures 
have been made.

Following the satisfactory completion of all of the above, we will then require:

- satisfactory completion of final quality reviews of the financial statements and our audit work;

- receipt and review of the final set of financial statements with all audit adjustments; and

- receipt of the management representation letter.

P
age 103



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Bristol City Council  |  2018/19 

Internal

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 104



Name of Meeting – Report

 .

Audit Committee
25th November 2019

Report of: Chief Internal Auditor

Title: Internal Audit Charter and Strategy 

Ward: N/A

Officer Presenting Report: Simba Muzarurwi – Chief Internal Auditor

Contact Telephone Number: 07768476966

Recommendation
The Audit Committee to approve:
 i. the revised Internal Audit Charter (Appendix 1) and
ii. the Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23 (Appendix 2).

Summary
In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), Internal Audit is required to 
document the purpose, authority and responsibilities of the activity in the form of a Charter.  The Charter 
sets out how the Service will comply with the PSIAS, and its place within the organisation. In addition the 
PSIAS require the development of an Internal Audit Strategic Plan that relates the role of Internal Audit 
to the requirements of the organisation by outlining the broad direction of Internal Audit in the context 
of Bristol City Council assurance activities. Consistent with this an Internal Audit Strategy has been 
developed that sets out the framework for internal audit activities at the Council.

The revised Internal Audit Charter and the Internal Audit Strategy are presented to the Audit Committee 
for consideration and approval, as required by the PSIAS.

Significant Matters Arising:
-  There are no significant changes in the Charter that was approved by the Audit Committee in 
November 2018. However, there are some changes to the process for reporting internal audit outcomes 
and the criteria for reporting to the Audit Committee.

-  The Internal Audit Strategic Statement is now a standalone document that has been broadened to 
provide sufficient detail on how internal audit activities will be undertaken as well as defining key 
principles and approach in the provision of the internal audit service.

Page 105

Agenda Item 13



Name of Meeting – Report

1. Policy
The PSIAS require the Internal Audit service within the organisation to define its role, 
responsibilities and authority in the form of a Charter, which includes an explanation of the 
way in which the internal audit function will comply with the PSIAS.  Compliance with the PSIAS 
must be assessed and reported to the Audit Committee on an annual basis.

2. Consultation

Internal – CLB including S151 Officer, Cabinet Member for Governance, Resources and Finance.

External – N/A

3. Context

3.1 The Internal Audit Charter defines the purpose, authority, scope and responsibility of the 
Internal Audit service and is consistent with the mandatory requirements of the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the supporting Local Authority Guidance Note (LGAN) 
produced by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA).  It also meets the PSIAS requirement for Internal 
Audit’s risk-based plan to incorporate or link to a strategic or high-level statement.

It is the responsibility of the Chief Internal Auditor to ensure that the Charter is reviewed each 
year in order to confirm the Service’s compliance with the requirement as detailed in the 
Charter, as well as to maintain the Charter’s relevance to both the Internal Audit Service and 
the organisation as a whole.

3.2 Key Changes to the Charter:

 7.8.1 revision to the process for reporting internal audit outcomes and engagement 
with the relevant Senior Responsible Officer. 

 7.8.2 confirmation that any audit with a no or limited assurance opinion will be 
reported to the Audit Committee and subject to re-performance within six months from 
the date the final report was issued.

3.3 The Internal Audit Strategy outlines how internal audit activities will be undertaken within the 
Council and defines the key principles and approach to be used. It further enhances the 
processes that form the basis for the annual opinion which informs the Council’s Annual 
Governance Statement and seeks to maximise collaborative working opportunities with other 
assurance providers such as external auditors, external assessment teams and regulatory 
compliance teams.

3.4 Overall the Internal Audit Strategy will be delivered through the adoption of the following 
principles;

 Risk based auditing
 Knowledgeable, skilled and experienced workforce
 Effective collaboration with assurance providers
 Automated internal audit process

Page 106



Name of Meeting – Report

 Increased use of data analytics
 Robust client engagement
 Compliance with PSIAS
 Effective quality assurance and improvement programme
 Impactful reporting of audit outcomes
 Effective performance and risk management

4. Proposal

4.1 The Audit Committee considers and approves the annual update of the Internal Audit Charter 
and the Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23.

5. Other Options Considered – N/A

6. Risk Assessment

The work of Internal Audit minimises the risk of failures in the Council’s internal control, risk 
management and governance arrangements, reduces fraud and other losses and increases the 
potential for prevention and detection of such issues. The PSIAS provide for an effective 
independent and objective Internal Audit Service, ensuring a good standard of service to the 
organisation, whilst at the same time providing the Internal Audit Service with wider support in 
terms of maintaining its independence and freedom from influence. The risks currently faced 
by the Internal Audit Service are documented in the Internal Audit Strategy.

Public Sector Equality Duties

7a) No Equality Impact anticipated from this report.

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal – N/A
Financial – N/A
Land – N/A
Personnel – N/A

Appendices:
Appendix A – Internal Audit Charter
Appendix 2 – Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Page 107



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       1 
 

 

 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 

1.   Introduction: 

1.1 The Head of Paid Service and the Section151 Officer are responsible for maintaining 

an effective and appropriately resourced internal audit function, in line with the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations (2018). The regulations specifically require that “A 

relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of 

its risk management, control and governance processes, and taking into account public sector 

internal auditing standards or guidance”. 

1.2  This Internal Audit Charter defines the purpose, authority, scope and responsibility of 

the Internal Audit service and is consistent with the mandatory requirements of the 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the supporting Local Authority 

Guidance Note (LGAN) produced by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA).   

2. Purpose and mission: 

2.1  The purpose of the Bristol City Council Internal Audit Service is to provide 

independent, objective assurance and consulting services designed to add value and 

improve Bristol City Council’s operations.  

2.2 The mission of Internal Audit is to enhance and protect organisational value by 

providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice, and insight. The Internal Audit 

Service helps the Council accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, 

disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of governance, risk 

management and control processes consistent with the Bristol City Council Internal 

Audit Strategy.  

2.3  The Internal Audit Service will govern itself by adherence to the Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards (PSIAS) including the Core Principles for the Professional Practice 

of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, the International Standards for the 

Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Definition of Internal Auditing and the 

CIPFA Statement on the role of the head of internal audit.  

2.4  The Chief Internal Auditor will report periodically to senior management and the Audit 

Committee regarding the Internal Audit Service’s conformance to the Code of Ethics 

and the PSIAS. 

3. Authority: 

3.1 The Chief Internal Auditor will report functionally to the Audit Committee and 

administratively (i.e., day-to-day operations) to the Director of Finance (Section 151 

Officer). The Director of Finance is a Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) member in 

their own right and these management arrangements meet the PSIAS requirements.  

Page 108



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       2 
 

To establish, maintain, and assure that the Internal Audit Service has sufficient 

authority to fulfil its duties, the Audit Committee will: 

 Approve the Internal Audit Service’s charter. 

 Approve the risk-based internal audit plan. 

 Receive communications from the Chief Internal Auditor on the Internal Audit 

Service’s performance relative to its plan and other matters. 

 Approve decisions regarding the appointment and removal of the Chief Internal 

Auditor. 

 Approve the remuneration of the Chief Internal Auditor. 

 Make appropriate inquiries of management and the Chief Internal Auditor to 

determine whether there is inappropriate scope or resource limitations.  

3.2  The Chief Internal Auditor will have unrestricted access to, and communicate and 

interact directly with, the Audit Committee including in private meetings without 

management present. 

3.3 Consistent with the Internal Audit Strategy, the remit of Internal Audit covers the 

whole of the Council, its companies and other joint working arrangements where the 

Council is the Accountable Body as well as contract arrangements where the right of 

audit is included within the contract. 

4. Independence and objectivity: 

4.1 The Chief Internal Auditor will ensure that the Internal Audit Service remains free 

from all conditions that threaten the ability of internal auditors to carry out their 

responsibilities in an unbiased manner, including matters of audit selection, scope, 

procedures, frequency, timing, and report content.  

4.2 Internal Audit is independent of the activities that it audits to ensure the unbiased 

judgements essential to its proper conduct and impartial advice to management.  The 

Chief Internal Auditor reports to the Audit Committee, on a regular basis, on the 

organisational independence of the Internal Audit service. 

4.3 Internal Audit operates within a framework that allows unrestricted access to senior 

management and Council, particularly the Mayor, the Chair of the Audit Committee, 

the Head of Paid Service and the CLB.  The Chief Internal Auditor reports in his/her 

own name to the CLB and the Audit Committee. 

4.4 Should the independence or objectivity of the Internal Audit service be impaired in 

fact or appearance, the Chief Internal Auditor will disclose details of the impairment 

to the S.151 Officer and / or Chair of the Audit Committee depending upon the nature 

of the impairment. 

4.5 When requested to undertake any additional roles / responsibilities outside of Internal 

Auditing, the Chief Internal Auditor must highlight to the Audit Committee any 

potential or perceived impairment to independence and objectivity having regard to 

Page 109



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       3 
 

the principles contained within the Code of Ethics. The Audit Committee must 

approve and periodically review any safeguards put in place to limit impairments to 

independence and objectivity. 

4.6 As far as practicable, Internal Audit does not participate in the day to day operation of 

any systems without agreement of the Audit Committee.  However, in strict 

emergency situations only, Internal Audit staff may be called upon to carry out 

operational work. 

4.7     Where non-audit work, or consultancy work, is requested or required, the Chief 

Internal Auditor ensures that there are no conflicts of interest arising from 

undertaking the non-audit work, or consultancy work and if necessary makes 

alternative arrangements for internal audit review of any area where such a conflict 

exists. 

4.8 Where new colleagues join Internal Audit from a different part of the Council, they do 

not complete audit work in their previous area of responsibility for a period of at least 

1 year. 

4.9  Internal Audit has responsibility for collating assurances in support of the Council’s 

Annual Governance Statement; for drafting the Statement and for facilitating 

management review.  The Chief Internal Auditor does not have line management 

responsibility for those staff involved in governance processes and does not consider 

that the responsibilities in respect of the Annual Governance Statement restrict the 

ability to report objectively on governance. 

5. Definitions and Responsibilities of Officers and the Council in Relation to Internal 

Audit: 

For the purpose of this Charter the following definitions apply: 

 The Board is the Audit Committee - those charged with independent 

assurance on  the adequacy of the Council's risk management framework, the 

internal control environment and the integrity of financial reporting 

arrangements.  This includes  oversight of the internal audit function and its 

activity  

 

 Head of Paid Service - is the Executive Director: Resources- who has 

responsibility for ensuring good governance, risk management and internal 

control arrangements exist and operate 

 

 Senior Management is the Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) - those 

responsible for the leadership and the direction of the Council. Senior 

Management are also responsible for ensuring that internal control, risk 

management, and governance arrangements are sufficient to address the 

risks facing their Directorates and Services including the risk of fraud and 

corruption 

 

 Section 151 Officer - is the Director of Finance - the Section 151 Officer is 

responsible for: ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision 

Page 110



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       4 
 

making; providing financial advice; internal control; risk management; setting 

financial standards; and ensuring key financial controls are in place to secure 

sound financial management; ensuring there is adequate and effective 

internal audit service 

 Monitoring Officer - is the Director of Legal and Democratic Services – 

responsible for maintaining the Constitution; ensuring lawfulness and fairness 

of decision making; providing legal advice; and conducting member 

investigations.  As such the Monitoring officer works closely with internal audit 

on governance matters. 

6. Scope of internal audit activities 

6.1 The scope of internal audit activities encompasses, but is not limited to, objective 

examinations of evidence for the purpose of providing independent assessments to 

the Audit Committee, management, and outside parties on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of governance, risk management, and control processes for Bristol City 

Council. Internal audit assessments include evaluating whether:  

 Risks relating to the achievement of the Council’s strategic objectives are 

appropriately identified and managed. 

 The actions of the Council’s members, officers, directors, employees, and 

contractors are in compliance with the Council’s policies, procedures, and 

applicable laws, regulations, and governance standards. 

 The results of operations or programs are consistent with established goals and 

objectives.  

 Operations or programs are being carried out effectively and efficiently. 

 Established processes and systems enable compliance with the policies, 

procedures, laws, and regulations that could significantly impact Bristol City 

Council. 

 Information and the means used to identify, measure, analyse, classify, and 

report such information are reliable and have integrity. 

 Resources and assets are acquired economically, used efficiently, and protected 

adequately. 

7. Internal Audit Activities: 

7.1 Internal Audit Plan 

7.1.1 The primary task of Internal Audit is to review the systems of governance, risk 

management and internal control operating throughout the Council and in this a 

predominantly risk based approach to assessing controls is adopted. 

7.1.2 A risk based plan of internal audit work is prepared annually and reviewed quarterly.  

The plan is derived from a risk assessment which is informed by the views of 

Page 111



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       5 
 

management, the Council’s risk registers, performance management reports and the 

assurance framework.   

7.1.3 The audit plan is discussed with the CLB and the Section 151 Officer before review 

and approval by the Audit Committee.  The CLB is provided with details of the annual 

plan for information.  The audit plan is reviewed quarterly to ensure that it reflects 

current risks.  Any significant changes to the agreed plan are reported to the Audit 

Committee through the periodic activity reporting process. 

7.2 Audit and Assurance Reviews 

7.2.1 For each audit assignment within the annual audit plan, a ‘Terms of Reference’ is 

drawn up and shared with the relevant managers. The Terms of Reference identifies 

the key risks to the achievement of Council objectives and identifies the scope of the 

work being carried out. 

7.2.2 During the course of the audit, key issues are brought to the attention of the relevant 

manager to enable them to take corrective action. On completion of the audit, 

Internal Auditors communicate the results of the audit to the relevant Head of 

Services / Director / Executive Director. 

7.2.3 The completion of each planned assignment leads to individual reports to Heads of 

Service and /or Directors of Service and Executive Directors and these include an 

opinion on the control framework in place to manage the risks in the area reviewed.  

These opinions, together with other knowledge of issues identified in other audit 

work, assist the Chief Internal Auditor in providing an overall opinion on the control 

environment to management for the Annual Governance Statement. 

7.3 Fraud and Irregularity work 

7.3.1 Internal Auditors plan and evaluate their work to have a reasonable chance of 

detecting fraud; however the managing of the risk of fraud and corruption is the 

responsibility of management. 

7.3.2 The Council’s Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy requires the Chief Internal 

Auditor to be informed of all suspected or detected fraud.  A fraud risk assessment is 

performed on all suspected or detected fraud which determines whether the 

irregularity is investigated by Internal Audit or by the relevant directorate with support 

from Internal Audit where required. 

7.3.3 Investigation of fraud and corruption is carried out in compliance with statutory 

requirements and the fraud investigation protocol, by staff with the necessary skills to 

do so. 

7.3.4 In addition to determining the extent of the fraud, attention is given to correction of 

any control failures to prevent recurrence of the fraud. 

7.3.5 As well as responding to incidents of fraud and corruption, Internal Audit staff 

maintains and deliver a programme of pro-active fraud prevention and detection work 

including national initiatives to prevent and detect fraud and testing of priority fraud 

risk areas. 

Page 112



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       6 
 

7.4 Consultancy Reviews as Requested/Required 

7.4.1 Internal Audit provides both statutory and discretionary services. Discretionary 

services provided by Audit are a form of consultancy. These services may be on 

request by management or the Council, or recommended by Internal Audit.  Each of 

these reviews has a clearly defined and agreed Terms of Reference with agreed 

timescales for completion of the work and agreed reporting format. 

7.4.2 In addition to planned audit reviews, Internal Audit offer advice on the internal control 

implications of new systems being implemented across the Council, as well as 

guidance and advice with regard to transformation projects within the Council.   

7.4.3 The Chief Internal Auditor ensures that no conflicts of interest arise from undertaking 

any consultancy work by reviewing the scope of the work to be undertaken and 

maintaining Internal Audit’s independence from management functions. 

7.4.4 Where significant consultancy reviews are commissioned in year, outside of the 

approved plan, then Audit Committee approval is sought in advance. 

7.5 External Clients 

7.5.1 Internal Audit provides internal audit services and assurances to a number of public 

sector / quasi-public sector clients including WECA (grant certifications) and 

Academies. 

7.6 Reporting to the Audit Committee 

7.6.1 The Chief Internal Auditor will report periodically to senior management and the Audit 

Committee regarding: 

 The Internal Audit Service’s purpose, authority, and responsibility. 

 The Internal Audit Service’s plan and performance relative to its plan. 

 The Internal Audit Service’s conformance with The IIA’s Code of Ethics 

and Standards, and action plans to address any significant conformance issues. 

 Significant risk exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance 

issues, and other matters requiring the attention of, or requested by, the Audit 

Committee. 

 Results of audit engagements or other activities. 

 Resource requirements. 

 Any response to risk by management that may be unacceptable to the Council. 

7.7 Assurance Mapping 

7.7.1 The Chief Internal Auditor also coordinates activities, where possible, and considers 

relying upon the work of other internal and external assurance and consulting service 

providers as needed. The Internal Audit Service may perform advisory and related 

Page 113



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       7 
 

client service activities, the nature and scope of which will be agreed with the client, 

provided the Internal Audit Service does not assume management responsibility. 

7.7.2 Opportunities for improving the efficiency of governance, risk management, and 

control processes may be identified during engagements. These opportunities will be 

communicated to the appropriate level of management. 

7.8 Reporting; Follow Up and Escalation Procedures: 

7.8.1 Following the completion of all audit assignments a draft internal audit report is 

issued containing an opinion on the level of assurance that can be deemed from the 

control environment. The report outlines the findings or weaknesses, their causes 

and the associated risks and implications to the Council. Internal Audit will then 

engage with the relevant Senior Responsible Officers to agree the appropriate 

management actions required to address the weaknesses identified. 

7.8.2 It is the full responsibility of the relevant Senior Responsible Officers to implement the 

agreed management actions and senior management are responsible for ensuring 

that there are appropriate arrangements for monitoring and reporting the progress in 

the implementation of agreed management actions.  

7.8.3 Under the escalation element of this procedure, any audit with a no or limited 

assurance opinion will be subject to re-performance within six months from the date 

the final report was issued. The progress in the implementation of agreed 

management actions is also reported to the Audit Committee as part of its regular 

activity reports. Repeated failure to implement the agreed management actions will 

be reported to CLB and the Audit Committee, who may call the appropriate Senior 

Responsible Officer to account for the failure to correct the control environment. 

7.8.4 The Chief Internal Auditor routinely reports to the Audit Committee providing  Activity 

Reports to every meeting, together with  an annual report of Internal Audit activity 

with details of significant control issues identified by audit work.  The annual report 

provided by the Chief Internal Auditor includes the required opinion on the risk 

management and control arrangements in place and as such is an essential 

assurance to management in making their Annual Governance Statement. 

7.9  Collaboration and Liaison with Other Auditors 

7.9.1 The External Auditor has a statutory duty to express an opinion on the Council's 

financial statements and a Value for Money opinion on its arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  In doing so, there is potential for duplication 

of work completed by Internal Audit, particularly now that International Standards for 

Auditing (which apply to External Auditors) require a more detailed understanding of 

systems.  Wherever possible, the Chief Internal Auditor seeks to co-ordinate the work 

of Internal Audit with that of the External Auditor through sharing of plans and 

quarterly liaison meetings, where appropriate. 

7.9.2 The Chief Internal Auditor also liaises with equivalents in neighbouring local 

authorities where services are shared or delivered jointly.  Liaison is also ongoing 

Page 114



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       8 
 

with equivalents in Core City Local Authorities and the Local Authority Chief Auditors’ 

Network. 

8. Responsibility 

8.1 Internal Audit responsibilities: 

The responsibilities incumbent on the Internal Audit Service are summarised below: 

 Formulation and delivery of an annual Internal Audit plan which will enable the 

Chief Internal Auditor to provide management and the Audit Committee with the 

required objective opinion on the internal control, governance and risk 

management  arrangements in place across the Council to inform the Annual 

Governance Statement 

 

 Support of the Section 151 officer in discharging their statutory duties 

 

 Reporting significant risk exposures and control issues identified to management 

and the Audit Committee, including fraud risks, governance issues, and other 

matters and making recommendations for improvement 

 

 Ensuring the Council has a robust and proactive approach to fraud identification 

and investigation, investigating alleged frauds and other irregularities 

 

 The review and certification of grant/funding claims as required 

 

 Providing reports to the Audit Committee to enable it to discharge its duties 

 

 Communicating risk and control information to the appropriate officers across the 

Council, whilst providing expertise and guidance in the matter of risk 

management 

 

 Facilitating the establishment of assurances in support of the Annual Governance 

Statement 

 

 Raising awareness of internal control, risk management and governance across 

the Council 

 

 Undertake ad-hoc audit reviews, as required by senior management. 

8.2  Chief Internal Auditor responsibilities 

Specifically, the Chief Internal Auditor has the responsibility to:  

 Submit, at least annually, to senior management and the Audit Committee a 

risk-based internal audit plan for review and approval. 

 

 Communicate to senior management and the Audit Committee the impact of 

resource limitations on the internal audit plan. 

Page 115



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       9 
 

 Review and adjust the internal audit plan, as necessary, in response to 

changes in Bristol City Council’s business, risks, operations, programmes, 

systems, and controls. 

 Communicate to senior management and the Audit Committee any significant 

interim changes to the internal audit plan. 

 Ensure each engagement of the internal audit plan is executed, including the 

establishment of objectives and scope, the assignment of appropriate and 

adequately supervised resources, the documentation of work programs and 

testing results, and the communication of engagement results with applicable 

conclusions and recommendations to appropriate parties. 

 Follow up on engagement findings and corrective actions, and report 

periodically to senior management and the Audit Committee any corrective 

actions not effectively implemented. 

 Ensure the principles of integrity, objectivity, confidentiality, and competency 

are applied and upheld. 

 Ensure the Internal Audit Service collectively possesses or obtains the 

knowledge, skills, and other competencies needed to meet the requirements 

of the internal audit charter. 

 Ensure trends and emerging issues that could impact Bristol City Council are 

considered and communicated to senior management and the Audit 

Committee as appropriate. 

 Ensure emerging trends and successful practices in internal auditing are 

considered. 

 Establish and ensure adherence to policies and procedures designed to guide 

the Internal Audit Service. 

 Ensure adherence to Bristol City Council’s relevant policies and procedures, 

unless such policies and procedures conflict with the internal audit charter. 

Any such conflicts will be resolved or otherwise communicated to senior 

management and the Audit Committee. 

 Ensure conformance of the Internal Audit Service with the Standards.  

8.3 Responsibilities for senior management: 

 Engagement in the Internal Audit planning process – providing insight into high 

risk areas within the respective directorates 

 Nomination of responsible officers for all planned and ad-hoc internal audit 

reviews 

 Timely engagement and clearance of relevant Terms of Reference, Audit queries, 

Draft and Final reports.  Timely being defined as within a two week timeframe 

unless otherwise defined and/or agreed 

Page 116



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       10 
 

 Engagement with the Internal Audit follow-up process, providing evidence of 

recommendation implementation as and when implementation is achieved, 

should this be before a planned follow-up has commenced or after the follow-up 

has been completed. 

9. Code of Ethics 

9.1 To enhance the environment of trust between Internal Audit and management, all 

staff involved in the delivery of Internal Audit services complies with the Code of 

Ethics laid down in the PSIAS.  Staff induction and training ensures all staff are 

aware of this requirement.  Additionally, many Internal Audit staff are bound by the 

ethical codes of the professional bodies they have qualified with and all are bound by 

the Council's own Code of Conduct for employees.  Fundamentally, the following 

ethical standards are observed: 

 Integrity - performing work with honesty, diligence and responsibility 

 

 Objectivity - making a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances, 

not unduly influenced by personal interests or by others in forming 

judgements 

 

 Confidentiality - respecting the value and ownership of information obtained 

and not disclosing information without appropriate authority, unless there is a 

legal or professional obligation to do so 

 

 Competence and due professional care - applying the knowledge, skills and 

 experience needed in the performance of work. 

9.2 Internal Auditors are required to complete a Declaration of Interest every two years to 

ensure that any interests are known by management and safeguards can be put in 

place as required.  Additionally, they are required to declare any potential conflicts of 

interest at the start of an audit assignment. 

10. Quality assurance and improvement programme 

10.1 The Internal Audit Service will maintain a quality assurance and improvement 

programme that covers all aspects of the Internal Audit Service. The program will 

include an evaluation of the Internal Audit Service’s conformance with 

the Standards and an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the IIA’s Code of 

Ethics. The program will also assess the efficiency and effectiveness of the Internal 

Audit Service’s and identify opportunities for improvement. 

10.2 The Chief Internal Auditor will communicate to senior management and the Audit 

Committee on the Internal Audit Service’s quality assurance and improvement 

programme, including results of internal assessments (both ongoing and periodic) 

and external assessments conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 

independent assessor or assessment team from outside Bristol City Council. 

 

Page 117



____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
BCC Internal Audit Charter                                                                                                                                                                       11 
 

11. Review of the Internal Audit Charter 

11.1 In accordance with the PSIAS, the Internal Audit Charter is reviewed annually and 

presented to the Audit Committee for reconsideration and approval, as appropriate. 

 

Approval 

 

_______________    Date ______________ 

Chief Internal Auditor 

 

_______________    Date ______________ 

Audit Committee Chair 

 

_______________    Date _______________ 

Head of Paid Service 

Page 118



 

__________________________________________________________________________________
BCC Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23                                                                                                                                                          1 
 

 

 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY 2020 - 2023 

1.   Introduction: 

1.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Strategy is to enable the Internal Audit function 

(Internal Audit) to effectively prioritise its resources and focus its priorities on meeting 

the expectations of its stakeholders enhancing and protecting the Council’s values by 

providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight. 

1.2  This Strategy contains some improvements and initiatives that will enable Internal 

Audit to provide value-added services and proactive strategic advice to the 

organisation in addition to the effective and efficient delivery of the annual audit plan. 

1.3 This Strategy does not include fraud and corruption as there is a separate Counter 

Fraud and Anti-Corruption Strategy being developed. 

2. Context: 

2.1  The Internal Audit Charter sets out the purpose, authority and responsibilities of the 

Council’s Internal Audit team. This enables us to work independently ensuring that 

work is aligned to Council priorities and upholds and promotes the Council’s values. 

As the demands on the Council continue to increase despite the reduction in central 

government funding we will support the organisation in effectively managing these 

challenges by working proactively with the Mayor, Directors, Members and Business 

Partners, sharing data, knowledge and expertise to help improve outcomes for our 

residents. 

2.2 The strategy applies to Bristol City Council and its group of companies and any other 

partnership or commercial arrangements where the Council has control. The 

assumption is that the Council and its group of companies will continue to utilise the 

Bristol City Council Internal Audit Service. In other commercial arrangements, where 

the Council does not have full control, the Council and its partners will need to agree 

on the acceptable level of internal audit activity and the level of assurance required.  

2.3  The requirements for an Internal Audit Service in local government are detailed in the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2018, which states that a relevant body must 

‘undertake an adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of 

its systems of internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to 

internal control’. The standards for proper practices in relation to internal audit are 

laid down in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

2.4  The work of Internal Audit forms an essential part of the assurance framework in 

place which informs management when considering and compiling the Annual 

Governance Statement. The existence of Internal Audit, however, does not diminish 

Page 119



 

__________________________________________________________________________________
BCC Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23                                                                                                                                                          2 
 

the responsibility of management to establish systems of internal control to ensure 

that activities are conducted in a secure, efficient and well-ordered manner. 

3. Background: 

3.1  The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) define Internal Audit as: 

“... an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 

value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish 

its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 

the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” 

3.2  The Chief Audit Executive (Chief Internal Auditor) must deliver an annual internal 

audit opinion and report that can be used by the Council to inform its Annual 

Governance Statement (AGS). This opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy 

and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management 

and control. 

PSIASs require that Internal Audit must: 

o evaluate the design, implementation and effectiveness of the organisation’s 

objectives, programmes and activities; 

 

o evaluate the effectiveness and contribute to the improvement of risk 

management processes; and 

 

o assist the organisation in maintaining effective controls by evaluating their 

effectiveness and efficiency and by promoting continuous improvement. 

3.3 A key driver for this Strategy is the acknowledgement that the Council’s control 

environment continues to change as the Council seeks to create more alternative 

service delivery models and leveraging technology to improve public service delivery. 

The use of alternative service delivery models including Council owned companies 

has resulted in the Council delivering key services through contracts including 

operating systems, procedures and processes outside the Council’s direct control. It 

is therefore critical that the Council has a robust Internal Audit Strategy in place that 

demonstrates how Internal Audit can support the Council and its group of companies 

in achieving the Council’s key priorities by maintaining effective risk management, 

internal control and governance arrangements. 

3.4  Ultimately this Strategy will help Internal Audit to deliver a focussed assurance 

programme ensuring it remains proactive and forward looking. On implementation, 

the Strategy should help deliver a value adding assurance service to the Council by 

enhancing the arrangements for providing assurance to those charged with 

governance, the Audit Committee and management. 

4. Our Strategic Approach: 

4.1 Our Deliverables  

 We will: 

Page 120



 

__________________________________________________________________________________
BCC Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23                                                                                                                                                          3 
 

o Be ‘fit for purpose’ now and for the future with appropriate capacity and skills 

to provide services that will enable the delivery of the Council’s Corporate 

Strategy. 

o Deliver a robust assurance service that is aligned with the Council’s strategic 

priorities and the highest risks to help increase public confidence and trust in 

Bristol Council and its Group of Companies. The key audit areas are:   

Governance Risk Management 

Operational Processes Performance and Delivery 

Financial Systems Programmes and Change Management 

Grants Group of Companies 

Information Technology Advisory 

Consultancy  

  

o Work with senior management to put in place management assurance 

arrangements that enable them to proactively review, assess and design 

optimal control frameworks to manage operational and transactional controls. 

o Adopt audit policies, processes, procedures and systems that are enabling 

and dynamic to meet assurance needs of the business. 

o Implement new audit management software, to improve our efficiency and 

effectiveness in audit planning, testing, and reporting activities thereby 

enhancing the credibility, quality and consistency of internal audit processes.   

o Automate the process for following up and reporting the implementation of 

Agreed Management Actions which will simplify and speed the process as 

well as ensuring accountability, accuracy and consistency. 

o Increase the use of Data Analytics to improve our audit processes (scope and 

quality). 

o Deliver assurance maps for the Council and Bristol Holdings which identify 

the main sources and types of assurance that support the mitigation of the 

strategic risks. 

o Introduce new business assurance reporting arrangements based on the 

three lines of defence model. 

o Adopt a new client engagement model that ensures effective liaison and 

communication with key audit stakeholders. 

o Implement a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme providing 

assurance to stakeholders that Internal Audit complies with the PSIAS and 

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

Statement on the role of the head of internal audit in public sector 

organisations. 

 

4.2 Our Reporting 

We will: 

o Provide impactful reporting on audit findings and the implementation of 

Agreed Management Actions to the Audit Committee, Corporate Leadership 

Board (CLB) and management, consistent with agreed reporting protocols. 

o Revise our report templates to enhance the quality of audit deliverables. 

Page 121



 

__________________________________________________________________________________
BCC Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23                                                                                                                                                          4 
 

o Provide an annual opinion and report to the Audit Committee and CLB based 

on the agreed programme of audit work and other sources of assurance to 

support the preparation of the statutory AGS. 

o Report on our performance and expected deliverables to CLB and Audit 

Committee as part of performance management arrangements. 

o Request feedback on all audit work and undertake an annual survey with key 

stakeholders on our performance and report results and any action taken to 

the Audit Committee and CLB. 

 The annual survey with stakeholders will be undertaken in March so 

that the results can be reported as part of the annual opinion. 

 On-going survey following each audit will be issued to the Audit Client 

with each final report and its completion is a key part of the audit 

process. 

4.3 Our Resourcing  

 We will: 

o Collectively possess the knowledge, skills, experience and other 

competencies that are required to deliver the audit plan and promote agile 

working and living the Council’s values. 

o Appoint a strategic partner who will support our core delivery arrangements 

and facilitate the transfer of knowledge through joint audit projects as well as 

providing training to enhance our commercial and specialist skills; 

o Develop, nurture and sustain talent by supporting our staff’s continuing 

professional development and professional qualification training. 

o Build resilience within our Service by developing and implementing   

succession plans at all professional levels underpinned by the principle of 

growing our own through the apprenticeship and graduate trainee route.  

o Work with senior management to explore opportunities for seconding staff in 

and out of Internal Audit. 

o Explore and develop opportunities for wider and more flexible resourcing and 

intelligence sharing with other assurance providers. 

o Continue the co-sourcing arrangements for the delivery of IT audits and foster 

arrangements for knowledge sharing and transfer with the in-house internal 

audit team. 

o Effectively collaborate with External Auditors and other review bodies working 

with the Council and its group of companies, across the three lines of 

defence. 

o Explore opportunities for collaborative arrangements with other local authority 

Internal Audit teams to build resilience within our teams. 

o Participate in initiatives by professional bodies and other Audit Network 

Groups to share best practice across our teams. 

4.5 Profile 

We will: 

Page 122



 

__________________________________________________________________________________
BCC Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23                                                                                                                                                          5 
 

o Embody the expected Bristol City Council behaviours and values – ensuring 

we are dedicated, we are curious, we show respect, we take ownership, we 

are collaborative and we act in the best interests of Bristol, setting an 

example for others. 

o Ensure our work adds value by contributing to the vision and priorities of 

Bristol and focussing on areas of highest risk. 

o Be responsive to the needs of our stakeholders ensuring that outcomes from 

our work are shared promptly using the most appropriate channel. 

o Conform to the PSIAS Code of Ethics – Integrity, Objectivity, Confidentiality 

and Competency 

o Have flexibility to reprioritise and undertake work considered to be high risk at 

short notice 

o Effectively engage with all our key stakeholders and request regular feedback 

on our performance and engagement. 

o Be proactive in suggesting meaningful improvements and risk assurance. 

5.  Getting our message across 

At the draft report stage of an audit, it is the responsibility of the Senior Audit Client to 

promptly identify Agreed Management Actions, with a Responsible Officer and 

defined time frame for delivery. It will be the responsibility of management to ensure 

that all agreed actions arising from an audit report are implemented in accordance 

with the timetable they have given. Internal Audit will seek evidence on the progress 

of actions relating to key findings from the Audit Client against this timetable and 

report this to the CLB and Audit Committee. Where information is not provided within 

agreed timeframes reports will be issued without that information and the relevant 

senior managers will attend CLB and Audit Committee to provide further assurance. 

6.  Facilitating our work 

To enable us to deliver a value add service we will foster collaborative working 

arrangements with our audit clients underpinned by our new client engagement 

model. The engagement with the responsible senior managers is crucial at all stages 

of the audit cycle particularly around: 

o annual planning, 

o agreeing scope and terms of reference, 

o cooperation and availability throughout the audit fieldwork, 

o collaboration over the reporting and agreeing the necessary management 

actions, 

o implementing the agreed actions in line with the agreed time scales, 

o providing feedback on internal audit performance following completion of 

audits, and 

o prioritising audit engagement to enable timely completion of audit activities. 

8.  Managing our performance 

We will manage our performance consistent with the Council’s performance 

management framework. The following Key Performance Indicators will be monitored 

and reported on. 

Page 123



 

__________________________________________________________________________________
BCC Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23                                                                                                                                                          6 
 

 Performance Indicator Performance Target 

Effectiveness  
% of the audit plan achieved  
 

90% of the annual audit plan completed  

Efficiency  
% of audits completed within the agreed 
budget and timelines  
 

90% of all audits undertaken completed 
within agreed budget and timeline.  

Efficiency  
% of draft reports issued within of 10 
days from end of fieldwork  
 

90% of all draft reports issued.  

Efficiency  
% of final reports issued within 5 days 
following receipt of management 
responses  
 

95% of all final reports issued.  

Improvement  
% of agreed management actions 
implemented timely  
 

90% of all agreed management actions 
implemented within the agreed timeline.  

Value addition  
% of stakeholders satisfied with audit 
outcomes and value  
 

75% of surveyed stakeholder satisfied 
with audit performance and outcomes.  

 

9. Our risks 

 We have identified the following risks that may impact on the delivery of this Strategy 

which we will manage effectively consistent with the Councils’ risk management 

framework.  

No. Risk Description Risk Owner 

1. Failure to deliver the annual audit plan Deputy Chief internal 
Auditor 
 

2. Inability to cope with pace and change. Chief Internal Auditor 
 

3. Failure to attract, recruit and retain top talent Chief internal Auditor 
 

4. Failure to detect material weaknesses and 
problems 

Deputy Chief internal 
Auditor 
 

5. Non-compliance with professional standards  Chief internal Auditor  
 

6. Loss of reputation Chief Internal Auditor 
 

 

10. Assurance Levels 

 The system of internal control will be assessed and given a level of assurance. The 

four levels of assurance will be as follows: 

Page 124



 

__________________________________________________________________________________
BCC Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23                                                                                                                                                          7 
 

Assurance Level Generic Description 

 
Substantial 
 

There are sound risk management, 
internal control and governance 
processes which are designed to achieve 
the service objectives, with key controls 
being consistently applied. 
 

 
 
Reasonable 

Whilst there is basically sound risk 
management, internal control and 
governance processes, there are some 
weaknesses which may put service 
objectives at risk. 
 

Limited  There are weaknesses in the risk 
management, internal control and 
governance processes; putting service 
objectives at risk. 
 

No The risk management, internal control 
and governance processes are generally 
poor and as such service objectives are 
at significant risk. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



Audit Committee 

 .

Audit Committee
25th November 2019

Report of: Chief Internal Auditor

Title: Internal Audit Quality Assurance Improvement Programme

Ward: N/A

Officer Presenting Report: Simba Muzarurwi – Chief Internal Auditor

Contact Telephone Number: 07768476966

Recommendation

The Audit Committee to approve the Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP).

Summary

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), Internal Audit is required to 
maintain a QAIP and report against it in its Annual Report to the Committee.

This QAIP is presented to the Audit Committee for consideration and approval, as required by the PSIAS.

Significant Matters Arising:

- The outlining of the internal and external quality assurance mechanisms for the Internal Audit service.

- The QAIP which is Appendix 1 to this report includes the update on the implementation of 
recommendations arising from the Peer Review of the Internal Audit Service undertaken in February 
2018 and further identifies new improvement actions required to enhance the delivery of internal audit 
services in the Council.

Page 126

Agenda Item 14



Audit Committee 

1. Policy
The PSIAS require the Internal Audit service within the organisation to set out its quality 
assurance arrangements in the form of a QAIP. The monitoring of performance against the 
QAIP must be assessed and reported to the Audit Committee on an annual basis.

2. Consultation

Internal – CLB including S151 Officer, Cabinet Member for Governance, Resources and Finance.

External – N/A

3. Context

3.1 The PSIAS sets out the requirement for a QAIP:

“The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and improvement 
programme that covers all aspects of internal audit activity which must include both internal 
and external assessments.”

3.2 The QAIP sets out how this process will work. Reporting against the QAIP will be included in the 
Annual Internal Audit report.

3.3 The Audit Committee last approved the QAIP in November 2018.

3.4 Another annual review of the QAIP has been completed which included the assessment on the 
progress being made by Internal Audit to implement the recommendations arising from the 
Peer Review in February 2018. The update on the actions that remain outstanding and any new 
actions arising from this review are covered in Appendix 1.

4. Proposal

4.1 Consistent with the PSIAS, the Audit Committee considers and approves the updated Internal 
Audit QAIP.

5. Other Options Considered – N/A

6. Risk Assessment

The work of Internal Audit minimises the risk of failures in the Council’s internal control, risk 
management and governance arrangements, reduces fraud and other losses and increases the 
potential for prevention and detection of such issues.  The PSIAS provide for an effective 
independent and objective Internal Audit Service, ensuring a good standard of service to the 
organisation, whilst at the same time providing the Internal Audit Service with wider support in 
terms of maintaining its independence and freedom from influence.

Public Sector Equality Duties

No Equality Impact anticipated from this report.

Page 127



Audit Committee 

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal – N/A
Financial – N/A
Land – N/A
Personnel – N/A

Appendices:
Appendix A – Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Page 128



     
 
  25th November 2019 
   

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Internal Audit 

Quality Assurance and 

Improvement Programme 

(QAIP) 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 129



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

 

 
1 

 
Introduction  

1 

 
2 

 
Internal Assessments 

2 

 
3 

 
External Assessments 

3 

 
4 

 
Review of the QAIP 

3 

 
Appendix A –Peer Review Implementation Update 5 

 
Appendix B – QAIP Action Plan 2019/20 8 

 
 

Page 130



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 1 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Internal Audit’s Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) is 
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the various stakeholders of the 
service that Internal Audit: 
 
 Performs its work in accordance with its Charter, which is consistent with 

the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA 
Statement on the role of the head of internal audit; 
 

 Operates in an effective and efficient manner; and 
 
 Is perceived by stakeholders as adding value and continually improving its 

operations. 
 

1.2 Internal Audit’s QAIP covers all aspects of Internal Audit activity in 
accordance with the PSIAS Standard 1300 (Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme), including: 
 
 Monitoring the Internal Audit activity to ensure it operates in an effective 

and efficient manner (1300); 
 

 Ensuring compliance with the PSIAS’ Definition of Internal Auditing and 
Code of Ethics (1300); 

 
 Helping the Internal Audit activity add value and improve organisational 

operations (1300); 
 
 Undertaking both periodic and on-going internal assessments (1311); and 
 
 Commissioning an external assessment to the Audit Committee at least 

once every five years, the results of which are communicated to the Audit 
Committee (1312 and 1320). 

 
1.3 The Chief Internal Auditor is ultimately responsible for the QAIP, which covers 

all types of Internal Audit activities, including consulting. 

Page 131



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 2 

 

2 Internal Assessments  

2.1 In accordance with the PSIAS Standard, internal assessments are 
undertaken through both on-going and periodic reviews. 
 

On-going Reviews 
 

2.2 Continual assessments of quality are undertaken via: 
 

 Management supervision of all engagements; 
 

 Structured documented review of working papers and draft reports by 
Internal Audit management; 

 
 Feedback from audit clients obtained through post audit 

questionnaires at the closure of each engagement;  
 

 Monitoring of internal performance targets and annual reporting to the 
Audit Committee; and 

 
 Review and approval of complex, and high risk outputs including all 

limited and no assurance opinions by the Chief Internal Auditor. 
 

Periodic Reviews 

 
2.3 The Internal Audit Service operates to a Charter that mandates compliance 

with relevant professional standards and specifically the definition of Internal 
Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the PSIAS which is regularly reviewed. 
 

2.4 Periodic assessments are designed to evaluate conformance with these 
standards and are conducted via: 
 

 Quarterly Progress Reports to the Audit Committee which includes 
progress against the annual plan, reports issued during the period 
including details of the opinion and summaries of key issues and 
outcomes from the work undertaken in the period; 
 

 Annual Satisfaction Surveys to key stakeholders; 
 

 Annual self-assessment of conformance with PSIAS; 
 

 Annual review of compliance against the requirements of the QAIP, 
the results of which are reported to senior management and the Audit 
Committee; 

 
 Feedback from the Section 151 Officer and Chair of the Audit 

Page 132



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 3 

Committee to inform the annual appraisal of the Chief Internal Auditor 
in accordance with Standard 1100;  

 
 At least annual performance reviews for each Internal Auditor; and 

 
 Regular review of individual auditors’ compliance with their continuous 

professional development requirements.  
 

2.5 Significant areas of non-compliance with PSIAS identified through internal 
assessment will be reported in the Internal Audit Annual Report and used to 
inform the Annual Governance Statement. 
 

2.6 Results of internal assessments will be reported to the Audit Committee at 
least annually. The Chief Internal Auditor will implement appropriate follow-up 
to any identified actions to ensure continual improvement of the service. 
 

2.7 The Chief Internal Auditor will also periodically identify improvement 
requirements, for example in respect of audit planning, assurance mapping, 
audit processes, counter fraud, skills development for the team, audit profile 
and performance.  
 

3 External Assessments 

3.1 Consistent with the PSIAS, an external assessment occurs at least once 
every five years to ensure continued application of professional standards. 
The appointment of the External Assessor and scope of the External 
Assessment for the external assessment is approved by the Audit Committee  
 

3.2 The Peer Review of the service was completed in February 2018 which 
expressed an opinion about Internal Audit’s conformance with the Standards, 
the Definition of Internal Audit and Code of Ethics including recommendations 
for improvement.   

 
3.3 The methodology and outcomes from the external assessment were initially 

reported to the Audit Committee in March 2018 followed by another report 
outlining progress against the recommendations from the Peer Review in 
respect of any areas of either partial or non-conformity with the PSIAS in 
September 2018.  
 

3.4 A review on the progress being made in addressing the actions arising from 
the Peer Review has been completed and Appendix A provides an update on 
the recommendations that have not been fully implemented and therefore 
remain open. 

 

4 Review of the QAIP 
 

4.1 The QAIP is reviewed at least on an annual basis. The 2019/20 review has 

Page 133



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 4 

identified a number of actions needed to enhance our quality assurance and 
improvement programme. These actions are reflected in Appendix B. 

   

Page 134



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 5 

Peer Review Report Observations  Recommendations Update –November 2019 

A draft Training Strategy for the 
Finance Service has been produced 
which focusses on professional 
qualifications only.  A skills review 
within Internal Audit is to be 
undertaken by the Chief Internal 
Auditor as part of the Improvement 
Plan to ensure the service has the 
correct skills, knowledge and 
competence to perform its 
responsibilities. 

Recommendation 6: 
As outlined in the Improvement 
Plan, the skills review should be 
undertaken by the Chief Internal 
Auditor. 

Status:  In Progress 
 
Comment: 
 
A preliminary review was 
completed which identified some 
skills gap and the improvement 
plan to address the gaps will be 
implemented as part of the 
Internal Audit Strategy 2020-23.  
 

All auditors do not currently have 
sufficient knowledge of computer 
assisted audit techniques.  This has 
arisen as experienced staff have left 
the services.   

Recommendation 7: 
Identified as part of self-
assessment.  Training in this area 
is planned, and should be rolled 
out as appropriate. 
 

Status:  In Progress 
 
Comment: 
 
Computer assisted audit 
techniques (CAAT) are used within 
the team albeit with some 
imitations. There is new impetus in 
the new Internal Audit Strategy to 
enhance the use of data analytics 
in the audit process. All internal 
audit team members will receive 
training on the use of CAATs by 31 
March 2020.  
 

Professionally qualified staff are 
responsible for meeting their own 
professional body requirements.   A 
Training Strategy for the team is not 
in place. 

Recommendation 9: 
Following the outcome of the 
Skills Review and the 
establishment of performance 
targets, a training strategy should 
be formulated to guide the future 
development of the team. 

Status:  In Progress 
 
Comment: 
 
A training strategy was completed 
previously but now needs a further 
review given the significant 
turnover within the team in the 
past few months. A new training 
strategy which is aligned to the 
Internal Audit Strategy will be 
finalised as part of 2020/21 annual 
planning. 
 
 

The self-assessment identified a 
non-conformance in respect of the 

Recommendation 12: 
Within the Improvement Plan 

Status:  In Progress 
 

Page 135



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 6 

risk based plan taking into 
consideration the Council’s 
assurance framework.  It is 
acknowledged that a number of 
attempts have been made to 
develop an assurance framework for 
the Council but this has not been 
achieved. 
 
The PSIAS requires that an 
assurance mapping exercise is 
undertaken as part of identifying 
and determining the approach to 
using other sources of assurance.    
 

there is an agreed action to 
progress assurance mapping for 
the Council. 
 
The approach to using other 
sources of assurance and any 
work that may be required to 
place reliance upon those sources 
should be further developed as 
part of the assurance mapping 
exercise. 

Comment: 
 
Assurance mapping was piloted 
during 2018/19 and in early 
2019/20.  However, the approach 
trialled did not fully engage 
management and did not deliverer 
the expected outcomes. Assurance 
mapping training is being arranged 
for the audit team and a high level 
assurance mapping exercise will be 
completed as part of 2020/21 
annual planning. 

Whilst procedures were agreed to 
guide the internal audit activity, 
these were not fully documented in 
the form of an audit manual and/or 
use of an electronic management 
system.  This has led to variations in 
application and thus inconsistencies 
in areas such as working papers and 
file storage.  
 

Recommendation 13: 
Documented procedures should 
be developed to guide staff in 
performing their duties in a 
manner that conforms to the 
PSIAS.  
 
 

Status:  In Progress 
 
Comment: 
 
A documented process and 
documentation standards have 
been agreed and is being rolled out 
to the team. The long term 
solution is the implementation of 
an audit management software 
which will ensure compliance with 
agreed procedures and 
documentary standards as well as 
provide quality review procedures.  
It is intended that such software 
will be implemented during 
2020/21. 
 

From a review of four audit 
assignments, there was insufficient 
detail within the working papers of 
three assignments to fully 
demonstrate that conclusions within 
the reports had been based on 
sufficient analysis and evaluation.   

Recommendation 18: 
Consistent completion of the 
working papers, particularly the 
RCES, should be undertaken to 
ensure that all conclusions within 
the audit reports are adequately 
supported by documented 
testing. 
 

Status:  In Progress  
 
Comment: 
 
The quality assurance 
arrangements have been improved 
and the implementation of an 
appropriate audit management 
software will further enhance 
these arrangements. 
 

The working paper which was in Recommendation 22: Status:  Complete 

Page 136



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 7 

place to demonstrate the 
supervision and review of an audit 
engagement by an Audit Manager 
was not always completed.  In 
addition, the checklist of items that 
should be checked/reviewed as part 
of the quality monitoring was no 
longer in use. 

As above, the approach to 
undertaking and document the 
quality review by the Audit 
Manager should be evaluated to 
ensure it meets the requirements 
of the PSIAS.  If necessary, the 
checklist of requirements should 
be reintroduced. 

 
 

   
   
   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 137



  
  Internal Audit Services  
 
Internal Audit QAIP  25th November 2019 
 

 

Page 8 

Appendix B 

 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme Action Plan 2019/20  

 

QAIP Element 

 

Action Action Owner 

Processes 
 

Implement an internal audit 
management software and 
embed the use of data analytics 
in the audit process. 

Chief internal Auditor 
 

Completion Date 
31 December 2020 
 

Professional 
proficiency 
 

Complete the skills review and 
set up long term arrangements 
for IT assurance. 

Chief internal Auditor 
 

Completion Date 
31 March 2020 
 

Communication results 
 

Embed the new assurance 
opinions and the process for 
agreeing management actions   
 

Deputy Chief internal 
Auditor 
 

Completion Date 
31 March 2020 
 

Follow ups  Automating the process for 
monitoring and reporting on the 
implementation of agreed 
management actions 
 

Chief Internal Auditor 
 

Completion Date 
31 December 2020 
 

Assurance mapping 
 

Undertake an assurance mapping 
exercise as part of annual 
planning.  

Deputy Chief Internal 
Auditor 
 

Completion Date 
31 March 2020 
 

 

Page 138



Report for Audit Committee

Audit Committee
25th November 2019

Report of: Chief Internal Auditor

Title: Internal Audit Activity Report for Period 1st April 2019 to 31st October 2019

Ward: N/A

Officer Presenting Report: Simba Muzarurwi, Chief Internal Auditor

Recommendation
The Audit Committee considers the work of the Internal Audit Team (IA), during the period of 1st April to 
31st October 2019, and the results thereof and agrees to the proposed amendments to the 2019/20 
Internal Audit Plan.

Summary
This Activity Report provides the Committee with an accumulative summary view of the work 
undertaken by Internal Audit in the period of 1st April to 31st October 2019, together with the resulting 
conclusions, where appropriate.  Additionally, the report provides the Committee with oversight of grant 
certification work completed, update on the implementation of agreed IA recommendations during the 
period under review and individual summaries for the audit reviews that have concluded with a ‘Limited’ 
level of assurance.  This is the third planned activity report for the municipal year of 2019/20.

The significant issues in the report are:
- Current management efforts to strengthen the Council’s risk and control environment need to be 
maintained and prioritised as only 40% of reviews completed so far have a ‘reasonable’ or better 
assurance opinion. 
- The ability to attract and retain top talent is a key risk for IA as the Service continues to face staffing 
challenges as three colleagues have resigned in the last three months.  
- 54% of recommendations followed up had been fully implemented against a target of 75% whilst 30% 
were partially implemented.

It is anticipated that the new audit client engagement model that increases engagement between 
Internal Audit and the business together with the revised process for agreeing management actions will 
help to improve the current control and risk position. We are also exploring options on improving the 
processes for following up, monitoring and reporting the implementation of agreed recommendations.

Page 139

Agenda Item 15



Report for Audit Committee

Policy

1. Audit Committee Terms of Reference.

Consultation

2. Internal - None
3. External - None

Context

4. This is the third ‘in year’ Internal Audit (IA) Activity report to the Audit Committee marking the 
half-way point in the working year.  The Activity reports are designed to provide the Committee 
with a summary view of the work completed by the Service throughout the year to date and the 
results of that work.  The Activity reports are provided to:

 Provide an overview of the work of Internal Audit to date.

 Present the assurance work completed by the Internal Audit team during the period, 
together with the conclusions drawn from that work. 

 Update the Committee on the Internal Audit recommendations implementation rate.

 Spotlight audit review outcomes, both positive and negative, to management and the 
Audit Committee for their consideration and action, where appropriate.

The Activity Report covering the period 1st April 2019 to 31st October 2019 can be found at 
Appendix (A). 

Proposal

5. The Audit Committee note the report.

Other Options Considered

6. N/A

Risk Assessment

7. The work of Internal Audit minimises the risk of failures in the Council’s internal control, risk 
management and governance arrangements, reduces fraud and other losses and increases the 
potential for prevention and detection of such issues.  Areas of significant risk are detailed in the 
report.

Public Sector Equality Duties

8 No equality impact assessment is required for this report.  The matters concern internal 
control, governance and risk management arrangements only.

Page 140



Report for Audit Committee

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal – Not sought

Financial – None arising from this report.

Land/Property – Not applicable

Human Resources – Not applicable

Appendices:
Appendix A – Internal Audit Activity Report – Period 1st April 2019 to 31st October 2019

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:

Various Audit Files

Page 141



1 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT HALF-YEAR ACTIVITY REPORT 

FOR THE PERIOD OF  

 April to October 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



2 
 

 

1.1 The role of the Internal Audit function is to provide Members and Management with 

independent assurance that the control, risk and governance framework in place within the 

Council is effective and supports the Council in the achievement of its objectives. The work 

of the Internal Audit team should be targeted towards those areas within the Council that 

are most at risk of impacting on the Council’s ability to achieve its objectives. In addition, the 

team provide a Counter Fraud Service to the Council to enhance arrangements for the 

prevention, detection and investigation of fraud. 

1.2 Upon completion of an audit, an assurance opinion is given on the soundness of the controls 

in place.  The results of the entire programme of work are then summarised in an opinion in 

the Annual Internal Audit Report on the effectiveness of internal control within the 

organisation. 

1.3 This half–year activity report provides Members of the Audit Committee and Management 

with an update on the progress in delivering the approved 2019/20 Audit Plan. This update 

covers the period of 1st April to 31st October 2019, building on the information which was 

provided to the Committee at its meeting in September 2019, and thereby allowing the 

Committee to track the progress of Internal Audit work through the year.   

1.4 Additionally, the report provides an update on any proposed changes to the Audit Plan as 

well as updates in the following areas: 

 Outcomes from internal audit activities including summaries of completed audit 

reviews where the level of assurance was concluded as ‘Limited’; 

 Internal Audit Resources, as required by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

(PSIAS); 

 Grant certification; 

 Implementation of agreed audit recommendations and agreed management actions 

going forward. 

1.5 The summary of internal audit activities completed or in progress in the period 1st April to 

31st October 2019, is provided at Appendix A to this report. 

 

 Management efforts to strengthen the Council’s risk and control environment need to 

be maintained and prioritised as only 40% of reviews completed so far have a  

‘reasonable’ or better assurance opinion; 

 The new audit client engagement model that increases engagement between Internal 

Audit and Management was launched at the beginning of this month together with the 

introduction of the revised audit opinions and new reporting format. 

 The Internal Audit Service continue to face staffing challenges as three colleagues have 

resigned in the last three months and arrangements are now in place to use interim 

resources to help deliver the 2019/20 Audit Plan. In addition, the Audit Plan is regularly 

1. Introduction 

2. Key Messages 

Page 143



3 
 

reviewed to reflect the fast changing operating environment as well as ensuring that 

there are sufficient and appropriate resources to  deliver the assurance requirements of 

the Council. 

 54% of recommendations followed up had been fully implemented against a target of 

75% whilst 30% were partially implemented. Currently there are limitations in the 

capacity to complete follow up work due to resourcing challenges cited above; 

 16 grants with a total value of £16.3m certified to date; 

 The Half Year Fraud Activity Update is a separate report. 

 

 3.1 Annual Risk Based Assurance Plan Status: 
 

The audit work brought forward from 2018/19 is now predominantly complete, with only a small number of 
reviews to be finalised. However, the budget allocated for this work was significantly overspend which has 
impacted on the current delivery position of the 2019/20 Audit Plan. 
 
The work on the 2019/20 Audit Plan is now progressing, be it less expediently than was originally planned. The 
planned assurance coverage to draft report stage is currently at 28%, against a target of 35%.  This reduced 
coverage is reflective of the additional time taken to complete the carried forward reviews and the reduction 
in audit resources. The matter of resources is discussed further in section 3.5 below. 
 
The summary of the planned work either completed or in progress for the period 1st April to the 31st October 
2019 is provided at Appendix A together with the level of assurance concluded from each review. Consistent 
with the Audit Committee reporting protocol, summaries of all reviews that had a ‘No’ or ‘Limited’ assurance 
opinion since the last Audit Committee meeting are provided at Appendix B. These summaries relate to: 

 Contract Monitoring – Continual Audit Testing 
 Procurement ‘Off-Contract’ Spend 
 Supplier Checks and Supplier Resilience 

 
As reflected in Appendix A, 13 out of the 21 audits completed in the period, had a ‘Limited’ assurance opinion. 
There is need to increase the focus and engagement in improving the risk and control environment as well as 
embedding the arrangements for monitoring control effectiveness as part of business and performance 
management. Whilst the responsibility for maintaining an effective control environment rests with 
management, Internal Audit are actively exploring ways of supporting management particularly in the 
monitoring and reporting of the progress in implementing agreed management actions and establishing 
appropriate management assurance reporting arrangements. These initiatives are articulated in the Internal 
Audit Strategy which is a separate Agenda item for this meeting. 
 
By necessity, the Audit Plan must be flexible to ensure it remains relevant to risks facing the Council 
throughout the year.  Consequently, the Audit Plan has been further reviewed to take into account further 
changes in the Council’s environment and discussions with management.  Details of the proposed changes 
together with the reasons for the proposals are provided in table (1) below.  
 

 
 

 

 

3. Updates 

Page 144



4 
 

Table 1 – Proposed Amendments to the 2019/20 Audit Plan 

No. Reasonable 
Assurance 

Area 

Assignment Commentary 

1 Risk 
Management 

CRR 5-  Business Continuity 
Planning 

This review is being deferred to Q1 2020/21 in 
order to allow time for the corporate approach 
to embed and the new management to 
accumulate. 
 

2 Financial 
Controls 

Care Debt Deferred to 2020/21 – A revised debt recovery 
policy is currently being rolled out. 
 

3 Commissioning 
and 
Procurement 

CRR  - Procurement and contract 
management compliance 

On hold for 2019/20, pending the revised 
procurement approach. 

4 Information 
Security/ 

 ICT  

Information Security Practice Not required as review being undertaken 
externally. 

5 Information 
Security/ 

 ICT  

New Housing IT System - security 
and controls. 

Delayed to 2020/21 as update to correct known 
issues is currently delayed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 Grant Certification: 

To date, the team has audited and certified 16 grant claims to the value of approximately £16.2m. Work is 

progressing on further grants into quarter three. 

3.3 Resources: 

Both the Assurance and Counter-Fraud teams’ continue to carry vacancies, with further vacancies arising 

due to the resignation of three other members of staff during the past few months.  Recruitment to one 

vacant post on the Counter-fraud team has been successful, however as the appointment was internal the 

issue with capacity remains, further recruitment will take place during the remainder of the year. 

 As discussed in the September Activity Report, the vacancies within the Assurance team are currently 

being held open while a long term solution is being developed as part of the Internal Audit Strategy 2020-

23. In the meantime, additional temporary resources have been engaged to increase capacity in the short 

term, ensuring the appropriate level of audit coverage can be achieved in order to provide the annual 

opinion. The recent resignation of three members of staff and the recruitment challenges we face 

underline the risk the team has of attracting and retaining top talent. A holistic approach to service 

provision and succession planning is required to mitigate against associated impacts. 

 

Page 145



5 
 

 

3.4  Recommendation Implementation: 

While the ultimate responsibility for the implementation of agreed management actions lies with 

management, it is incumbent on Internal Audit to facilitate the improvements by ensuring maximum 

engagement with the client during the audit process and supporting the resolution of matters arising 

where appropriate. 

A number of follow up audits have been completed during the period and an analysis of the rate of 

implementation of recommendations is summarised in table (2) below. As reflected in table 2 below, 

for the 6 follow up audits concluded in this period, 54% of the audit recommendations were fully 

implemented whilst 30% were partially implemented against a target of 75% implementation rate at 

the point of review. Please see section ‘C’ on Appendix A for further details. 

Internal Audit can supply further details to Members on any of the reports detailed in table (2) 

below: 

Table 2 - Summary of Implementation of Internal Audit Recommendations: 

Follow Up Review: Date of 
Org. 

Report 

Total 
Recs: 

Implemented 
or Superseded 

Partially 
Implemented 

Not 
Implemented 

Total: 

H M H M H M  

Security Services 
Cash -in- Transit 
(Further follow-up) 

30/06/17
17 

4  2    2 4 

Sale of Council 
Assets ( follow-up) 

07/09/17 5  2  3   5 

Contract 
Management: 
Council Wide 

31/03/19 5  2 3    5 

Carbon Reduction 
Commitment 

15/10/18 3  2  1   3 

Council Tax Income 
Collection 

04/02/19 2 1 1     2 

Officer Schemes of 
Delegation 

10/04/19 7 3 1  1  2 7 

Totals:  26 4 
(15%) 

10 
(39%) 

 

3 
(12%) 

 

5 
(19%) 

0 
 

4  
(15%) 

 

26 

 

 

Page 146



Outcome

D
ir

e
ct

o
ra

te

G
o

v,
 R

is
k 

o
r 

In
te

rn
al

 

C
o

n
tr

o
l A

re
a

N
am

e
 o

f 

R
e

vi
ew

In
it

ia
l 

P
la

n
n

in
g

T
O

R

In
 

P
ro

g/
O

n
go

in
g

D
ra

ft
 R

ep
o

rt

 C
o

m
p

le
te

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 

Le
ve

l

Corporate Governance Business Planning and Service Planning  Reasonable

People Financial Controls Care Act - Deferred Payments  Reasonable

People Financial Controls Public Health Ring-Fenced Grant  Reasonable

Growth and Regeneration Commissioning and Procurement Housing Options - payments to voluntary groups  Reasonable

Growth and Regeneration Projects and Programmes Embedded Assurance for Major Projects - Colston Hall (Governance with regard to initial 

set-up)

 Reasonable

Corporate Fraud Strategy Bribery & Corruption  Reasonable

Corporate Risk Management Risk Management  Reasonable

Resources Financial Controls Financial Interfaces  Limited

Resources Financial Controls Financial Interfaces/ Civica ongoing issues  Limited

Resources Commissioning and Procurement Effectiveness of New Procurement Arrangements  Limited

People VFM/Targeted Savings Identification Direct Payments - Full Study to include systems, processes and targeted testing.  Limited

Corporate Information Security/ICT Traffic Control Services Cloud/Resiliance (Operations Centre)  Limited

Resources Information Security/ICT IT Project Management Approach (design and security)  Limited

People Financial Controls Apprentice Levy Account  Limited

People Projects and Programmes Strengthening Families Transfprmation (Phase II)  Limited

Resources Commissioning and Procurement Contract Monitoring: Continual Audit Testing  Limited

Corporate Information Security/ICT Data Sharing with Partners (GDPR)  Limited

Corporate HR and Asset Management Individual Performance Management  N/A

Growth and Regeneration Projects and Programmes New Housing System Implementation  N/A

People Financial Governance and Fraud 

Awareness

Schools Financial Governance and Fraud Awareness Study  N/A

Corporate Information Security/ICT E-Procurement system Security 

Resources Commissioning and Procurement Access rights to information - Partnerships/Contracts (GDPR) 

Corporate Governance Departmental Financial Governance and Control  Consultancy

Growth and Regeneration Financial Controls Financial Review of Park Cafes  Reasonable

Resources Commissioning and Procurement Procurement -  “off contract” spend.

 Limited

Resources Financial Controls

Preparations for Making Tax Digital - Urgent Issues Notice  Limited

Resources Commissioning and Procurement

Supplier Checks and Supplier Resilience  Limited

Corporate Governance Annual Governance Statement 2018 19  N/A

People VFM SEND – case work processing 

Growth and Regeneration Financial Controls Housing Stock - Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery 

Growth and Regeneration HR and Asset Management Housing Stock Management - Response Repairs 

Growth and Regeneration Risk Management Homelessness 

Resources Financial Controls Preparations for Making Tax Digital 

A. Risk Based Assurance Plan including work carried forward from 2018/19, planned work for 2019/20  and 2019/20 Proactive Fraud Work: 

Audit Plan Stage of Review

Summary provided to Audit Committee at November 2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at 

September 2019 meeting

Summary of Findings:

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at 

September 2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at 

September 2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at July 2019 

meeting

Consultancy

2018/19 PLANNED ASSURANCE WORK CARRIED FORWARD:

2019/20 PLANNED ASSURANCE WORK STATUS:

Summary provided to Audit Committee at November 2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at 

September 2019 meeting

Consultancy

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at November 

2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at 

September 2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at 

September 2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at 

September 2019 meeting

Summary of matters arising provided to Audit Committee at July 2019 

meeting

A plan for Making Tax Digital was not in place. Audit review halted and 

Urgent Issues note provided.

5. Status of Internal Audit Work for the Period of: (1st April to 31st  October 2019) 

P
age 147



Corporate Governance RIPA Arrangements 

Resources Financial Controls VAT Arrangements 

Corporate Information Security/  ICT Subject Access Requests 

People Information Security/ Compliance with NHS Data Security and Protection (DSP) Toolkit 

Corporate Financial Controls Capital Programme Financial Monitoring / delivery 

People Projects & Programmes Strengthening Families programme - Closure Phase 

People Governance  OFSTED Improvement Actions - monitoring and review. 

Corporate Financial Controls Grant Funding Exit Strategies 

Growth and Regeneration Financial Controls Bristol Impact Fund 

Resources Financial Controls IR35 

Resources Financial Controls Litigation settlements 

Corporate HR and Asset Management Security of Heritage Assets 

Corporate Commissioning and Procurement Review of Specific Contracts 

2019/20 PLANNED COUNTER FRAUD WORK  STATUS:
Corporate Fraud Strategy CIPFA Annual Fraud Survey 

Corporate Fraud Strategy Transparency Reporting Fraud 

People Fraud Prevention Schools Fraud Healthcheck 

Growth and Regeneration Fraud Prevention Key Amnesty 

Corporate Fraud Detection NFI HMRC Pilot 

Corporate Fraud Strategy Bribery & Corruption Risk Register 

Growth and Regeneration Fraud Prevention Publicity and Fraud Awareness raising 

Corporate Fraud Prevention E Learning management & updates 

All directorates Fraud Prevention Fraud awareness training 

People Fraud Prevention Pupil tracking requests 

Corporate Fraud Prevention Social Housing Gateway Review (allocations) 

Corporate Fraud Prevention Data Analytics/ Data Hub 

People Fraud - Proactive Detection Exercises Direct Payts to CTax- link to hub. 

Growth and Regeneration Fraud Prevention Empty Homes – link to hub 

Corporate Fraud Detection NFI Output 

Fraud Detection NFI CTax SPD 

Corporate Fraud Prevention Procurement Analytical Review 

Resources Fraud Detection Fiscal Fraud Module - Analytics 

People Fraud - Proactive Detection Exercises Direct Payments Analytics 

Growth and Regeneration Fraud - Proactive Detection Exercises Tenancy Fraud - Multi-Storey Block 

Corporate Fraud Strategy Fraud Policy Review 

Resources Fraud - Proactive Detection Exercises Enterprise pool cars, Mileage - Fraud and  VfM review 

Growth and Regeneration Fraud Detection Tenancy Fraud - casework 

Corporate Fraud Detection Gain 

Growth and Regeneration Fraud - Proactive Detection Exercises Right to Buy Checks 

Corporate Fraud Detection Fraud hotline management 

Resources Fraud Investigation Benefit Fraud Casework (DWP) 

Resources Fraud Detection CTR Casework 

Corporate Whistleblowing 

Growth and Regeneration Fraud Investigation Void Garages - TM 

Resources Fraud Investigation NNDR - Income maximisation 

Directorate Gov, Risk or Internal Control Area

Initial 

Planning TO
R

 (
W

h
er

e 

A
p

p
.)

In
 P

ro
g/

O
n

go
in

g

 C
o

m
p

le
te

Value of Grant 

Claim

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification NTS Funding for Regional Intelligence Function SWERCOTS  81,000£                  

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification NTS Funding for Regional Intelligence Team SWERCOTS  300,767£                

People Grant Certification Future Bright (Previously ESIP)  394,326£                

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification (LEP) (LGF AK) Local Sustainable Transport Package 201718  1,528,942£            

Growth and Regeneration Audit and Certification Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC)  Not a grant

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification WECA Highways and Transport Capital Grant   £            6,527,000 

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification A4-A4174 Challenge fund   £            2,455,136 

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification Pothole Action Grant   £               357,236 

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification Temple Meads Masterplan Feas Study (FEAS F)   £            2,000,000 

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification Lockleaze Housing (FEAS J) - FINAL CLAIM   £                 67,877 

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification DfT Additional Highways   £            1,725,000 

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification BSOG   £               448,348 

Growth and Regeneration Grant Certification WECA Hengrove Full Business Case (FEAS M)   £               400,000 

Total Grants Certified 16,285,631£          

B. Certifications

P
age 148



Total

Directorate Gov, Risk or Internal Control Area Name of Review No. of Recs. Status H M H M H M

Growth and Regeneration HR and Asset Management Sale of Council Assets (further follow-up) 5 Complete 2 3 5

Resources Commissioning and Procurement Contract Management: Council Wide 5 Complete 2 3 5

Growth and 

Regeneration/Resources

Financial Governance Carbon Reduction Commitment 

3 Complete 2 1 3

Resources Financial Governance Security Services Cash -in- Transit (Further follow-up) 4 Complete 2 2 4

Corporate Governance Officer Schemes of Delegation 7 Complete 3 1 1 2 7

Resources Financial Governance Council Tax Income Collection 2 Complete 1 1 2

Total Recommendations followed up or in progress 26 4 10 3 5 0 4 26

Not Implemented

C. Recommendations Follow Up Work Completed:

Implemented: Partially Implemented

P
age 149



 

1 
 

APPENDIX B - SUMMARIES OF COMPLETED AUDITS THAT HAVE CONCLUDED A ‘LIMITED’ 
LEVEL OF ASSURANCE: 

 
C. Resources 

 
C1. Contract Monitoring – Continual Audit Testing 

 
Internal Audit has completed a review of contract monitoring arrangements of 28 contracts 

across varied areas within Bristol City Council.  Specifically, the audit approach included: 

 Selection of a sample of contracts across the Council 

 Review of assignment of contract managers and recording on 'ProContract' 

 Review of a sample of contracts to ensure monitoring processes were established 

and operating. 

 
Based on the completion of the fieldwork, an opinion of ‘Limited’ assurance was assigned. 
The key findings from the review were as follows: 
 

 There is no corporate contract management model for contract managers to follow. 
 Internal Audit identified that, for the sample of contracts tested: 

- Only 39% (11/28) of the contracts had measurable Key Performance 
Indicators 

- Progress reports were produced  for  only 57% (16/28) of the contracts 
- Only 18% (5/28) of the contractors had had a financial review during the 

contract period; 
 The current contract monitoring module is not considered fit for purpose by contract 

managers, but there is no official instruction that it should not be used; 
 Key Performance Indicators are not always available to contract managers as they 

had not been specified at the procurement stage, or included in the contract; 
 Contract Managers do not always have access to a signed contract. 

 
All recommendations have been provided to management, and agreement has been 
obtained together with appropriate implementation time scales. 

 
 
 

 

Page 150



 

2 
 

C2.  Supplier Checks and Supplier Resilience 
 
An internal audit review has been undertaken to provide an independent opinion on the 

adequacy of due diligence arrangements for how prospective suppliers are checked, 

approved and set up and to review supplier resilience in the event of an incident that 

impacts upon the supply of goods or services. Specifically, the audit approach included the 

following: 

 Review of procedures in place to ensure adequacy of due diligence checks and 

resilience for prospective new suppliers 

 Assessment of effectiveness of procedures 

 Review of accountabilities and responsibilities within the processes for ensuring due 

diligence and supplier resilience. 

 

Based on the completion of the fieldwork, a ‘Limited’ assurance opinion was concluded.  The 

key findings of the review were as follows; 

 There is a robust, documented system for due diligence checks in advance of adding 

new suppliers to ABW; 

 There is no published guidance on resilience checks to be carried out, including 

proportionality of below threshold contracts, at the tendering stage; 

 Evidence of adequate insurance was not always available nor were financial checks 

in a number of incidences; 

 The Procurement team does not have oversight of resilience checks and other 

standards (e.g. social value) where contracts are awarded as a result of a waiver; 

 Evidence of supplier resilience checks is not consistently uploaded to current 

contract management system in order to give adequate oversight to Category 

Managers; 

 Category Manager for Buildings, Structures and Highways has instructed that all 

technical assessments revert to requiring financial checks and uploading of all 

documents required at tender stage, including insurances until further guidance is 

issued. 

 

All findings have been provided to management, actions discussed, and agreement has 

been obtained together with appropriate implementation time scales. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



 

3 
 

C3.  Procurement – Off-Contract Spend 
 
The purpose of this internal audit assignment was to provide an independent opinion on 

whether processes and controls to mitigate against ‘off contract’ spend (spend in excess of 

£15,000 with a single supplier where no formal contract exists) in breach of Council / EU 

Procurement Rules is adequate. Specifically, the audit approach included the following: 

 Review of annual spend to individual suppliers where no contract was evidenced; 

 Detailed review of sample of suppliers where high spend was identified but not 

matched to a contract number. 

 

Based on the completion of the fieldwork, a ‘Limited’ assurance opinion was concluded.  The 

key findings of the review were as follows: 

 Significant ‘off contract’ spend (40%), from a sample identified at the end of 

February 2019 by Internal Audit, continue to have no compliant contract or waiver in 

place; 

 There is evidence that ‘off contract’ spend is now being identified by Category 

Managers and investigated; 

 A framework for the facilities management contract was awarded to a single 

supplier, which provided the specification that has been well scoped and  will help 

eliminate ‘off contract’ spend to a significant number of suppliers; 

 A pilot to target early detection of possible off contract spend in known areas of 

concern is showing positive results; 

 Formal processes to track actions arising from spend reports have yet to be 

established; 

 Initial work to address off contract spend issues has yet to embed as business as 

usual. 

 
All findings have been provided to management, actions discussed, and agreement has been 
obtained together with appropriate implementation time scales. 

 

Page 152



Name of Meeting – Report



Audit Committee
25th November 2018

Report of: Chief Internal Auditor

Title: Counter Fraud and Investigations Team – Counter Fraud Update Report 

Ward: N/A

Officer Presenting Report: Simba Muzarurwi – Chief Internal Auditor

Contact Telephone Number: 011735 21475 / 07768476966

Recommendation
The Audit Committee note the Internal Audit Counter Fraud Update report for the period of 1st April to 
October 2019.

The Committee review and endorse the Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy.

Summary

This Report provides the Committee with summary of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit – 
Counter Fraud team and the savings generated from counter fraud work. 

Significant Matters Arising:
Key messages arising from this report at Appendix A;

- The Internal Audit Counter Fraud team continues to identify potential savings which covers its costs. 
- Delivery of the counter fraud team plan is on target.
- The team continue to investigate a variety of fraud types as well as undertaking proactive work to detect fraud.
- The Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy has been updated as detailed in the report and is attached at 
Appendix A1.

Page 153

Agenda Item 16



Name of Meeting – Report

1. Policy
Audit Committee Terms of Reference

2. Consultation

Internal – Corporate Leadership Board including S151 Officer, Cabinet Member for Governance, 
Resources and Finance.
External – N/A

3. Context

3.1 This is the half yearly update report outlining the counter fraud work that has taken place in 
Bristol City Council.  The report is provided to:

 provide an overview of the work and results of the Counter Fraud and Investigation team during 
the period 1st April  2019 to 20th October 2019

 demonstrate how the Council is dealing with some of the fraud risks it is subject to 

 outline how resources available to the team are being used to tackle fraud.

The full report can be found at Appendix A

3.2 Key points arising from the Fraud Update Report:

 The work of the team continues to contribute significant benefits across the Council including:

o recoverable, on-going and notional savings in excess of £2 million have been identified to 
date;

o 19 council properties regained; 
o 7 other positive outcomes from tenancy fraud work (such as housing applications cancelled 

or benefit savings)
o 1 employee dismissed following a benefit fraud investigation with the DWP.

 The Anti-Fraud Bribery and Corruption Policy has been updated and it attached at Appendix A1.

4. Proposal

4.1 The Audit Committee considers the work of the Internal Audit – Counter Fraud and 
Investigations team during the period of covered by the report and the results there of.

4.2 The Audit Committee review and endorse the Counter Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy.

5. Other Options Considered – N/A

Page 154



Name of Meeting – Report

6. Risk Assessment

The work of Internal Audit Counter Fraud team reduces fraud losses and increases the 
potential for prevention and detection of such issues.  

Public Sector Equality Duties

8a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 
considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to:

i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 
the Equality Act 2010.

ii) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to --

- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic;

- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities);

- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low.

iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to –

- tackle prejudice; and
- promote understanding.

8b) No Equality Impact anticipated from this report.

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal – N/A
Financial – N/A
Land – N/A
Personnel – N/A

Appendices:

Page 155



Name of Meeting – Report

 Appendix A – Internal Audit – Counter Fraud Update Report 
 Appendix A1 – Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:

None.

Page 156



 

 Appendix A 

 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud and Investigation Team  
– Fraud Update Report 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Simba Muzarurwi  
Chief Internal Auditor 

  

P
age 157



 
 

 
 

1. Introduction 

 

 

1.1  The purpose of this report is to:  
 

 provide an update on the work and results of the Counter Fraud and Investigation team during the period 1st April  2019 to 20th October 2019 

 demonstrate how the Council is dealing with some of the fraud risks it is subject to  

 outline how resources available to the team are being used to tackle fraud. 
 

 
 

2. Key Messages: 

 
 

 

2.1  The Counter Fraud and Investigation Team undertakes investigative work in a variety of fraud risk areas including Social Housing tenancies, council tax 

reduction, direct payments and internal investigations. It also undertakes a number of proactive exercises including the use of data analysis and 

matching to prevent and detect fraud and identify savings to the Council.    

  2.2 The work of the team continues to contribute significant benefits across the Council: 

 recoverable, on-going and notional savings in excess of £2 million have been identified to date; 

 19 council properties regained;  

 7 other positive outcomes from tenancy fraud work (such as housing applications cancelled or benefit savings) 

 1 employee dismissed following a benefit fraud investigation with the DWP. 

  

 

P
age 158



 
 

 

3. Team Work Programme Overview  

 

3.1  The team plans a work programme at the beginning of the year.  At the half year mark 78% of the planned fraud work is either complete or in progress. 
The plan includes: 

 
• Proactive fraud work – data matching to find fraud, tenancy fraud key amnesty campaign 
• Fraud prevention work – reviews to identify weaknesses in fraud controls. 
• Training and publicity – raising awareness of fraud with work colleagues and the public. 

 
3.2  In addition the team provides for a level of responsive work. This includes: 

 investigation of allegations of fraud and irregularity in accordance with Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy. 

 A co-ordination and liaison role with the DWP for benefit fraud work 

 Responding to enquiries from other enforcement agencies such as the police, NHS and other Local Authorities. 

3.3 Some of these investigations are complex and resource intensive, but are policy driven and provide assurance to management on concerns raised, 
along with actions for improvement. The team work closely with Human Resources where disciplinary proceedings are considered appropriate. 

 
3.4 The team aims to respond to all allegations promptly and is continually balancing priorities between the work that delivers savings and the work that 

protects the integrity of the council.   
 
3.5    In respect of Tenancy Fraud, the team has a performance target of 40 council property regains.  Currently the team have achieved 19 regains. The 

tenancy fraud work has also identified 4 other housing positive outcomes. This could be a person removed from the housing register due to a 
fraudulent application, or a person occupying a 3 bedroom property but moved to a smaller property due to a fraudulent application, but who still has a 
housing need. There are also 3 other outcomes recorded such as benefit savings or the removal of single persons discount from a council tax account. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 159



 
 

Tenancy 
Fraud 

204 RTB 
checks   

80 Visits 

226 
Referrals 

4 IUCs 

 

4. Workload Facts and Figures:  

  

4.1 The figures below are for the half year period and show both the range and volume of work that the team handle.   

   

   
  

NB: RTB = Right to Buy 
IUC = Interview Under Caution 
 
Table 1: Analysis of Corporate Fraud Referrals 

Procurement Blue Badge Grant Local Tax Employee Social Care Credit Card Assets 

3 5 1 2 6 2 1 1 

 

Requests for Data 

• 340 Requests for HB 

data (DWP) 

• 7 Requests for 
witness statements 
(DWP) 

• 65 Police & other 
agencies requests  

Referrals 

• 21 Corporate 
Fraud (see table 
1) 

• 22 Council Tax 
Reduction  

• 112 Pupil 
Tracking 
enquiries  

Other 

• 6 IUCs 

• 3 cases pending 
prosecution 

• 2 Fraud awareness 
sessions delivered  P

age 160



 
 

 

5. Savings Figures 2019/20 (as at 9/10/19) 

 

 

Fraud area Recoverable  Notional 
Weekly cost avoidance 

Tenancy Fraud  £12,681 £1,767,000 (i) £460 

Right to Buy 0 0 0 

National Fraud Initiative (NFI) £25,149 £93,000 £558 

Benefits (DWP work) £416,153 0 £1,264 

Council Tax Reduction (BCC work) £2,956 0 £572 

Administrative Penalties (Adpens) £3,735 0 0 

Direct Payments (Investigations) £10,595 0 £166 

Pool car investigation £2,849 0 0 

Direct Payment to Ctax data match 0 0 £185 

NFI HMRC (pilot exercise) £66,758 0 £134 

TOTAL TO DATE £540,876 £1,860,000 £3,339 

2018/19 Full Year Comparator £1,043,428 £2,852,000 £6,970 

Figures used for notional savings are: 
(i) Council property recovered = £93,000 ( figure recommended by Cabinet Office) 
(ii) RTB = Discount that would have been awarded on the sale. 

 
NB: The above does not reflect the extent of recovery of any savings. Analysis is currently underway to determine the extent to which recoverable amounts are effectively recovered. The 
results will inform team plans going forward.  

 
 

P
age 161



 
 

 
 
 

6. Key Amnesty 
 

6.1   This was a tenancy fraud campaign that was held over the period 1 April to 30 May 2019. Working with two registered housing providers, the amnesty was 

publicised through various means including social media, posters at various location and emails to tenants. Citizens were encouraged to report tenancy 

fraud and tenants committing fraud were offered the opportunity to voluntarily surrender their tenancy without recriminations.   

6.2   Investigations are in some instances on-going so the final results are still to be determined. Results to date: 

 470% increase in fraud referrals. 

 23 cases are still under investigation  

 2 tenants under investigation took advantage of the amnesty to voluntary surrender their property. 

 1 anonymous referral received resulted in a housing application being cancelled as the person had failed to advise they had moved out of Bristol.  

 7 voluntary surrender of keys during the amnesty period for ‘no apparent reason’ by people previously or currently subject to tenancy fraud 
investigation  

 2 Housing Association voluntary regains 
 
 

7. Using Data to Target Fraud  

 
 

7.1   National Non-Domestic Rates 

 The team are working on identifying Small Business Rate Relief (SBR) fraud by matching data with South Gloucestershire Council to identify businesses 

that should not be entitled to SBR. This is a continuation of work carried out in 2018/19. The aim is to maximise revenue from Business Rates. 

 Other data matching is being explored to ensure maximisation of income from Business Rates, using planning information, Companies House, 

Charities Commission data and other sources of information. 

7.2   Direct Payments 

 The team have matched direct payment data to council tax records to identify service users who have left Bristol area but still receiving direct 

payments from BCC. The matches are currently being reviewed and the outcome is not yet known. 

P
age 162



 
 

 It is hoped to regularly match to deaths information through the National Fraud Initiative flexible matching service. 

 

7.3   National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 

 

 The authority volunteered in a pilot NFI exercise which matched BCC data to HMRC data. To date this has identified savings of £66k with further 

investigations into tenancy fraud and benefit cases on-going. 

 The NFI biennially matches data across local authorities and an ever expanding number of other data sets and sources of information.  Work on the 

2018/19 output is on-going.  

 The NFI annually matches Council Tax Single Persons Discount data against Electoral Register and other sources of data. The output from this exercise 

is voluminous and is currently being further refined by the teams Data Analyst to a more manageable size using risk profiling and credit reference 

data. 

7.4   Fleet Vehicle Use 

         Following investigation into the misuse of a fleet vehicle, an exercise is underway to assess whether there has been any other misuse. A number of 

measures have been implemented by the Fleet Services Manager to improve control, and monitoring put in place to detect misuse. 

7.5    Profiling of Tenancy Fraud Cases 

In order to take a more focused approach to tenancy fraud work, some profiling of fraud cases has been undertaken and some targeted exercises will 

result 

 

8 Case Examples 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
8.1 Misuse of the Enterprise Car Club Scheme: 
HR referred a case to the Team where it was suspected that a casual employee had used a pool car for several thousand miles of personal mileage. The Team worked 
with Fleet Services and the Police in respect of an offence of taking a vehicle without consent. The person promptly paid £2,849 to the council which was the estimated 
value of the mileage.  
 
This case has led to a review of the scheme and the controls in place and some analytics work to identify any other misuse.. 
 

P
age 163



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

9. Resources 

 
 
9.1   The counter fraud and investigations team is made up of 10 (9.4 FTE) employees with a range of different skills including, accredited investigators, data 

analyst, Prosecutions officer, Accountant, Auditor, Housing Officer and ex police. The team is carrying an Investigator vacancy which is in the process of 
being recruited to. In addition a temporary data analyst resource was bought in to cover sickness absence and to enable us to move forward with the 
planned proactive fraud work and the development of data analytics and the fraud hub. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.2 Benefit Fraud – Confiscation Order: 
The team have been working on a benefit fraud case that commenced in 2009, when the City Council had responsibility for investigating housing benefit. The case is 
a good example of the tenacity of the team over a lengthy period of time. 
 

 The case concerned a failure to declare ownership of a property resulting in a benefit overpayment of almost £20k. Following a trial, the person was 
convicted in 2012 and received a suspended prison sentence in 2013. 

 After numerous adjournments the City Council was granted a Confiscation Order in 2015. The person was ordered to pay the £20k owed plus £43k of council 
costs.  

 The person appealed but this was dismissed in 2016. 

 The person failed to comply with the Confiscation Order and served 4 months in prison. 

 The Council applied to the Crown Court in 2019 for the court to appoint an Enforcement Receiver to enforce the debt and Court agreed that an Enforcement 
Receiver should be appointed 

 The Enforcement Receiver will force the sale of the property and the £20k debt and £43k costs will be due to the City Council from the proceeds.  
 
 

P
age 164



 
 

 
 

10. Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy 

 
 

10.1 The Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy has been reviewed and the Corporate Leadership Board has re-affirmed confirm their statement on fraud at the start of 

the  Policy document.  

10.2 Some additions and amendments have been made to the policy including: 

 who the policy applies to 

 the legislation and definitions in section 3 

 contact details, job titles in section 4.6 and 8 

 Internal Audit responsibilities - to include reference to its assurance role and the requirement to maintain records. 

 the policy and strategy document are now two separate documents  

 the format amended. 

10.3 A recent survey of schools has identified a lack of awareness of the policy and the available support from the Counter Fraud and Investigation team. Options to raise 

awareness with schools are currently being explored.  

10.2 The revised policy is provided at appendix A1 of this report for the Committees review and endorsement. 

 

11. Current and Future Key Initiatives 

 
      

11.1 The Council works in an increasingly complex and challenging environment and the threat to the public purse remains high. As well as the initiatives 

detailed above, the following current/future developments seek to ensure that the Council maximises its resilience as far as is possible.       

11.2  Data Hub 

         The development of a data hub is being progressed, to undertake data matches and analytics such as those above, on a regular and routine basis and 

provide timely prevention and detection of fraud. A number of options are being viewed and trialled including: 

P
age 165



 
 

 Existing data hub software held within the team, which is being used to undertake regular matching and analysis that was previously carried out on an 

ad hoc basis. 

 Other data warehouses in BCC. We are working with the Business Intelligence team to pilot some work on Business Rates using Intelligent I. 

 External providers such as CIPFA, Cabinet Office (NFI Data Hub). Visits have or are being arranged to view their products, which may offer access to 

some datasets that BCC does not own. 

A project plan is being prepared and options for development of a regional hub, are being explored with Heads of Audit at neighbouring local authorities. 

11.3 Fighting Fraud and Corruption Strategy  

In October 2019 BCC hosted a ‘Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally’ workshop. The workshop brought together fraud experts from other Local 

Authorities in the West of England region to contribute to the government’s forward strategy on public sector fraud.  Once published, the Council’s own 

Counter Fraud Strategy will be refreshed and reviewed. 

11.4 Training and Awareness 

 The team will continue with a programme of fraud training and awareness across the Council.  This will include regular review of e learning and web 

based guidance to employees across the Council as well as targeted sessions for employees working in high risk fraud areas. 

  

Report Authors:    
Audit Managers: Louise Lee/Andrea Hobbs 

P
age 166



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 1 of 11  

 

 

Appendix A1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 167



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 2 of 11  

 

 

 TABLE OF CONTENTS PAGE 

 Statement on fraud by Corporate Leadership Board 3 

1. Purpose 4 

2. Key principles 5 

3. Relevant legislation 6 

4. Reporting fraud 6 

5. Investigation of fraud 7 

6. Action taken when fraud is identified 7 

7. Data matching and data sharing 8 

8. Responsibilities under this policy 8 

9. Owner of policy and history of amendments 11 

 Appendix 1 12 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 168



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 3 of 11  

 

Statement on Fraud by the Corporate Leadership Board  

Bristol City Council – Corporate Leadership Board are committed to 

implementing and maintaining the highest standard of corporate and 

financial governance and ethical behaviour. We recognise that fraud against 

the council harms the citizens and taxpayers of Bristol and for that reason, 

fraud, bribery and corruption against the council will not be tolerated and all 

such occurrences will be investigated. We will undertake to consider the 

circumstances of each case of fraud we investigate to ensure we seek a fair 

and balanced outcome. 

We fully support the investigation of allegations of fraud, the continued 

development of a robust anti-fraud culture and framework within the Council 

and a strong stance being taken where fraud is found. 

 

The diverse nature of services provided by a council mean that there are 

many areas where we could be a target for fraud. We will ensure we 

understand the main fraud risks we face and set out how we protect against 

them in our fraud risk registers.  

We the leadership team, with your support, will strive to ensure that we have 

robust processes in place to prevent fraud in the first instance and, that we 

do not forget t 

 

 

he risk of fraud in our drive to improve efficiency in our services. 

Page 169



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 4 of 11  

 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this Policy is to set out clearly:  
 

 The Council's commitment to tackling fraud, bribery, and corruption.  

 The responsibilities of Councillors and employees to report any suspicions they have.  

 The importance of the public in tackling fraud.  

 

1.2 This policy applies to Bristol City Council and its maintained schools including: 
 

 Councillors 

 Employees 

 Agency staff 

 Contractors 

 Consultants 

 Suppliers 

 Service users 

 Employee and committee members of organisations funded by Bristol City Council 

 Employees and principals of partner organisations 

 Volunteers working for Bristol City Council 

 

1.3 In addition to the above Bristol City Council expects members of the public to be honest in their 
dealings with the Council. 

 

1.4 Other relevant policies include: 

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Guidance  

 Whistleblowing Policy  

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy and Procedures  

 Members’ Code of Conduct 

 Employee Code of Conduct  

 Financial Regulations  

 Procurement Regulations 

1.5 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2011 require the Council to have appropriate control 
measures in place to enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and fraud.  

 

1.6 The Council is committed to an effective anti-fraud approach designed to reduce losses to fraud by: 

 Acknowledging and understanding fraud risks faced.  

 Preventing fraud happening and detecting it when it does occur.  

 Pursuing fraudsters and recovering losses.  

1.7 Detailed roles and responsibilities in relation to fraud are set out in Section C. 

1.8 The arrangements set out in this policy will be reviewed annually to ensure the Council remains 
resilient to the fraud threat. 

 

 

 

 Page 170

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/content/articles/self-serve/finance/anti-money-laundering-information.en
http://intranet.bcc.lan/redirect?oid=Article-id-1931029
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/35116/Regulation+of+Investigatory+Powers+Act+2000
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/Part+5+%28A%29+Member+Code+of+Conduct.pdf
http://intranet.bcc.lan/redirect?oid=Article-id-1851311
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34176/Part+4.1%28i%29+Financial+Regulations.pdf/822f018f-a32c-0339-01af-1916f961ca20
http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/navigation/support-services/commissioning-procurement/procurement-policies-rules-regulations/


Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 5 of 11  

 

2. Key Principles 

2.1 The Council will not tolerate fraud, bribery or corruption and if proved employees will face possible 
dismissal and/or prosecution.  

2.2 The Council expects that Councillors and officers at all levels will lead by example to ensure high 
standards of propriety, integrity and accountability and operate within relevant Codes of conduct. 

2.3 The Council will endeavor to raise fraud awareness among employees both at induction and 
periodically throughout their employment.  

2.4 The Council expects Councillors and Senior Officers to emphasise the importance of anti-fraud 
work and to actively promote the fight against fraud.  

2.5 The Council expects that all employees and Councillors will support the fight against fraud and 
individuals and organisations with whom it comes into contact will act with integrity towards the Council. 

2.6 The Council understands the fraud risks it faces and will implement policies and procedures to 
identify and prevent fraud, bribery and corruption, but will also take all action necessary to investigate 
and identify it. 

2.7 The Council will take appropriate action against those responsible for fraud and where possible 
recover losses incurred. 

2.8 Members of the public are asked to contribute to the Council's fight against fraud by remaining 
vigilant to the potential for fraud and reporting it where they suspect the Council is being targeted. 
Employees and Councillors have a duty to do so, and concerns should be raised when it is reasonably 
believed that one or more of the following has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur: 

 A criminal offence.  

 A failure to comply with a statutory or legal obligation.  

 Improper or unauthorised use of public or other official funds, or assets.  

2.9. The investigation of fraud  will be fair, independent and objective. Officers will be mindful of the 
Equality Act 2010 and will not let their political or personal views regarding suspects, victims or 
witnesses unduly influence their decisions. Officers  will not be affected by improper or undue pressure 
from any source. 

2.10 Bristol City Council will endeavour not to facilitate fraud against other bodies including tax evasion. 

If through its operation or investigation work, it identifies possible fraud against another organisation, it 

will report this to the appropriate body’. 

 

3. Relevant legislation  

3.1 The Fraud Act 2006 created an offence of fraud and identified three main ways by which it can be 
committed 

 Fraud by false representation.  

 Fraud by failing to disclose information  

 Fraud by abuse of position.  

 

3.2 The Act also created four related criminal offences of: 

 Possession of articles for use in frauds.  

 Making or supplying articles for use in frauds.  

 Participating in fraudulent business.  

 Obtaining services dishonestly.  Page 171



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 6 of 11  

 

 

3.3 The Theft Act 1968 and the Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981 define offences of: 

 Theft  

 False Accounting  

 Forgery  

 

3.4 The Bribery Act 2010 contains two general offences: 

 Section 1 - the offering, promising or giving of a bribe (active bribery);  

 Section 2 - and the requesting, agreeing to receive or accepting of a bribe (passive bribery) 
  
it also sets out two further offences which specifically address commercial bribery: 
   

 Section 6 - creates an offence relating to bribery of a foreign public official in order to obtain or 
retain business or an advantage in the conduct of business;  

 

 Section 7 - creates a new form of corporate liability for failing to prevent bribery on behalf of a 
commercial organization.   

 

3.5 In certain circumstances The Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013 makes the sub-
letting of a ‘Local Authority’ or other ‘Registered Social Landlord’ property without the consent of the 
landlord, a criminal offence. 

 

3.6 The Criminal Finance Act 2017 created a criminal offence of failing to put adequate measures in 
place to prevent tax evasion in the United Kingdom or overseas. 

 

3.7 The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 made it a criminal offence to fail to disclose knowledge of or 
suspicion of money laundering 

 

4. Reporting Fraud 

4.1 The ultimate aim is to prevent fraud at the outset; however, despite our best attempts determined 
fraudsters may succeed. 

4.2 If fraud, bribery or corruption is suspected, it should be reported without delay to a line manager or 
other senior officer, or to Internal Audit. 

4.3 Information can be reported via the fraud hotline, or using the council’s fraud referral form on the 
web site. This can be done anonymously if required. 

Employees can report fraud through the Whistleblowing process 

4.4 Allegations re schools should be reported initially to the Chair of Governors of the school or, if this is 
not appropriate, the Service Director (Education). 

4.5 The investigation process will follow the procedure set out in Internal Audit's Investigation Protocol. 

4.6 Useful contact information  for reporting fraud: 

  

 

 

 

 
Page 172



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 7 of 11  

Contact Email/web address Telephone number 

Deputy Chief Internal Auditor 
 
 
Audit Managers – Counter Fraud and 
Investigations 
 

 
Alison.mullis@bristol.gov.uk 
  
 
Louise.lee@bristol.gov.uk      
Andrea.hobbs@bristol.gov.uk   
 
 

 
0117 9222448 
 
 
01173526997 
0117 9222466 
 

Monitoring Officer (Director Legal and 
Democratic Services) 

Tim.OGara@bristol.gov.uk  

0117 90 37765 

Web report form or 24 hour fraud Hotline. 
(Callers leaving their contact details can assist 

investigations but allegations can also be made 
anonymously). 

Reporting Fraud Form 

0117 9222470 

Protect (formerly Public Concern at Work) 
which is an external body which may be able to give 
free and independent advice on how to proceed.  

020 74046609 

 

 

4.7 The confidential nature of fraud investigations mean that updates cannot usually be provided to 
those who have reported allegations. All allegations will be taken seriously and where there is evidence 
which supports the allegation, will be fully investigated. Police will be involved where appropriate.  

 

4.8 Updates on progress will be provided to Managers where investigations have been commissioned 
internally. Updates cannot generally be provided to the public for reasons of confidentiality. 

 

5. Investigation of Fraud 

5.1 The investigation of fraud, bribery and corruption is a complex and specialist area and will usually 
be undertaken by staff in Internal Audit or, for less complicated cases, managers, under advice from 
Internal Audit. 

5.2 To facilitate audit work and investigations, Internal Audit staff are accorded rights, by the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations (England) 2015, to access all necessary documents, records, information and 
explanations from any member of staff. These access rights are confirmed in Financial Regulations. 

5.3 The investigation process is set out in the Investigations Protocol also available on the council’s 
web pages.  

5.4 The Investigation Protocol is designed to ensure that Internal Audit: 

 Applies a consistent approach.  

 Assigns appropriately experienced staff to investigate fraud depending on the type and nature of 
the fraud.  

 Maintains records of all fraud experienced to inform an assessment of the Council's fraud risks.  

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 173

mailto:Alison.mullis@bristol.gov.uk
mailto:Louise.lee@bristol.gov.uk
mailto:Andrea.hobbs@bristol.gov.uk
file://///ds.bcc.lan/data/FIN/Section29DPA/2019-20%20Counter%20Fraud%20Programme/F23-Fraud%20Policy%20Review/2%20Report/Tim.OGara@bristol.gov.uk
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/contact/reporting-fraud


Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 8 of 11  

6. Actions Taken When Fraud is identified 

6.1 Disciplinary, civil and criminal sanctions will be used, where appropriate,, in order to deter future 
fraud and to recover losses. 

6.2 Fraud, bribery, corruption theft and the failure to disclose knowledge or suspicion of money 
laundering by Councillors or staff will be regarded as gross misconduct. Disciplinary action will be taken 
against staff, and Councillors' misconduct will be dealt with by an independent person and the Audit 
Committee. 

6.3 One option available to the Council is criminal prosecution. We recognise that this is a serious step 
to take and the decision to refer cases for prosecution will not be taken lightly and may involve Audit 
Management, Legal Services, and Directorate Management. 

6.4 The ultimate decision on prosecution will be taken by the prosecuting body which in most cases will 
be the Council or the Crown Prosecution Service. A Financial Investigator and/or the Police will be 
utilised in cases where additional powers are required to secure evidence, recover funds or where the 
matter cannot be fully pursued in-house. 

6.6 In determining whether to prosecute each case will be considered on its own facts and merits. 

6.7 Where necessary, the Council will work in co-operation with other organisations such as the Police, 
the Department for Work and Pensions, the Home Office, the Cabinet Office, Her Majesty’s Revenue 
and Customs and  other Local Authorities.. 

6.7 When considering a case for prosecution it is generally accepted that there are two “tests” to be 
applied – the evidential test and the public interest test. These are set out in The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors. 

 Evidential Stage Test - Prosecutors must be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide 
a realistic prospect of conviction against each suspect on each charge. A case will not go 
forward for prosecution if it fails this test.  

 Public Interest Test - A prosecution will usually take place unless the prosecutor is sure that 
there are public interest factors tending against prosecution which outweigh those tending in 
favour, or is satisfied that the public interest may be properly served by offering the offender the 
opportunity to have the matter dealt with by an out-of-court disposal.  

6.8 All avenues for recovering losses will be considered, including confiscation under the proceeds of 
crime act, civil claims, recovery from accrued pensions and appropriate insurance claims. 

6.9 Publicity will be used as a deterrent and wider circulation of investigative reports and lessons 
learned will be an on-going consideration. Public statements and press releases must be made through 
the Council's Marketing and Communications Team. 

 

7. Data-matching and Data-sharing 

7.1 The Council will use information provided by Councillors, employees, service users and suppliers in 
the prevention and detection of fraud. Data matching and analysis exercises are undertaken, both 
internally, locally and nationally to facilitate investigation of fraud. 

7.2 All data extraction and analysis adheres to Data Protection legislation, and has regard to the 
confidentiality of information. 

7.3 Privacy impact assessments will be produced for new counter fraud initiatives. 

 

 

 

 

 Page 174



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 9 of 11  

8. Responsibilities under this policy  

 Group/ Individual Responsibilities 

 1. Mayor & Councillors 

 A duty to the citizens of Bristol to protect the Council and public 
money from any acts of fraud and corruption.  

 Compliance with the Code of Conduct for Members, the Council’s 
Constitution, including Financial Regulations and Procurement 
Regulations, in particular the requirements regarding interests, 
gifts, and hospitality.  

 Avoid situations where there is a potential for a conflict of interest.  

 Report fraud, bribery or corruption where it is reasonably 
suspected that the Council is being targeted.  

2. Audit Committee 
 

 Provide assurance on the anti-fraud arrangements to Council and 
sign off the Annual Governance Statement regarding fraud issues 
specifically.  

 Review and endorse the Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
Policy. 

 Monitor performance against the fraud strategy.  

3. Directors 

 Support the maintenance of a strong culture where fraud, bribery 
and corruption is unacceptable.  

 Notify the ‘Head of Internal Audit’ immediately of any fraud or 
irregularity.  

4. Finance Director:  

 Ensure that effective procedures are in place for the prompt 
investigation of any fraud or irregularity,  

 Ensure awareness of fraud risks is maintained through training, 
publicity, fraud risk registers and fraud prevention work. 

 Ensure that arrangements are in place to actively pursue fraud. 

 Ensure effective Internal Control systems 

5. Managers including 
Head Teachers, senior 
staff and School 
Governors 

 Ensure that they, and their staff, understand the fraud risks faced 
in delivering services by maintenance of a fraud risk assessment.  

 Implement and maintain an effective control environment to 
prevent fraud, commensurate with the level of risk identified.  

 Maintain and manage officer declarations of interest, gifts and 
hospitality. 

 Communicate the requirements of this and related policies (see  
paragraph 1.4) in their work area.  

 Create an environment in which staff feel able to report concerns 
of suspected fraud.  

 Advise Internal Audit of any suspected cases of fraud and carry 
out or assist in the investigation of it as required. Advise Internal 
Audit of the outcome of any cases investigated.  

 Consider the risk of fraud in all system processes and changes in 
process. 

 

 

 

7. All Employees 
irrespective of status 

 Be aware of the possibility that fraud, bribery, corruption and theft 
may exist in the workplace and report it where they reasonably Page 175



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 10 of 11  

suspect the Council is being targeted.  

 Avoid situations where there is a potential for a conflict of interest 

  

 Comply with the Council's policies and codes as detailed in 
paragraph 1.4.  

8. Internal Audit 

 Maintain an overall fraud risk assessment on behalf of the Council 
and review the effectiveness of the Council's response to the risks 
faced.  

 Undertake an annual programme of audits and report on the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control and governance systems 
and processes including the effectiveness of management of 
fraud risks.  

 Undertake an annual programme of pro-active fraud work 
designed to prevent and detect fraud, including awareness 
training. 

 Ensure cases of suspected irregularity, fraud or corruption are 
effectively investigated and punished by appropriate sanctions in 
liaison with the Police, Legal Services and HR. (Exception: 
housing benefit fraud).  

 Instigate recovery action wherever possible to recoup the losses 
on behalf of the Council.  

 Maintain a 24-hour Fraud Hotline (0117 9222470)  

 Advise management on procedural improvements required to 
prevent occurrence or recurrence of fraud.  

 Develop and encourage the exchange of information on national 
and local fraud and corruption activity in relation to local 
authorities with external agencies.  

 Maintain effective records of fraud activity to enable greater 
understanding of fraud risk. 

 
 9. Human Resources 

 Provide timely advice and guidance on Council Policies and 
procedures during investigations and any disciplinary action  

 Ensure recruitment procedures to be applied by Managers are 
effective in the verification and validation of information submitted 
by applicants prior to appointment. Eg eligibility to work, 
verification of qualifications and employment history, Disclosure 
and Barring Service checks where appropriate.  

10. Director: Legal and 
Democratic Services (& 
Monitoring Officer) 

 Advise Councillors of new legislative or procedural requirements 
regarding conduct and ethical matters.  

 Maintain a register of Members interests, gifts and hospitality 
declared  

 Take criminal and civil actions to ensure appropriate sanctions 
are applied.  

 Provide advice on potential criminal cases.  

 

 

 

 

 Page 176



Last modified: 14/11/2019 14:22 Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019 Page 11 of 11  

9. Owner and History of Amendments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author and Owner: Internal Audit 

Contact: Internal.Audit@Bristol.gov.uk 

The audience of this document is made aware that a physical copy may not be the latest available version. The 

latest version which supersedes all previous versions is available from The Source. 

All Managers and anyone working in an area of high fraud risk are responsible for ensuring they are familiar 

and complying with the contents of this policy. 

History of most recent policy changes

 

Version 1.5 issued November 2019  

1.2 Additions to who policy applies to 

1.3 Expectation re public dealings 

2.2 Reference to Members Code of Conduct 

2.8 Inclusion of ‘Misuse of Assets’ 

2.10 Reference to not facilitating fraud and reporting fraud against other bodies. 

S3 Updates to legislation 

4.6 Correction of contact information 

7.3 Requirement to complete privacy impact assessments 

S8 Correction of job titles & update of Internal Audit responsibilities re assurance and maintaining records.

 

Version 1.4 issued January 2016 

 

Version 1.3 issued January 2015 

 

Version 1.2 issued January 2014 

 

Version 1.0 issued & adopted January 2012 
 
 

 

Page 177

mailto:Internal.Audit@Bristol.gov.uk


Report for Audit Committee

Audit Committee
25th November 2019

Report of: Chair of Audit Committee

Title: Audit Committees Half Yearly Report to Full Council - Draft

Ward: N/A

Officer Presenting Report: Simba Muzarurwi, Chief Internal Auditor

Recommendation

The Committee consider the issues included in the draft report and approve the half yearly report to Full 
Council.

Summary

The report provides a summary of key matters arising from the work of the Audit Committee this year to 
date which should be highlighted to Full Council.  This is the first time the Committee will provide an in-
year update to Full Council.

The significant issues in the report are:

- Key areas from the work of the Committee this year to date are included in Section 2 of the attached 
report.

Page 178

Agenda Item 17



Report for Audit Committee

Policy

1. Audit Committee Terms of Reference.

Consultation

2. Internal
Audit Committee Members

3. External
None

Context

4. In line with the requirements of their Terms of Reference, the Audit Committee has historically 
provided an Annual Report to Full Council.

5. Discussions during Audit Committee effectiveness workshops identified that more timely 
updates to Full Council may enhance arrangements and it was decided that the Committee 
would provide a half yearly update of key matters arising from their work.  A draft report is 
attached for consideration by the Committee.

Proposal

6. Committee Members review the draft half year report to Full Council to ensure it reflects the 
issues they feel should be brought to Full Council attention at this time.

7. The Committee approve the report for submission subject to any amendments required.

Other Options Considered

8. None

Risk Assessment

9. The assurances provided by Audit Committee to Full Council are a key part of the Council’s 
governance framework. This report highlights potential areas where assurances require further 
monitoring by Audit Committee.

Public Sector Equality Duties

8a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 
considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to:

i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 

Page 179



Report for Audit Committee

the Equality Act 2010.

ii) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to --

- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic;

- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities);

- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low.

iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to –

- tackle prejudice; and
- promote understanding.

8b) No equality impact anticipated from this report

Legal and Resource Implications

Legal
N/A

Financial
(a) Revenue – N/A
(b) Capital – N/A 

Land/Property N/A

Human Resources N/A 

Appendices:

Appendix A – Draft Audit Committee Half Year Report to Full Council. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:

Audit Committee Papers.

Page 180



 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL 
 
 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
 

(DRAFT) 
 
 

Half Year Update 
2019-20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



 

2 

 
1. Introduction and Context: 

 

1.1 The Committee is the primary means by which Full Council obtains assurance that 
governance, risk management and control systems are in place and effective. The Audit 
Committee’s responsibilities are additional and supportive to those of the Section 151 
Officer. 
 

1.2 This report provides details of the Committees work this year to date and highlights to Full 
Council key issues that require monitoring or support from the Committee to engender 
improvements to the internal control, governance and risk management arrangements 
across the Council.   
 

2. Key Issues  
 

2.1 Details of the reports considered to date by the Committee are provided in Appendix 1.   
 
 Regulatory Framework: 
 

 Internal Control Environment.  Reports from Internal Audit continue to raise concerns 
regarding the effectiveness of the Council’s control arrangements.  The Committee will 
continue to support Internal Audit in its work to ensure control weaknesses are effectively 
dealt with and will, where appropriate, require responsible officers to account for control 
weaknesses by attendance at Committee going forward.  
 

 Effectiveness of Whistleblowing Arrangements: Concerns were raised in an employee 
survey in this area. The Committee’s work programme includes an annual review to ensure 
improved confidence in this area.  
 
Risk Management: 

 

 IT Transformation Programme (ITTP).  The Committee note the risk profile of this 
programme and will continue to monitor the effectiveness of arrangements to manage those 
risks and deliver the IT transformation required.  
 
Statement of Accounts: 
 

 Audit of Financial Statements:  The audit of the Council’s financial statements has yet to 
be completed and as such the statements will need to be signed off outside of the statutory 
deadlines.  It is understood that many Councils are in a similar situation following new audit 
arrangements but handover between External Auditors and the complexity of the City 
Council’s operations have also been a factor. 
 
Audit Arrangements: 
 

 Audit Arrangements: The Internal Audit Team is a key and independent source of 
assurance for the Audit Committee and the Council.   The team have experienced a number 
of vacancies both during and after a restructure.  The Audit Committee is monitoring via 
update reports at each meeting, that the team is resourced to be fit for purpose in providing 
assurance to management and the Committee.  

 

 Audit Committee Membership: The Committee should operate in an ‘apolitical’ 
environment. On considering the appropriateness of its own terms of reference, the 
Committee this year resolved to recommend to Full Council that Political Party Leads should 

Page 182



 

3 

not sit on the Audit Committee and that the Committee’s terms of reference should include 
this requirement.   

 
 

Appendix 1 :  
 

 
Details of Reports Considered by Audit Committee During 2019/20 Municipal Year to Date 

 
Meeting Date Papers Considered 

28
th
 May 2019  External Audit Update Report 

 Internal Audit Annual Report 2018/19 

 Annual Counter Fraud Report 2018/19 

 Draft Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 

 Draft Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

29
th
 July 2019  External Audit Update Report 

 Annual Governance Statement Action Tracker 

 Final Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 

 Updated Statement of Accounts 

 Internal Audit Activity Report – Q1 

 Corporate Risk Management Arrangement/Policy 

 Corporate Risk Report 

 Audit and Assurance Arrangements for Council Owned Companies 

 Constitution Updates 

September 2019  Member Officer Protocol 

 Review of Constitutional Updates 

 Annual Report of the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman 

 External Audit Update 

 Treasury Management Annual Report 2018/19 

 Internal Audit Activity Report to End August 2019 

 Corporate Risk Report – Q1 2019/20 

 Detailed review of Corporate Risk – Asbestos Management 

 IT Transformation Programme 

November 2019  External Audit Update Report 

 Detailed Review of Corporate Risk – Infrastructure 

 Internal Audit Half Year Update Report 

 Counter Fraud – Half Year Update Report and Counter Fraud Policy 
Review 

 Internal Audit – Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 

 Internal Audit Charter and Strategy 

 Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 

 

Page 183



 

 

            
Audit Committee 

25th November 2019 

 

Report of: Service Director: Finance 
 
Title: Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2019/20 
 
Ward: City Wide  
 
Officer Presenting Report: Denise Murray, Service Director: Finance 
 
Contact Telephone Number :  0117 35 76255 
 
  

Recommendation 
That the Mid-Year Treasury Management report for 2019/20 is noted.  
 
Summary 
This report meets the treasury management regulatory requirement that the Council receive a Mid-Year 
Treasury review report.  It also incorporates the needs of the Prudential Code to ensure adequate 
monitoring of the capital expenditure plans. 
 
The significant issues in the report are: 
There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position in the light of the 
updated economic position and budgetary changes.  The authority has a net borrowing requirement of 
£245m over the next five years and since April the Council have borrowed £30m to support the delivery 
of the Capital Programme. 
 
PWLB – Change of Rates 
On 9 October 2019 the Treasury and PWLB announced that Local Authorities will be charged an 
additional 1% on any new borrowings.  There was no prior warning that this would happen and it will 
now require the Council to reassess the financial viability of capital projects supported by borrowing due 
to this unexpected increase in debt financing costs. 
  
This Council use the PWLB as a source of borrowing.  It will continue to consider alternative sources of 
borrowing in the market place especially as other providers are now expected to be able to offer 
“cheaper” sources of finance. 

Page 184

Agenda Item 18



 

 
Policy 
1. There are no policy implications as a direct result of this report. 
 
Consultation 
2. Internal 

Strategic & Service Directors. 
3. External 

The Council's Treasury Management advisers 
 
Purpose / Context of the report: 
4. This report meets the treasury management regulatory requirement that the Council receive a 

mid-year treasury review report.  It also incorporates the needs of the Prudential Code to ensure 
adequate monitoring of the capital expenditure plans and the Council’s prudential indicators 
(PIs). 

5. That the mid-year report is structured to highlight:   

 The economic outlook;  

 The actual and proposed treasury management activity (borrowing and investment); 

 The key changes to the Council’s capital activity (the prudential indicators {PIs}). 

Background  

6. Treasury management is defined as: 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

7. The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the year will 
meet its cash expenditure.  Treasury management operations aim to ensure that cash flow is 
adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing 
adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return. 

8. The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can meet its capital 
spending operations.  The management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short 
term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn 
may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  

 

Introduction 

9. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (revised in 2017) has been adopted by this Council. The primary 
requirements of the Code are:  

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets out the 
policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities; 

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the manner in 
which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives; 

Page 185



 

 
 Receipt by the Full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement - including 

the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a 
Mid-year Review Report and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during 
the previous year; 

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring treasury 
management policies and practices and for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions; 

 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy and policies 
to a specific named body.  For this Council the delegated bodies are Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board and Audit Committee.  

10. This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management, and covers the following: 

 

 An economic update for the 2019/20 financial year to 30 September 2019; 

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy; 

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2019/20; 

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2019/20; 

 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken or planned during 2019/20; 

 The Council’s capital expenditure and (prudential indicators); 

 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2019/20. 
 
Key Changes to the Treasury and Capital Strategies 
11. There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position in the 

light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes. 

12. The 2019–2024 Treasury Strategy (approved 26 February 2019) identified a medium term net 
borrowing requirement of £245m to support the existing and future Capital Programme with the 
debt servicing costs met from revenue savings from capital investment and the economic 
development fund.  The Council’s agreed policy is to defer borrowing while it has significant 
levels of cash balances (£155m at September 2019, £130m estimated for March 2020).   

13. However the Council will undertake long term borrowing when rates are deemed advantageous 
to reduce the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The authority took £30m of borrowing in 
two tranches in August and September, £20m (1.84%) and £10m (1.59%) from the PWLB when 
rates “dipped” historically low. 

14. On 9 October 2019 the Treasury and PWLB announced a 1% increase across all maturities to its 
new borrowing rates. There was no prior warning that this would happen and the Council will 
now assess financing their external borrowing needs and market borrowing options / proposals. 
Due to this unexpected change, awaiting external markets borrowing proposals and along with 
the high level of investment balances the authority is not planning on borrowing any further 
funds to support the capital programme during the remainder of the year.  The net financing 
costs arising from the £30m borrowed to date is contained within the existing capital financing 
budget. 

It is anticipated no further borrowing will be required in the current financial year to maintain 
liquidity, although borrowing could be taken if:  

• short term investments fall at a higher pace than expected increasing the liquidity risk 
of the authority and or;  

Page 186



 

 
• there is another significant change in markets and long term borrowing is deemed 
advantageous the authority will borrow over periods determined as the most appropriate to 
reduce the authorities exposure to interest rate risk. 

 
Analysis of Debt and Investments 
15. A summary of the of the Council’s debt and Investment position as at 30th September 2019 

(including forecast at 31st March 2020) compared with 31st March 2019 is shown in the table 
below:  

 

Debt & Investments 31st March 2019 31st September 
2019 

31st March       2020 

Actual Actual Forecast 

£m Rate%*b £m Rate%*b £m Rate%*b 

Long Term Debt – PWLB Fixed 311 4.92 341 4.85 341 4.74 

Long Term Debt – Market 
LOBO*a 

70 4.09 70 4.09 70 4.09 

Long Term Debt – Market 
Fixed 

50 4.04 50 4.04 50 4.04 

Short Term Borrowing - - - - - - 

Total Debt 431 4.68 461 4.63 461 4.56 

Investment 108 0.76 155 0.91 130 0.85 

Net Borrowing Position 323  306  331  

 *a Lender option Borrower option, *b reflects the average rate for the year taking account of new loans and repayments. 

We are currently achieving a return of 0.91% on our investments for the period to 30 
September 2019.  The return for the year is anticipated to remain broadly the same given there 
is no anticipated change in base rate of 0.75%. The authority’s advisors are forecasting the next 
rise in base rate to 1.00% around the winter of the next year (December 2020), subject to an 
orderly “Brexit”.  Long term interest rates (PWLB) are expected to remain at or around 3% (for 
25 – 50 year term) for the remainder of the year. 

 

Economic Update 

UK. This first half year has been a time of “uncertainty” on the political front as Theresa May 
resigned as Prime Minister to be replaced by Boris Johnson on the mandate of the UK leaving 
the EU on or 31 October, with or without a deal.  So far, there has been no majority of MPs for 
any one option to move forward on enabling Brexit to be implemented which has led to a delay 
in Brexit to 31 January 2020. Subsequently parliament voted in a favour of a general election 
on 12 December. 

The outcome of the general election will impact on the UK economy and any interest rate 
forecasts are subject to change as the situation changes.  At present, if the UK does achieve an 
agreed deal on Brexit soon, then it is possible that growth could recover quickly. The Monetary 
Policy Committee could then need to address the issue of whether to raise Bank Rate when 
there is very little slack left in the labour market; this could cause wage inflation to accelerate 
which would then feed through into general inflation. 

On the other hand, if there was a no deal Brexit and there was a significant level of disruption 
to the economy, then growth could fall and the Monetary Policy Committee would be likely to 
cut Bank Rate in order to support growth. However, with Bank Rate still only at 0.75%, it has 

Page 187



 

 
relatively little room to make a big impact and the Monetary Policy Committee would probably 
suggest that it would be up to the Chancellor to provide help to support growth by way of a 
fiscal boost by way of tax cuts and / or expenditure on infrastructure projects, to boost the 
economy.  However, infrastructure projects generally take a long time to plan and to start up, 
and so to feed through into the economy; tax cuts would be much quicker in increasing the 
level of consumption in the economy. 

The first half of 2019/20 has seen UK economic growth fall due to Brexit uncertainty. In its 
Inflation Report of 1 August, the Bank of England was “downbeat” about the outlook for both 
the UK and major world economies.  This mirrored investor confidence around the world which 
is now expecting a significant downturn or possibly even a recession in some developed 
economies.  It was therefore expected that the Monetary Policy Committee left Bank Rate 
unchanged at 0.75% throughout 2019, so far, and is expected to hold off changes until there is 
some clarity on what is going to happen over Brexit. However, it should be noted that the 
Prime Minister is making significant promises on various spending commitments and a 
relaxation in the austerity programme. This will provide some support to the economy and, 
conversely, reduce the need of the Bank of England to cut Bank Rate to support growth. 

CPI has been around the Bank of England’s target of 2% during 2019 and is likely to move only 
a little upwards over the rest of 2019/20. It does not therefore pose any immediate concern to 
the Monetary Policy Committee at the current time. However, if there was a no deal Brexit, 
inflation could rise quickly, primarily from imported inflation as a result of a weakening pound. 

The general election could result in a loosening of monetary policy and therefore medium to 
longer dated gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around 
inflation picking up. 

 

16. USA.  President Trump’s large easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a temporary boost in 
consumption in that year which generated a strong rate of growth to 2.9% y/y.  Growth in 2019 
has reduced after a strong start in quarter 1 at 3.1%, (annualised rate), to 2.0% in quarter 2.  
Quarter 3 is expected to fall further.  The Federal Reserve finished its series of increases in 
rates to 2.25 – 2.50% in December 2018.  In July and September 2019, it cut rates by 0.25% but 
flagged that this was not to be seen as the start of a series of cuts to reduce the risk of a 
downturn in growth.  Financial markets are expecting another cut in the second half of the 
year. 

Investor confidence has been affected by the progressive effects of increases in tariffs 
President Trump has made on Chinese imports and China has responded with increases in 
tariffs on American imports.  This trade war is seen as depressing US, Chinese and world 
growth.   

 

17. EUROZONE.  Growth has been slowed from +1.8 % during 2018 to around half of that in 2019.  
Growth was +0.4% q/q (+1.2% y/y) in quarter 1 and then fell to +0.2% q/q (+1.0% y/y) in 
quarter 2; there appears to be little upside potential to the growth rate in the rest of 2019. 

The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its programme of quantitative easing purchases of 
debt in December 2018, which meant that the central banks in the US, UK and EU had all ended 
the phase of post financial crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial markets by 
purchases of debt.  However, the downturn in EZ growth in the second half of 2018 and into 
2019, together with inflation falling well under the upper limit of its target range of 0 to 2%, 
(but it aims to keep it near to 2%), has prompted the ECB to take new measures to stimulate 

Page 188



 

 
growth.  At its March meeting it said that it expected to leave interest rates at their present 
levels “at least through the end of 2019”, but that did not help to boost growth.  Consequently, 
it announced a third round of “targeted longer-term refinancing operations” (TLTROs); this 
provides banks with cheap borrowing every three months from September 2019 until March 
2021, this course of action is planned to encourage bank lending.  

However, since then, the downturn in EZ and world growth has gathered pace so at its meeting 
on 12 September, it cut its deposit rate further into negative territory, from -0.4% to -0.5%, and 
announced a resumption of quantitative easing purchases of debt.  It also increased the 
maturity of the third round of TLTROs from two to three years. However, it is doubtful whether 
this loosening of monetary policy will have much impact on growth and unsurprisingly, the ECB 
stated that governments will need to help stimulate growth by fiscal policy. 

 

18. CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds 
of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing.  The trade war with the US does 
not appear to have had a significant effect on GDP growth as yet as some of the impact of 
tariffs has been offset by falls in the exchange rate and by transhipping exports through other 
countries, rather than directly to the US. 

 

19. JAPAN. Japan has been struggling to stimulate consistent GDP growth and to get inflation up to 
its target of 2%, despite monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on 
fundamental reform of the economy. 

 

20. WORLD GROWTH.  The trade war between the US and China is a major concern to financial 
markets and is depressing worldwide growth, as any downturn in China will impact on other 
economies supplying raw materials to China. Concerns are focused on the general weakening 
of growth in the major economies of the world compounded by fears that there could be a 
possible recession in the US, though this is probably “unlikely”. These concerns have resulted in 
government bond yields in the developed world falling significantly during 2019. If there were a 
major worldwide downturn in growth, central banks in most of the major economies will have 
limited tools available, in terms of monetary policy measures, when rates are already very low 
in most countries, (apart from the US), and there are concerns about how much distortion of 
financial markets has already occurred with the current levels of quantitative easing purchases 
of debt by central banks. The latest PMI survey statistics of economic health for the US, UK, EU 
and China have all been sub 50 which gives a forward indication of a downturn in growth; this 
confirms investor sentiment that the outlook for growth during the rest of this financial year is 
weak. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 189



 

 
Interest rate forecasts  

21. The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following forecast: 

 
22. The above forecasts have been based on an assumption that there is some form of an agreed 

deal on Brexit at some point in time. Given the current level of uncertainties, this is a significant 
assumption and so forecasts may need to be materially reassessed in the light of events over 
the next few weeks or months.  

It is of no surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee has left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% 
so far in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty over Brexit.  In its recent meetings in August, the 
Monetary Policy Committee became more dovish due to the outlook for both the global and 
domestic economies.  

Brexit uncertainty has had a dampening effect on UK GDP growth in 2019. If there were a no 
deal Brexit, then it is likely that there will be a cut or cuts in Bank Rate to help support 
economic growth. The September Monetary Policy Committee meeting is also concerned 
about world growth and the effect that prolonged Brexit uncertainty is likely to have on 
growth. 

23. Bond yields / PWLB rates.  There has been speculation that we are currently in a bond market 
bubble.  However, given the context that there are heightened expectations that the US could 
be heading for a recession, and a general downturn in world economic growth, together with 
inflation generally at low levels in most countries and expected to remain, conditions reflect 
low bond yields.  While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over 
the last thirty years in lowering inflation expectations, the real rate for central rates has fallen 
considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers: this means that central banks do 
not need to raise rates as much to have a major impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc.  

This has reduced down the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets 
over the last thirty years.  We have therefore seen over the last year, many bond yields up to 
ten years in the Eurozone actually turn negative. In addition, there has, at times, been an 
inversion of bond yields in the US whereby ten year yields have fallen below shorter term 
yields. In the past, this has been an indicator of a recession.  The other side is that bond prices 
are elevated as investors would be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in 
anticipation of a downturn in corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.  However, stock 
markets are also currently at high levels as some investors have focused on higher returns due 
to ultra-low interest rates on cash deposits.   

What has happened during the half year to 30 September is a near halving of longer term gilt 
yields to unprecedented historic low levels. There is an expectation that financial markets have 
gone “too far” about the degree of the downturn in the US and world growth.  If, as expected, 

Page 190



 

 
the US only suffers a mild downturn in growth this would put upward pressure on bond yields. 

Japan, for twenty years has been failing to get economic growth and inflation above zero, 
despite a combination of large monetary and fiscal stimulus by both the central bank and 
government. Investors could be concerned that this condition might spread to other 
economies. 

Since 2008 unconventional monetary policy has been applied (ultra-low interest rates plus 
quantitative easing).  Low interest rates have encouraged debt which now makes it harder for 
economies to raise interest rates. Negative interest rates could damage the profitability of 
commercial banks and so impair their ability to lend and / or push them into riskier lending. 

There has been news recently of a possible credit rating downgrade of the UK.  Any such 
downgrade will likely cause gilt yields to rise increasing the cost of long term borrowing.  

27. The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to the downside due to 
the uncertainties over Brexit, as well as a softening global economic picture. The balance of 
risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are broad to the downside.  

The downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  
• Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the 

rate of growth. 

• Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise 
Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker 
than we currently anticipate.  

• A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis.  

• Weak capitalisation of some European banks. 

• Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, 
which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for 
longer term PWLB rates include: - 

• Brexit – if agreement was reached that removed all threats of economic and political 
disruption between the EU and the UK. 

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, 
therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up within the UK economy, which then 
requires a later series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect. 

• UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to higher levels 
causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields 

 
Investment Portfolio 2019/20 

28. In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and 
liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the Council’s risk 
appetite.  As set out in the “Economic Update” it is a very difficult investment market in terms 
of earning the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low 
and in line with the current 0.75% Bank Rate.  The continuing potential for a re-emergence of a 
Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on banks, prompts a low risk and short term 
strategy.  Given this risk environment and the fact that increases in Bank Rate are likely to be 
gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous decades, investment returns are 

Page 191



 

 
likely to remain low.  

29. The Council held £155m of Treasury investments as at 30th September 2019 (£108m at 31 
March 2019) with an average maturity of 86 days. These investments are predominately with 
local authorities, money market funds and UK banks. The investment portfolio yield for the first 
six months of the year was 0.91%.  The standard comparator for investment performance is the 
benchmark 7 day rate (LIBID)1, which for the period was 0.57%.  The benchmark for 1 and 3 
month deposits was 0.65% and 0.70% respectively. 

1LIBID – London Interbank Bid rate is a recognised reference rate to benchmark short-term investment interest rates. 

30. The Chief Financial Officer confirms that the approved limits within the Annual Investment 
Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 2019/20. 

31. The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the 
requirement of the treasury management function 

 

Borrowing 

32. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes.  The Council’s CFR at 31 March 2020 is estimated to be £881m.  If the CFR is 
positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external borrowing) or from 
internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing). 

33. The balance of borrowing between external and internal is generally driven by market 
conditions and forecasts of future cash flows and interest rates.  At the 31st March 2019 the 
Council had external borrowings of £566m and has utilised £324m of internal cash in lieu of 
borrowing.  This is a prudent and cost effective approach in the current economic climate but 
will require on-going monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevails.  

34. However, internal borrowing is a temporary measure that takes advantage of low interest rates 
and will ultimately be replaced by more expensive external borrowing as the cash used is 
required elsewhere. The timing and amount of new external borrowing is therefore dependent 
on capital spending decisions, future cash flows and forecasts of interest rates.   

35. Due to the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes, and to reduce the Council’s internal 
borrowing position, along with rates dropping to historic low levels, the Council borrowed 
£30m from the PWLB in two tranches; 

• On 20th August borrowed £20m for 47 years at 1.84%  

• On 5th September borrowed £10m for 46 years at 1.59% 

36. Should debt financing costs continue to historic low levels, and with a significant capital 
programme predominately financed by borrowing the Council will consider further borrowing 
if rates continue to fall or are anticipated to rise at a higher pace than expected.  This will 
enable the authority to take advantage of a low interest rate environment and reduce the 
interest rate risk of the authority.  

37. The trend in interest rates was a decrease during the first six months of the year across all 
maturity bands and longer rates have almost halved to reach historic lows.  The graph and 
table below show the movement in PWLB certainty rates for the first six months of the year to 
date.   
 

Page 192



 

 

 
 

 
 
Increase in the cost of borrowing from the PWLB 

38. On 9 October 2019 the Treasury and PWLB announced an increase in the margin over gilt yields 
of 1% on top of the current margin of 0.8% which this authority has paid prior to this date for 
new borrowing from the PWLB.   There was no prior warning that this would happen and it 
now means that every local authority has to fundamentally reassess how to finance their 
external borrowing needs and the financial viability of capital projects in their capital 
programme due to this unexpected increase in the cost of borrowing. 

39. Representations are going to be made to HM Treasury to suggest that areas of capital 
expenditure that the Government are keen to see move forward e.g. housing, should not be 
subject to such a large increase in borrowing.   

40. Whereas this authority has previously used the PWLB as a “core” source of borrowing, it will 
continue to consider alternative “cheaper” sources of borrowing.  At the current time, this is a 
developmental and we are expecting that various financial institutions will enter the market or 
make products available to local authorities. Members will be updated as this evolves. 

41. It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local authorities in the 
future and the Council may make use of this new source of borrowing as and when 
appropriate. 

Page 193



 

 
Debt Rescheduling 

42. Debt rescheduling opportunities have been limited in the current economic climate given the 
consequent structure of interest rates. The authority’s debt portfolio is made up of long dated 
loans (PWLB £341m, Market Debt (LOBOS) £70m and Market Debt (Fixed) (£50m) averaging 33 
years.  The estimated penalty to repay the PWLB loans early is £318m, taking the total cost to 
£659m.  In respect of the market loans, where indicative prices have been provided, a similar 
level of penalty has been quoted.  

43. The total life cycle cost of rescheduling loans on a discounted cash-flow basis has been 
reviewed with no loans providing a positive cash-flow benefit to the authority.  This would in 
part be due to large early repayment penalties that the authority will incur. 

44. For these reasons no debt rescheduling has been undertaken during the first six months of the 
year and none is anticipated for the remainder of the year. 

Ethical Policy 

45. An Ethical Investment Policy is incorporated within the Treasury Management Practice 
Statements (TMPS).  The City Council currently invest surplus funds with Banks and Building 
Societies either directly or via the Money Markets in the form of instant access cash deposit 
accounts, money market funds or on fixed term deposit and with other local authorities.  The 
City Council’s ethical investment policy is based on the premise that the City Council’s choice of 
where to invest should reflect the ethical values it supports in public life.  The City Council will 
not knowingly invest in organisations whose activities include practices which directly pose a 
risk of serious harm to individuals or groups, or whose activities are inconsistent with the 
mission and values of the City Council.  

The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)  

46. This part of the report is structured to update: 

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

 How these plans are being financed; 

 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential indicators  and 
the underlying need to borrow; and 

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 

There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position in the light 
of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already approved.   

47. This table shows the latest estimates for capital expenditure:   

48. The latest capital monitoring report for the end of September 2019 sets out a capital forecast 

Capital Expenditure by Service 2019/20 
Approved 

Programme 
£m 

2019/20 
Period 6 
Forecast 

£m 

Non-HRA 184 119 

HRA 52 51 

Total 236 170 

Page 194



 

 
of £170m detailed within the period 6 monitoring report presented to Cabinet on the 5th 
November 2019. 

 

Financing of the Capital Programme   

49. The table below draws together the capital expenditure plan and the expected financing 
arrangements of this capital expenditure.  The borrowing element of the table increases the 
underlying indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the 
Minimum Revenue Provision).  This direct borrowing need may also be supplemented by 
maturing debt and other treasury requirements. 

 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) & Operational Boundary   
50. The table below shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing for a 

capital purpose and it also shows the expected debt position over the period.  This is termed 
the Operational Boundary. 

 

Capital Expenditure 2019/20 
Approved 

Programme 
£m 

2019/20 
Period 6 
Forecast 

£m 

Total spend 236 170 

Financed by:   

Capital receipts 43 30 

Capital grants 64 55 

Revenue / Reserves 12 14 

HRA – Self Financing 26 26 

Prudential Borrowing – Increase in Capital Financing 
Requirement 

91 45 

Total financing 236 170 

Page 195



 

 

* On balance sheet PFI schemes and finance leases etc. 

51. The revised Capital Financing Requirement is based on the actual CFR as at 31 March 2019 (£847m) 
increased by in-year capital expenditure financed by borrowing (£45m) and reduced by the 
minimum revenue provision (MRP) for repayment of debt and the repayment of the debt facilities 
within other long term liabilities (£11m). 

Limits to Borrowing Activity 
52. The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the 

medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  
Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2019/20 and next two financial 
years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.  The Council has 
approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this proves 
prudent. 

*  Includes on balance sheet PFI schemes and finance leases etc. 

53. The Chief Finance Officer reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or future 
years in complying with this prudential indicator.   

54. A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is the Authorised 
Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set and 
revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be 
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected 
maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the 
statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003.  

Capital Financing Requirement 2019/20 
Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2019/20 
Latest 

Estimate 
£m 

CFR – non housing 701 632 

CFR – housing 249 249 

Total CFR 950 881 
   

External Debt (Operational Boundary)  2019/20 
Approved 
Indicator 

£m 

Borrowing  526 

Other long term liabilities*  134 

Total debt  31 March  660 

 2019/20 
Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2019/20 
Latest 

Estimate 
£m 

Gross borrowing 526 461 

Plus other long term liabilities* 134 134 

Gross borrowing & long term Liabilities 660 495 

CFR* (year-end position) 950 881 

Page 196



 

 

 
Proposal 

55. That the Mid-Year Treasury Management report for 2019/20 is noted.   

Other Options Considered 

56. None 

Risk Assessment 

57. Borrowing and lending activity is reported to the Mayor. 

The principal risks associated with treasury management are: 

Risk Mitigation 

Loss of investments as a result of 
failure of counterparties 

Limiting the types of investment instruments used, 
setting lending criteria for counterparties, and 
limiting the extent of exposure to individual 
counterparties 

Increase in the net financing costs of 
the authority due to borrowing at 
high rates of interest / lending at 
low rates of interest 

Planning and undertaking borrowing and lending in 
light of assessments of future interest rate 
movements, and by undertaking most long term 
borrowing at fixed rates of interest (to reduce the 
volatility of capital financing costs) 

 
 
Public Sector Equality Duties 

58. a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 
considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to: 

 
i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 

the Equality Act 2010. 

ii)  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to -- 

- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic; 

- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities); 

- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 

Authorised limit for external debt 2019/20 
Approved  
Indicator 

£m 

Total Borrowing 970 

Page 197



 

 
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 

iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to – 

- tackle prejudice; and 

- promote understanding. 

  b) There are no proposals in this report, which require either a statement as to the relevance of 
public sector equality duties or an Equalities Impact Assessment.   

 
Legal and Resource Implications 

Legal 
The Council is under a duty to manage its resources prudently and therefore due consideration 
must always be given to its borrowing and lending strategy. A wide range of local authority 
financial activities, including borrowing, lending, financial management, and the approval of 
types of investment vehicle are governed by legislation and various regulations. The Council is 
obliged to comply with these. 

(Legal advice provided by Tim O’Gara - Service Director - Legal and Democratic 
Services) 
 
Financial 
(a) Revenue 
The financing costs arising from planned borrowing are provided for in the revenue budget 
and medium term financial plan. Any additional operating costs will have to be contained 
within the revenue budget of the relevant department. 
(Financial advice provided by Jon Clayton -Capital and Investments Manager) 
 
(b) Capital 
Not applicable 
 
Land 
Not applicable 
 
Personnel 
Not applicable 

 
Appendices: 
None 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
Background Papers: 
None 
 
 
 

 

Page 198



Document is Restricted

Page 199

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Action sheet
	6 Work Programme
	7 CRR11 - Infrastructure Delivery Risk - Update
	9 Administrative Changes to the Constitution.
	9A - Appendix A - Part 4.1(i) Financial Regulations 2019
	9A - Appendix B - Part 4.1(f) Officer employment procedure rules - amended October 2019

	10 Proposed Changes to Bristol City Council Procurement Rules
	8 - APPENDIX 1 Procurement Rules 2019 Refresh Final (Nov 2019)
	8 - APPENDIX 2 Comparison Orig to New Rules
	8 - APPENDIX 3 EqIA Full Form-Procurement Rules (3)

	11 Key decision definition in Constitution
	11A - Appendix 1 - Proposed amendment to definition of 'key decision'
	11A - Appendix 2 - Tracked changes version of Appendix 1

	12 External Audit - Update Report
	9 - External Audit Update Report

	13 Internal Audit Charter and Strategy
	9 - Internal Audit Charter and Strategy  - Appendix 1
	9 - Internal Audit Charter and Strategy Appendix 2

	14 Internal Audit Quality Assurance Improvement Programme
	10 - Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme Appendix 1

	15 Internal Audit Activity Report for Period 1st April 2019 to 31st October 2019
	11 - Internal Audit Half Year Report Appendix 1
	11 - Internal Audit Half Year Report Appendix 1A
	11 - Internal Audit Half Year Report Appendix 1B

	16 Counter Fraud and Investigations Team - Counter Fraud Update Report
	12 - App A - Half Year Fraud Report 2019
	12 - App A1 -Fraud Policy  V 1.5 Final 2019

	17 Audit Committees Half Yearly Report to Full Council - Draft
	13 - Audit Committee half yearly update to Council - draft

	18 Treasury Management Mid-Year report 2019/20
	20 Exempt Minutes - Internal Audit Assurance Summary - IT Transformation Programme (ITTP)

